## AN ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION OF

Igor H. Wierzbicki for the degree of <u>Doctor of Philosophy</u> in <u>Pharmaceutical</u> <u>Sciences</u> presented on <u>September 28, 2016</u>.

Title: <u>Characterization and Validation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Proteins GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985 as Molecular Targets for Development of Novel Anti-gonorrhea Therapeutic Interventions.</u>

Abstract approved:

Aleksandra E. Sikora

The sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea, caused by the Gram-negative bacterium and obligate human pathogen Neisseria gonorrhoeae, remains a significant health and economic burden worldwide. In the absence of a protective vaccine, antimicrobial agents are the only pharmacological intervention for patients with gonorrhea. However, due to the remarkable ability of gonococcus to develop antibiotic resistance, infections caused by N. gonorrhoeae are believed to become untreatable in the near future. Identification and elucidation of the physiological function of novel N. gonorrhoeae proteins is critical for the formulation of new therapeutic interventions. This work focuses on characterization and validation of two gonococcal proteins, GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985, as targets for development of new antibiotics and a vaccine antigen, respectively. The sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase, GmhAGC, is the first enzyme in the biosynthesis of nucleotide-activated-glycero-manno-heptoses. We demonstrate that N. gonorrhoeae GmhA<sub>GC</sub> is essential for lipooligosaccharide (LOS) synthesis and pivotal for bacterial viability. Our crystallization studies have shown that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> forms a homo-tetramer in the closed conformation with four zinc ions in the active site. Site directed mutagenesis studies showed that active site residues E65 and H183 are important for LOS synthesis but not bacterial viability, suggesting that abolition of LOS synthesis is disconnected from the GmhAGC involvement in N. gonorrhoeae viability. NGO1985 was initially described as a hypothetical lipoprotein containing two BON (Bacterial OsmY and Nodulation) domains, hypothesized to be involved in maintaining bacterial cell envelope integrity. In our studies we demonstrate that NGO1985 is a surface exposed lipoprotein, conserved among diverse gonococcal isolates. Deletion of ngo1985 results in bacterial cell envelope defects leading to a pleiotropic phenotype including increased susceptibility to antimicrobial agents, decreased survival during in vitro growth conditions mimicking the human host environment, and high attenuation in the murine model of infection. NGO1985 interactome studies indicated a broad network of interactions including potential association with  $\beta$ -Barrel Assembly Machinery (Bam) complex, antibiotic efflux pump(s), and several lipoproteins. Furthermore, we demonstrate that NGO1985 does not undergo lipoprotein sorting according to the +2 residue of the lipobox motif as characterized for *Escherichia coli*. We determined that both BON domains, in their native orientation, are essential for NGO1985 functionality and stability. Finally, for the first time we have investigated the importance of the BON domains' conserved glycine residues and showed that these amino acids play a critical role in protein stability. Based on the importance of both GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985 on gonococcal physiology, we conclude that these proteins are promising molecular targets for development of new anti-gonorrhea interventions. ©Copyright by Igor H. Wierzbicki September 28, 2016 All Rights Reserved

# Characterization and Validation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Proteins GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985 as Molecular Targets for Development of Novel Anti-gonorrhea Therapeutic Interventions

by Igor H. Wierzbicki

## A DISSERTATION

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Presented September 28, 2016 Commencement June 2017 Doctor of Philosophy dissertation of Igor H. Wierzbicki presented on September 28, 2016

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Pharmaceutical Sciences

Dean of the College of Pharmacy

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my dissertation will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my dissertation to any reader upon request.

Igor H. Wierzbicki, Author

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Aleksandra Sikora for giving me the opportunity to do my Doctor of Philosophy education under her guidance. Thanks to her dedication in my training, as well as her never-ending patience with my actions and behavior, I was able to learn all of the aspects of being a successful scientist. All of my achievements, recognitions, and awards throughout the last four years would not be possible without her great input. I would also like to thank all members, past and present, of the Sikora laboratory for creating a welcoming atmosphere and always being there for me. I would like give special thanks to Rachael Ryner for being a wonderful undergraduate trainee. I enjoyed every moment of being her teacher and mentor. Watching her rapid progress made me more than proud. I want to thank everybody in the College of Pharmacy for helping me make it through my graduate education with special thanks to Debra Peters and Patricia Beaumont for brightening days with their smiles and help with all of the overwhelming paper work; Dr. McPhail for being part of my graduate committee, for the training, and help with all of my uncertainties related to the graduate program; and Dr. Adam Alani for being a wonderful and understanding mentor. I want to thank all of my friends that I have made here in Oregon for all of the hikes, camping trips, barbecues, potluck dinners, concerts, parties, movie nights, and all other spontaneous occasions. I am happy that I had the chance to meet and know you. I give thanks to my mother and grandparents for believing in me and supporting my life decisions. Lastly, but definitely not least, I want to thank my beloved wife, Dorota, for encouraging and convincing me to pursue my doctorate education. Without her patience, understanding, support, caring, and love I would not succeed.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

Chapter 1. General introduction1
Neisseria genus overview2
Neisseria gonorrhoeae and gonorrhea3
Treatment and prevention of gonorrhea6
Proteomic mining of cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles
for identification of novel targets for development of anti-gonorrhea
interventions10
NGO198512
β-barrel Assembly Machinery (BAM) complex13
Nucleotide-activated-glycero-manno-heptoses and GmhA15
Scope of dissertation16
Chapter 2. Functional and structural studies on the <i>Neisseria gonorrhoeae</i> GmhA, the first enzyme in the <i>glycero-manno</i> -heptose biosynthesis pathways, demonstrate a critical role in lipooligosacharide synthesis and gonococcal viability20
Abstract21
Introduction22

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Materials and Methods25
Results
Discussion40
Acknowledgements44
Chapter 3. NGO1985 is a surface-exposed lipoprotein interacting with BAM complex and a gonorrhea vaccine candidate
Abstract
Introduction63
Materials and Methods65
Results77
Discussion
Chapter 4. Dissecting the signal of lipoprotein sorting and function of BON domains
in Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipoprotein NGO1985116
Abstract117
Introduction118

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page 1

Materials and Methods120
Results123
Discussion128
Chapter 5. Discussion and Conclusion142
Overview143
GmhA <sub>GC</sub> involvement in physiology of Neisseria species144
NGO1985 is a surface-exposed lipoprotein of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> 147
NGO1985 lipobox +2 residue implication in protein localization and function150
NGO1985 functions in maintaining cell envelope homeostasis151
NGO1985 association with β-barrel Assembly Machinery (BAM) Complex154
BON domains of NGO1985156
Conclusions and future directions

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	<u>1 azc</u>
Bibliography	160
Appendices: Abstracts of Additional Manuscripts	189

### Page

## LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u> <u>Page</u>
1.1. Cell envelope of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> 18
2.1. GmhA <sub>GC</sub> is pivotal for <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> growth and LOS synthesis45
2.2. Assessment of GmhA <sub>GC</sub> subcellular localization and expression patterns47
2.3. GmhA <sub>GC</sub> expression in a panel of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> isolates49
2.4. Hindering GmhA <sub>GC</sub> isomerase activity does not influence <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> growth
2.5. Homologues of GmhA from <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> and <i>N. meningitidis</i> function interchangeably
2.6. The structure of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> GmhA <sub>GC</sub>
S2.1. Purification of rGmhA <sub>GC</sub>
S2.2. Loading controls for immunoblotting experiments
S2.3. Analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms in <i>gmhA</i> 58
3.1. NGO1985 is a surface localized lipoprotein conserved among GC isolates
3.2. NGO1985 and GNA2091 function interchangeably

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

<u>Figure</u> Page
3.3. Involvement of NGO1985 in resistance to antimicrobial compounds
3.4. NGO1985 is important for GC survival during <i>in vitro</i> host relevant conditions and in gonorrhea mouse model of infection
3.5. Lack of NGO1985 causes loss of cell envelope homeostasis demonstrated by increased leakage of protein content and vesiculation, as well as altered protein profiles of cell envelopes and membrane vesicles
3.6. Interactome of NGO198596
S3.1. Absence of NGO1985 does not increase GC susceptibility to osmotic shock98
S3.2. Western blotting validation of ngo1985 deletion in GC clinical isolates (Seattle STD Clinic 2011-2013)
S3.3. Changes in protein composition of cell envelopes and membrane vesicles in the absence of NGO1985100
S3.4. Functional NGO1985-TAP-tag and BamE-TAP-tag fusions102
4.1. Predicted domain organization and characteristic features of NGO1985131
4.2. Aspartate in lipobox +2 position does not direct NGO1985 to the inner membrane

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

<u>Figure</u> <u>Page</u>
4.3. Presence of individual BON domains and their order is crucial for NGO1985 function
4.4. Conserved glycine residues of NGO1985 BON domains are pivotal for protein stability
S4.1. <i>E. coli</i> lipoprotein maturation and sorting to the outer- or inner-membrane139
S4.2. Identification of NGO1985 BON domains conserved glycine residues141

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
1.1. Potential gonococcal vaccine antigens	19
2.1. Bacterial strains used in this study	53
2.2. Data collection and refinement statistics	54
2.3. Structural homologs of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> GmhA <sub>GC</sub>	55
S2.1. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study	59
S3.1. Bacterial strains used in this study	104
S3.2. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study	106
S3.3. Proteins identified in pull-down experiments by mass spectrometry	109
4.1. Bacterial strains used in this study	136
4.2. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study	137

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix				Page
1. Quantitative proteomics of the Neiss	eria gonorrhe	oeae cell e	envelope and	l membrane
vesicles for the d	iscovery	of p	otential	therapeutic
targets				
2. <i>In situ</i> gelling polyvalerolactone-bas delivery	ed thermosen	sitive hyd	rogel for sus	stained drug
3. A metalloprotease secreted by the typ collagen	e II secretion	system lir	nks <i>Vibrio ch</i>	<i>oolerae</i> with 193
4. The <i>Neisseria gonorrhoeae</i> Obg prot and a potential drug target	ein is an esse	ntial ribos	ome-associa	ted GTPase
5. Polymeric Micelles as Carriers Delivery	for Nerve-	Highlighti	ng Fluores	cent Probe
6. Proteomics-driven Antigen Disco Gonorrhea	very for Dev	velopment	t of Vaccin	es Against 197

 Chapter 1

General Introduction

Igor H. Wierzbicki

#### Neisseria genus

*Neisseria* are Gram-negative,  $\beta$ -Proteobacteria bacteria belonging to the Neisseriaceae family (reviewed by Ryan and Ray, 2004; Bennett *et al.* 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2015). This abundant and wide spread genus consists of free-living and host associated organisms. The animal reservoir spans from insects, lizards, waterfowl and ground-dwelling birds, to marine- and land-mammals. *Neisseria* contains many human-related commensals and only two pathogenic species. The human commensal species inhabit the mucosal surfaces of the upper respiratory and alimentary tracts, and are conserved across geographic regions, ethnic groups, and lifestyles. The pathogenic species, although closely related, reside in completely different environments and cause distinct diseases. *N. meningitidis*, the meningococcus, colonizes the nasopharynx and is the major cause of meningitidis and bacteremia, while *N. gonorrhoeae*, the gonococcus, primarily infects the urogenital tract and is the cause of gonorrhea.

Species belonging to this genus are non-motile, non-spore forming, and oxidase-positive microorganisms. The majority of representatives are cocci, with the exceptions of *N. elongata*, *N. weaveri*, *N. bacilliformis*, and *N. shayeganii* which are bacilli; usually appearing in pairs with flattened sides of the opposing cells which results in a coffee bean-shaped appearance. The cell envelope organization is typical for Gram-negative bacteria, with inner and outer membranes separated by a thin layer of peptidoglycan and aqueous periplasmic space (Fig. 1.1). *N. meningitidis*, is unique for this genus, as it also synthesizes group II type polysaccharide capsule. The outer membrane contains a variant of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) that is lacking the O-specific antigen, and is composed only of Lipid A and core oligosaccharide. This shorter version of LPS is called lipooligosaccharide (LOS).

The average *Neisseria* genome size is about 2.2 Mbp, with approximately 2000 open reading frames and a guanine-cytosine content of 51.5%. *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* are polyploids, containing 2-5 copies of the genome per growing monococcal bacterial cell, with approximately two chromosomes per one diplococci unit (Tobiason and Seifert, 2010). Since non-pathogenic *Neisseria* were shown to be monoploid, it is hypothesized that the polyploidy is a virulence trait involved in genome plasticity. Non-chromosomal genetic elements such as plasmids, prophages, and

genetic islands are common among the members of the genus. A large number of restriction-modification systems have been noted (reviewed by Rotman and Seifert, 2014). All known species of this genus are naturally competent during all phases of growth for DNA transformation, a process of up-taking the genetic material from the environment (Sparling, 1966). Benefits of natural transformation include spread of antibiotic resistance determinants and beneficial alleles, providing a template for use in DNA repair, and as a source of nutrients. The DNA incorporation is facilitated by the presence of a nonpalindromic 10- or 12-base pair DNA uptake sequences (DUS), GCCGTCTGAA and ATGCCGTCTGAA, respectively. *Neisseria* contain over 2000 DUS within the genome, on average one per 1000 base pairs of DNA (Marri et al., 2010).

Many *Neisseria* genes were identified to be phase and/or antigen variable. Phase variation is defined as a reversible change in gene expression: either change between an expressed and unexpressed state or change between two distinct forms of a gene (Moxon *et al.*, 2006). Most of the phase variation is a result of slipped-strand mispairing, a process of mispairing between mother and daughter DNA strands during replication, caused by the presence of either homopolymeric or polynucleotide repeats (Levinson, and Gutman, 1987). Slipped-strand mispairing either results in frame shift within the coding region leading to premature termination of translation or alteration in the promoter region which affects the transcription levels. Antigenic variation is the ability to alter the peptide sequence that results in production of variable forms of the antigens. This variation is a consequence of a low frequency recombination between similar coding regions (*opa* genes) or coding region and silent loci (*pilE* and *pilS*) (Aho *et al.*, 1991; revieved by Obergfell and Seifert, 2015).

#### Neisseria gonorrhoeae and gonorrhea

In 1879 Albert Neisser identified a small diplococci microorganism, later named *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, the gonococcus, as the causative agent of the sexually transmitted disease (STD) gonorrhea (Neisser, 1879). *N. gonorrhoeae* is an obligate human pathogen with no other natural reservoir. Although direct sexual contact is the main mode of gonococcal transmission, indirect ways of spreading were reported

(Kleist and Moi, 1993). Mucosal surfaces of the urogenital epithelia are the main colonization sites of this bacterium. However, the pharynx, rectal, and conjunctiva mucosa infections are also commonly reported (Ryan and Ray, 2004). The prolonged infection may progress from the surface of the tissues to the adjacent mucosal and glandular epithelial cells (McCormack, 1994).

Gonorrhea has been recorded throughout human history, specifically in ancient literature from China, Egypt, Rome, Greece, and the Old Testament of the Bible (Leviticus 15:1–3), which makes it one of the oldest recorded diseases in the history of the mankind. Gonorrhea was described in fifth century B.C. by Hippocrates as "strangury" acquired from the "pleasures of Venus" (Holmes et al., 1999). In 130 A.D., Galen confused the purulent discharge caused by the gonococcal urethritis with the semen, and introduced the term "flow of seed" for gonorrhea (Mandell et al., 1990; Holmes et al., 1999). The common name for this disease, "clap" has been in use for almost 700 years and finds it origin in French language from the archaic word clapoir which stands for "a rabbit warren"; later "the brothel" (Ryan and Ray, 2004). In present times, gonorrhea still remains a major global health concern. In 2012 the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated 78.3 million gonorrhea cases worldwide (Newman et al., 2015). In the United States of America, gonorrhea holds the status of the second most common sexually transmitted disease, with 333,004 reported cases and frequency of 106.1 per 100,000 population in 2013 (http://www.cdc.gov/std/stats13/ gonorrhea.htm). The total amount of the globally reported cases is believed to be much lower than the actual number of infections due to inappropriate diagnostics, absence of laboratory testing, and incomplete reporting of the identified cases.

The disease is transmitted more frequently from men to women than from women to men, with 50-73% and 20-35% probability, respectively (Mandell *et al.*, 1990; Holmes *et al.*, 1999; Brooks and Donegan, 1985). In men, the urethra is the primary site of the gonococcal infection. Symptoms are usually experienced 2 to 7 days following contact with the pathogen and consist predominantly of purulent urethral discharge and dysuria (Ryan and Ray, 2004). In rare situations, infection may progress and cause epididymitis, as well as prostatitis. In women, the endocervix is the main infection site, and disease symptoms include vaginal discharge, increased urinary

frequency, dysuria, abdominal pain, and dysregulation in the menstrual cycle. The symptoms of gonorrhea are usually mild and can be absent among women ( $\geq$ 50%) as well as men ( $\leq$ 10%) (Bignell *et al.*, 2013). Although the urethra and uterine cervix are the main infective sites among men and women respectively, infections of the rectum, pharynx, and the conjunctiva are also commonly reported (Ryan and Ray, 2004). Rectal infection is usually caused by rectal intercourse or, for women, as a consequence of contamination from the infected vaginal fluids. Rectal conditions are mostly asymptomatic however tenesmus, discharge, and rectal bleeding may occur. Pharyngeal gonorrhea is a consequence of the genital-oral sex practices and symptoms as in the case of the rectum infections are predominantly absent. If manifested, this condition usually causes sore throat and cervical adenitis. Presence of gonococcus in conjunctiva can occur at any age and leads to a severe, acute, purulent conjunctivitis. Newborns may acquire a gonococcal opthalmia neonatorum from infected mothers during delivery, which commonly leads to blindness.

Prolonged, untreated gonorrhea can be a cause of Pelvic Inflammatory Disease (PID) among 10 to 20% of women (Holmes *et al.*, 1999). This condition is a consequence of gonococcal spread along the fallopian tube into the pelvic cavity causing salpingitis, pelvic peritonitis, and abscesses. Symptoms of PID include fever, lower abdominal pain, adnexal tenderness, and leukocytosis (Holmes *et al.*, 1999). The complications of PID include infertility and ectopic pregnancy. Local *N. gonorrhoeae* infections as well as PID can lead to Disseminated Gonococcal Infection (DGI), a spread of the bacteria into the bloodstream. Symptoms of bacteremic spread include fever, polyarthritis, pustules, petechial, and maculopapular rash (Ryan and Ray, 2004). Proper diagnosis of DGI is very often difficult because the blood culture are often negative for *N. gonorrhoeae*. This can result in an inappropriate treatment increasing both treatment coast and chance of health complications. PDI most commonly sequel in purulent arthritis, however it may additionally lead to metastatic infections including endocarditis and meningitis, and in rare situations death.

Gonococcal infections participate in enhancement of acquisition as well as transmission of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 (Workowski and Levine, 2002). The acute inflammatory response to *N. gonorrhoeae* infection and the following

disruption in mucosal integrity is the underlying cause of this increased susceptibility (Chen *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, symptomatic gonorrhea infections are associated with increased expression of HIV-1 RNA in the genital tract which results in a two- to five-fold increased rate of virus transmission from men to women (Cohen *et al.*, 1997; Ghys *et al.*, 1997; Moss *et al.*, 1995; Fleming and Wasserheit, 1999).

#### Treatment and prevention of gonorrhea

In the absence of a protective vaccine, the spread of gonorrhea is contained by blockage of direct mucosal contact with condoms, proper diagnosis, epidemiological surveillance, and mainly by the use of the antimicrobial agents (Ryan and Ray, 2004; Unemo *et al.*, 2016). Initially *N. gonorrhoeae* infections were easily treated with sulfonamides and penicillin (Kampmeier, 1983; Mahoney *et al.*, 1943; Sternberg and Turner, 1944). However, because of the natural competence for DNA transformation, this pathogen throughout 70-80 years was able to rapidly evolve resistance to virtually all clinically used compounds. Gonococcus either acquired or developed the majority of known antimicrobial resistance mechanisms, which includes enzymatic destruction/modification of the drug, target modification/protection, and decreased influx or increased efflux of the antimicrobials (Unemo and Shafer, 2014).

The problem of constant emerging antimicrobial resistance, in particular to extended-spectrum cephalosporins (ESC), among *N. gonorrhoeae* isolates; has been recognized as a great concern in public health communities, scientific societies, and media internationally (Unemo and Shafer, 2014). In 2012 the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) certified *N. gonorrhoeae* with the "Superbug" status (Groopman, 2012). The rapid acquisition of antibiotic resistance by gonococcus has caused monotherapies to be excluded from clinical use. Currently, the only treatment for gonorrhea recommended by the CDC in 2015 is dual therapy with azithromycin (1000 mg) taken orally and either intramuscular injection of ceftriaxone (250 mg) or oral cefixime (400 mg) (World Health Organization, 2016). However, this dual antimicrobial regiment is believed not to be an effective long-term solution (Unemo *et al.*, 2016). Decreased susceptibility to ceftriaxone has been increasingly reported worldwide and high-level azithromycin resistant strains have already been isolated

from various parts of the globe (reviewed by Unemo *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, the first failure of the recommended dual antibiotic treatment has been reported for a male patient with pharyngeal gonorrhea in the UK, who was infected in Japan (Golparian *et al.*, 2016). The recommended dual treatment is not affordable in many low-resource settings. Because of the dire possibility of untreatable gonorrhea, the WHO and CDC emphasize the urgent need for the development of new cost-effective antimicrobial agents with novel modes of action or other therapeutic compounds for monotherapy, as well as formulation of new dual therapy strategies (World Health Organization, 2012; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012).

Two new dual antibiotic regiments have been evaluated for treatment of gonorrhea. Gentamicin (240 mg×1 intramuscularly) combined with azithromycin (2  $g \times 1$  orally), and gemifloxacin with (320 mg $\times 1$  orally) plus azithromycin (2 g $\times 1$  orally) have been shown to have a cure rate of 100% and 99.5%, respectively (Kirkcaldy et al., 2014). However, nausea and vomiting are the common side effects, causing a decrease in total absorbed antimicrobials (3.3% and 7.7% of patients, respectively). These two options are being considered as alternatives for failures of the currently recommended treatment and for people with allergies to extended-spectrum cephalosporins. Derivatives and analogues of known antibiotics are being actively pursued for their activity against N. gonorrhoeae (reviewed by Unemo et al., 2016). Solithromycin, a macrolide derivative, is currently in a multi-center, open-label, randomized Phase 3 clinical trial (www.clinicaltrials.gov). However, gonococcal isolates with high levels of resistance to azithromycin also have decreased susceptibility to solithromycin (Golparian et al., 2012). Several compounds with novel mechanisms of action have been described to possess in vitro activity against N. gonorrhoeae (reviewed by Unemo et al., 2016). Most advanced in development is a novel bacterial topoisomerase inhibitor, (different target than fluoroquinolones) spiropyrimidinetrione ETX0914 (AZD0914) which currently is the subject of a multicenter, open-label, randomized Phase 2 clinical trial (Jacobsson et al., 2014; Huband et al., 2015; Unemo et al., 2015; Alm et al., 2015).

The need for new antimicrobial agents for treatment of *N. gonorrhoeae* infections is undeniable. However, the speed of acquiring resistance suggests that

antibiotics will never be a single permanent pharmacological solution for gonorrhea. According to the simulation models, development of a protective vaccine may be the best intervention for limiting the spread of gonorrhea (Craig et al., 2015). It has been estimated that the burden of gonococcal infections would be reduced by 90% after either 20 years or 7.5 years of administration, with a vaccine possessing 50% or 100% efficacy and providing 20 years of protection, respectively. A vaccine of short duration (7.5 years) and 100% efficacy would also have a similar impact of a 90% decrease in gonorrhea prevalence during 20 years of usage. Moreover, a vaccine with a protection rate of only 20% is predicted to have a significant impact of a 40% reduction in gonorrhea prevalence. Furthermore, this simulation suggests that vaccination of only 50% of 13-year-olds (the sex of the individuals was found not to be an important factor) would reduce gonococcal infection frequency by 90% after approximately 17 years (only ~five years longer in comparison to a vaccination campaign including 100% of 13-year-olds). Targeting 75% of high-risk "core group" members (assumed to be 5% of the overall population) would achieve a comparable population-level output as vaccination of 50% of all 13-year-olds. Mathematical simulations performed by Craig et al., 2015 assumed heterosexuality of the entire population. Because men who have sex with men (MSM) tend to display an increased prevalence of gonorrhea (Mayer, 2011; Roberts-Witteveen et al., 2014), the authors speculated that the vaccine would have an even greater impact on these communities.

Research attempts for developing a gonorrhea vaccine have been ongoing for decades (reviewed by Jerse *et al.*, 2014). One of the major recognized obstacles for progress in this field is the high phase and antigenic variation of the targeted gonococcal surface antigens. So far only two potential vaccines have entered clinical trials. The first vaccine utilized killed whole cells of *N. gonorrhoeae* and was carried in a population of Inuit in northern Canada (Greenberg *et al.*, 1974; Greenberg, 1975). The vaccination induced an antibody response in 90% of the test subjects; however, it did not provide protection from the infection. The second potential vaccine was composed of purified pilin protein that elicited a broad antibody response in the serum and provided protection from urethral infection with the parental strain (Brinton *et al.*, 1982). However, follow up studies using infection with a heterologous strain showed

no protective properties of this single-antigen vaccine (Tramont and Boslego, 1985). The pilin vaccine was further tested in a large-scale trial utilizing US military personnel stationed in Korea, unfortunately resulting in the same lack of protection (Boslego et al., 1991). Since that time, research on gonococcal vaccines has been limited. This discontinuance is mainly a consequence of the mentioned gonococcal antigen variability and heterogeneity, incomplete knowledge regarding factors that influence protective immune response against N. gonorrhoeae, and lack of an adequate animal model for studying this bacterium (Levine et al., 2004; Genco and Wetzler, 2010; Liu et al., 2011). Recent advancements in the development of a small model for N. gonorrhoeae infection have opened new possibilities for testing potential vaccine antigens. The current model for female infection uses female mice treated with 17-βestradiol during the diestrus stage of the estrus cycle and an antibiotic cocktail (streptomycin sulfate, vancomycin HCl, trimethoprim sulfate) for prevention of commensal vaginal bacteria overgrowth (Jerse, 1999). Bacteria are introduced intravaginally and can be recovered 12.2 days post-inoculation. Furthermore, new transgenic mice expressing human CEACAM proteins have been developed for better mimicking of the human host environment (Gu et al., 2010). Although availability of the animal models can greatly facilitate the vaccine development, the process still remains challenging due to numerous host restrictions (reviewed by Jerse *et al.*, 2014) and identification of suitable, conserved, and stable antigens is needed.

Development of a successful vaccine against *N. meningitidis* serogroup B has been a challenge for a long time. In contrast to capsules of serogroup A and C, which are formulated into protective vaccines, the capsule of meningococcal serogroup B is identical to the human central nervous system (Maiden *et al.*, 2008; Butler, 2010). Because of the cross-reactive anti-CNS immune response, the development of MenB vaccine was focused on non-capsular targets. Similar to *N. gonorrhoeae*, many *N. meningitidis* proteins are known to undergo phase and/or antigenic variation, making them difficult targets. Initially, almost 600 candidates were selected through a reversevaccinology approach, a method pioneered by Rino Rappuoli that identifies plausible vaccine antigens using different genomic and proteomic methodologies (reviewed by Serruto *et al.*, 2012). Out of these candidates, 350 recombinant proteins were successfully expressed in *Escherichia coli*, validated for their surface availability, and antibodies against 28 of them showed bactericidal properties against *N. meningitidis* serogroup B *in vitro*. The identified Neisserial Heparin-Binding Antigen (NHBA), factor H-binding protein (fHbp), and Neisserial adhesion protein (NadA) have been included in the successful 4CMenB vaccine (Seib *et al.*, 2012; Delany *et al.*, 2013; Jerse *et al.*, 2014). Currently, only about 12 gonococcal antigens are being pursued as vaccine candidates (reviewed by Jerse *et al.*, 2014; Edwards *et al.*, 2016) (Table 1.1). The history behind the success of the 4CMenB vaccine development clearly suggests that a much larger pool of antigens should be taken under investigation in order to generate a vaccine against gonorrhoeae.

## Proteomic mining of cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles for identification of novel targets for development of anti-gonorrhea interventions

In response to the threat of potentially untreatable *N. gonorrhoeae* infections, studies involving high-throughput quantitative proteomic mining of gonococcal cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles were recently employed by our laboratory for the purpose of identifying novel targets for development of antigonorrhea compounds and vaccines (Zielke *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016).

Composition and properties of bacterial cell envelopes are crucial factors affecting the physiology, morphogenesis, susceptibility to chemicals, uptake of substances, and interaction with the environment. The cell envelopes of pathogenic bacteria are the primary site of interaction with the host, and thus play a fundamental role for pathogen survival throughout infection. In *N. gonorrhoeae*, a relatively small portion of cell envelope components, with emphasis on pili, opacity (opa) proteins, porins, components of iron uptake, and LOS have been studied with respect to their importance for pathogenesis. Pili are critical for initial attachment to host cells, ascending mucosal surfaces (by twitching motility), defense against neutrophil killing, and natural transformation (Swanson, 1973; Craig *et al.*, 2004; Merz *et al.*, 2000; Stohl *et al.*, 2013). Opa proteins (11 isoforms) mediate adherence to and invasion of human epithelial cells and neutrophils through binding either heparin sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) (class Opa50) or to the carcinoembryonic antigen-related family of cell

adhesion molecules (CEACAM or CD66) (class Opa52) (Bhat *et al.*, 1991; Bos *et al.*, 2002; Hauck and Meyer, 2003; Sadarangani *et al.*, 2010). Major outer membrane porin protein (PorB) is essential for *N. gonorrhea* viability and forms a voltage-gated pore allowing for nutrient flux, participates in inhibition or induction of apoptotic signaling in eukaryotic cells, confers serum resistance through modulation of classical and alternative pathways, and affects reactive oxygen species formation by innate immune cells (Haines *et al.*, 1988; Muller *et al.*, 1999; Binnicker *et al.*, 2004; Ram *et al.*, 1998; Ngampasutadol *et al.*, 2008; Lorenzen *et al.*, 2000). The TbpAB and LbpAB protein systems are involved in acquisition of iron from human transferrin and lactoferrin, respectively (Anderson *et al.*, 1994; Biswas and Sparling, 1995).

LOS is an essential non-protein component of the outer membrane involved in maintaining its integrity as well as adhesion and invasion of host epithelial cells, host immune evasion through variation of sugar moieties' structures, and molecular mimicry, which provides protection from killing by classical and alternative complement pathways (Ghuysen and Hakenbeck, 1994, Griffiss *et al.*, 1987; Song *et al.*, 2000; Elkins *et al.*, 1992; Ram *et al.*, 1998).

*N. gonorrhoeae*, like other Gram-negative bacteria, release outpouchings of the membranes called membrane vesicles (Ellis and Kuehn, 2010). These nano-sized bilayered proteolipids were shown in gonococcus to be involved in biofilm formation, which may be crucial for asymptomatic infection in women, resistance to antimicrobial agents, and suppression of the host immune system (Greiner *et al.*, 2005; Steichen *et al.*, 2008; Falsetta *et al.*, 2011).

Phase and/or antigenic variation of many described virulence determinants makes them difficult therapeutic targets. However, a large body of membrane proteins of *N. gonorrhoeae* have not been characterized with respect to their function and orientation in the cell envelope. Potential importance in physiology and surface topology of these antigens makes them interesting and promising novel molecular targets for developing pharmacological interventions against gonorrhea. Based on findings from the two proteomic studies (Zielke et al., 2014; Zielke et al., 2016) our laboratory is currently pursuing 20 novel cell envelope proteins for development of a

gonococcal vaccine. Among these potential antigens is hypothetical lipoprotein NGO1985.

#### NGO1985

NGO1985 was found to be ubiquitously expressed in cell envelopes and membrane vesicles of four analyzed temporally and geographically diverse *N. gonorrhoeae* isolates, as well as during exposure to environmental cues relevant to infection sites (Zielke *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Initial studies showed that deletion of the *ngo1985* gene resulted in dramatic increase in bacterial susceptibility to membrane perturbing probes and chloramphenicol antibiotic (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). Thus, NGO1985 was hypothesized to be involved in maintenance of bacterial cell envelope integrity.

Bioinformatic predictions of NGO1985 domain architecture, using the UniProt search engine (http://www.uniprot.org/), SignalP 4.1 Server (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk /services/SignalP/), and LIPO algorithm (http://services.cbu.uib.no/tools/lipo) revealed the presence of a signal peptide containing putative lipobox motif LALGGCF with a conserved cysteine residue (C23) and two putative membrane-binding BON (Bacterial OsmY and Nodulation) domains. Lipobox motifs are a C-terminal hallmark of signal peptides found in lipoproteins (von Heijne, 1989). The invariant cysteine within this sequence is the site of protein maturation and lipid modification that allows for anchoring to the cell envelope (reviewed by Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). Following removal of the signal peptide, cysteine becomes the new N-terminal amino acid of the protein, thus it is referred to as the +1 residue. Localization of lipoproteins either to the inner or outer membrane depends on residues following cysteine. Among enterobacteria, most of lipoproteins destined to the inner membrane have aspartic acid in position +2 (Lewenza et al., 2006). The +2 rule however, was shown not always to be applicable to bacteria from other families (Schulze and Zuckert, 2006; Narita and Tokuda, 2007). BON domains are usually about 60 amino acids in length, and based on the alignment predictions, contain a conserved glycine with an unknown role and several hydrophobic regions (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). These domains are present in the osmotic-shock-resistance protein OsmY, nodulation proteins, hemolysins,

secretory channels, and several hypothetical proteins. Amino acid organization suggests a binding and structural function, rather than a catalytic role, and it is currently hypothesized that these domains bind phospholipids. Most Proteobacteria encode two BON-containing proteins, although the Burkholderia genus tends to have an extended repertoire.

Function of the E. coli homologue of NGO1985, YraP protein, was also assigned to maintenance of cell envelope integrity (Onufryk et al., 2005). YraP mutants were selectively sensitive to sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), but not to rifampin. Authors suggested a potential role of this protein in OMP folding. Although initial studies of β-barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex did not detect YraP to be associated with BamA-BamB-BamC-BamD, it was speculated that it could be a loosely associated component of this complex (Wu et al., 2005; Onufryk et al., 2005). Another homologue of NGO1985 from N. meningitidis, GNA2091 - a component of the 4CMenB vaccine - was characterized recently (Bos et al., 2014). GNA2091 was proposed to reside on the periplasmic site of the outer membrane. Separate studies provide evidence that this protein can be recognized by the component of the humoral arm of innate immunity, long pentraxin 3 (PTX3), suggesting that some part of the protein could be accessible on the surface of the bacterium (Bottazzi et al., 2015). GNA2091 was linked to cell envelope biogenesis, as mutations in the gene encoding this protein led to accumulation of misassembled outer membrane proteins. Similar to YraP, the meningococcal protein was proposed to interact BAM complex, yet this interaction could not be shown and transient interactions have been suggested.

#### β-barrel Assembly Machinery (BAM) complex

Known constituents of *N. gonorrhoeae* cell envelopes are indispensable for establishing infection and evasion of the human immune system. Proper biogenesis of these components is crucial for their physiological function and maintaining cell envelope integrity. Bacterial outer membrane proteins (OMPs) begin their life in the cytosol as precursors with a leader sequence which is guided by cytoplasmic chaperones and the SecYEG complex through the inner membrane (Driessen and Nouwen, 2008). Upon entering the periplasmic compartment, the leader peptide is cleaved by a signal peptidase, and OMPs are transported towards the outer membrane with the help of periplasmic chaperones (Sklar et al., 2007). The nascent OMPs are being recognized at the inner leaflet of the outer membrane by the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex which folds them and inserts into the outer membrane (reviewed by Ricci and Silhavy, 2012). In Escherichia coli, BAM is composed of five components: an integral  $\beta$ -barrel membrane protein BamA (previously YeaT, Omp85), and four accessory outer membrane lipoproteins: BamB (YfgL), BamC (NlpB), BamD

(YfiO), and BamE (SmpA). BamA, initially characterized in N. meningitidis and N. gonorrhoeae as Omp85 (Manning et al., 1998), is an essential protein for bacteria viability and the major component of BAM. It is composed of a C-terminal membranebound β-barrel domain and an N-terminal periplasmic domain containing five Polypeptide Translocation Associated (POTRA) motifs (Kim et al., 2007). POTRA domains are believed to mediate OMP binding and are the site of interactions with other BAM components in the periplasmic space (Gatzeva-Topalova *et al.*, 2008). BamB is a non-essential protein required for the folding of a subset of OMPs including porins OmpF, LamB, OmpT (Malinverni et al., 2006). Together, BamB and BamD were shown to be crucial for BamA biogenesis (Misra et al., 2015). BamC is another nonessential component of BAM, important for membrane integrity; yet its function in protein folding still remains unclear (Wu et al., 2005). Studies have shown that two helix-grip domains of BamC are surface exposed, and it was suggested that they can provide, in addition to POTRA domains, interaction with the BamA surface (Webb et al., 2012). BamD is the last part of the BAM complex essential for bacterial viability. It is important for BamA stability as well as mediating and facilitating interaction of BamC and BamE with BamA (Malinverni et al., 2006, Kim et al., 2007). Additionally, BamD has been shown recently to interact directly with substrate OMPs through recognition of consensus sequences (Hagan et al., 2015). The function of BamE is not exactly clear; however, mutations in this protein result in moderate OMP folding defects and increased susceptibility to membrane perturbing agents (Sklar et al., 2007). BamE has been shown to modulate conformational changes of BamA and is required for surface exposed lipoprotein RcsF/OMP complex formation (Rigel et al., 2012; Konovalova et al., 2016).

Although the BAM complex is conserved among proteobacteria, organizational differences have been documented among species. Bioinformatic analysis indicate that BamC is absent in  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria, while  $\delta$ -, and  $\epsilon$ -proteobacteria contain only homologues of BamA and BamD (Anwari *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, the  $\alpha$ -proteobacterial lineage has uniquely evolved an additional component of BAM, BamF (Anwari *et al.*, 2012). This suggests that the presence of BamB, BamC, and BamE is unique to  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -proteobacteria. Differences in BAM among these bacteria have also been noted. For example, the *Burkholderia* genus encodes two copies of BamC while *Neisseria* genomes do not encode a BamB homologue (Anwari *et al.*, 2012; Volokhina *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, the BAM complex of *N. meningitidis* was shown to include the RmpM protein and authors of this work speculated the possible existence of other potential components (Volokhina *et al.*, 2009).

#### Nucleotide-activated-glycero-manno-heptoses and GmhA

Sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerases are important for bacterial physiology, and therefore it has been suggested that these enzymes are potential targets for the development of new classes of antimicrobial agents (Taylor *et al.*, 2008; Umamaheswari *et al.*, 2010; Harmer, 2010).

Synthesis of LPS/LOS is a complex, multifactorial, and discontinuous process involving synthesis and assembly of multiple distant components. The core oligosaccharide can be structurally divided into the inner and outercore. The outer core is typically composed of hexoses and hexosamines, while the inner core consists of two residues of 3-deoxy-D-*manno*-octulosonic acid (KDO) and two or three molecules of L-*glycero*-D-*manno*-heptoses (L,D-heptose) (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). Heptose residues have been shown to be crucial for LPS/LOS physiological functions. Phosphate groups of heptoses are involved in ionic interaction with the outer membrane and divalent cations, which provide a barrier for hydrophobic compounds like dyes, antibiotics, and detergents (Nikaido, 1994; Nikaido & Vaara, 1985). In *E. coli*, mutations leading to formation of heptose-less inner core oligosaccharides results in hypersensitivity to novobiocin, detergents, and bile salts; as well as defects in plasmid F conjugation and bacteriophage P1 transduction (Tamaki *et al.*, 1971; Havekes *et al.*, 1976; Sherburne and Taylor, 1997). In some bacteria L,D-heptose were found in the outer core of LPS (Melaugh *et al.*, 1992; Holst *et al.*, 1991). Moreover, L-D-heptoses are used for glycosylation of capsular polysaccharides and serine modification of certain autotransporters, which play an important role in pathogenesis (Valvano *et al.*, 2002; Lu *et al.*, 2015). Recently it was shown that in *N. gonorrhoeae*, free L-D-heptoses released to the extracellular milieu elicit an innate immune response and stimulate expression of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (Malott *et al.*, 2013). Another form of heptoses, the D-glycero-D-manno-heptoses (D,D-heptose), is required for decoration of flagella and capsular polysaccharides, and these are part of S-layer glycan in some Gram-positive bacteria (Kosma *et al.*, 1995; Wugenditsch *et al.*, 1999; Eidels and Osborn, 1974).

The first step in the biosynthesis of ADP- and GDP-activated L,D- and D,Dheptoses, respectively, is catalyzed by the sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase GmhA (previously annotated as TrfA and LpcA) (Havekes *et al.*, 1986; Brooke and Valvano, 1996). This enzyme is conserved among Gram-negative and some Grampositive bacteria, and is involved in isomerization of D-sedoheptulose-7-phosphate into D-*glycero*- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -D-*manno*-heptose 7-phosphate. Mutations of genes encoding GmhA among different bacteria have resulted in production of LPS/LOS molecules composed of only lipid A and KDO residues, which leads to increased susceptibility to membrane perturbing agents, defects in biofilm formation, and decreased virulence (Bauer *et al.*, 1998; Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Darby *et al.*, 2005; Aballay *et al.*, 2003).

#### **Scope of Dissertation**

Identification, characterization, and elucidation of the physiological function of new *N. gonorrhoeae* proteins is crucial for facilitating the development of new therapeutic interventions. Cell envelopes are the site of interaction between the pathogen and its host, and therefore play a crucial role in bacterial fitness. Many described gonococcal cell envelope components are indispensable for establishing infection and persistence in the human body. The objectives of this dissertation work is to, 1) gain insight into the implications of the GmhA homologue of *N. gonorrhoeae* in LOS synthesis and other physiological processes, 2) determine NGO1985 orientation within the cell envelope and its role in maintaining its integrity, 3) identify amino acid and protein motifs that are important for the proper function of NGO1985. These are some of the important aspects that the work presented in the following chapters aims to address. Chapter 2 focuses on characterization of the GmhA homologue as a potential drug target, and provides understanding of its impact on the physiology of *N. gonorrhoeae*. In chapter 3, we study NGO1985 for the purpose of validating it as potential vaccine development candidate and investigate its function in cell envelope homeostasis. Finally, chapter 4 is an analysis of amino acid components of NGO1985 and their implied effect on the protein function.



Figure 1.1. Cell envelope of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Antigen	Function	Expression	Variability	Immunogenicity	Reference
OpcA	Adherence, invasion	Stable	Conserved	Bactericidal antibodies	Zhu et al., 2003
OmpA	Adherence, invasion	Transcriptio- nal regulation	N/A	Bactericidal antibodies	Serino <i>et al.</i> , 2007
PilC	Pilus-associated adhesion	Phase variable	Conserved and variable regions	N/A	Rahman <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Rudel <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1995
PilQ	Channel formation for pilus extrusion	Stable	Conserved C-terminus	Surface-binding and bactericidal antibodies	Haghi <i>et al.</i> , 2012
Opa	Adherence, invasion	Phase variable	Variable	Bactericidal antibodies	Callaghan <i>et al.</i> , 2011; de Jonge <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Cole and Jerse, 2009
AniA	Nitrate reductase	Induced by nitrate and anoxia	Conserved, variable glycosylati on	Antibodies block function of AniA	Shewell <i>et al.</i> , 2013
TdfJ	Zinc transporter	Regulated	Conserved	Bactericidal antibodies (when raised against meningococcal homologue)	Cornelissen and Hollander, 2007 Stork <i>et al.</i> , 2010
PorB	Nutrient acquisition, antibiotic and serum resistance, invasion	Stable	Variable	Bactericidal antibodies; antibodies block use of transferrin iron source	Garvin <i>et al.</i> , 2010 IPNC Abstract #P235
Lst	Serum resistance	Constitutive	Conserved	Antisera reduces sialylation of LOS	Shell et al., 2002
TbpB, TbpA	Transferrin receptor	Induced during iron depletion	TbpA, conserved; TbpB variable	Bactericidal antibodies when transferrin is a sole iron source	Hobbs <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Price <i>et al.</i> , 2007
2C7 epitope	Monoclonal antibody to (LOS)	Phase variable	Common epitope of LOS	Antisera to peptide mimic are bactericidal	Gulati <i>et al.</i> , 1966; Ngampasutadol <i>et al.</i> , 2006

Table 1.1. Potential gonococcal vaccine antigens

## Chapter 2

Functional and structural studies on the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* GmhA, the first enzyme in the *glycero-manno*-heptose biosynthesis pathways, demonstrate a critical role in lipooligosacharide synthesis and gonococcal viability

Igor H. Wierzbicki, Ryszard A. Zielke, Konstantin V. Korotkov, and Aleksandra E. Sikora

Submitted to Molecular Microbiology; currently under review

#### Abstract

Sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase, GmhA, is the first enzyme in the biosynthesis of nucleotide-activated-glycero-manno-heptoses and an attractive, yet underexploited, target for development of broad-spectrum antibiotics. We demonstrated that GmhA homologues in Neisseria gonorrhoeae and N. meningitidis (hereafter called GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and GmhA<sub>NM</sub>, respectively) are interchangeable proteins essential for lipooligosaccharide (LOS) synthesis, and their depletion had adverse effects on neisserial viability. In contrast, the *Escherichia coli* orthologue failed to complement GmhA<sub>GC</sub> depletion. Further, we showed that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> is a cytoplasmic enzyme with induced expression at mid-logarithmic phase, upon iron deprivation and anaerobiosis, and conserved in contemporary gonococcal clinical isolates including the 2016 WHO reference strains. The untagged GmhA<sub>GC</sub> crystalized as a tetramer in the closed conformation with four zinc ions in the active site, supporting that this is most likely the catalytically active conformation of the enzyme. Finally, site directed mutagenesis studies showed that the active site residues E65 and H183 were important for LOS synthesis but not for GmhA<sub>GC</sub> function in bacterial viability. Our studies bring insights into the importance and mechanism of action of GmhA and may ultimately facilitate targeting the enzyme with small molecule inhibitors.
# Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) emphasized an urgent need for the development of antimicrobials with novel modes of action against antibiotic resistant threats with severe consequences for public health, including infections caused by drug-resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae (World Health Organization, 2012; World Health Organization, 2015; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013b, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013a). Gonorrhea is highly prevalent throughout the world, and if untreated or inadequately treated, often leads to serious repercussions on reproductive health including ectopic pregnancy, pelvic inflammatory disease, and infertility (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013b; World Health Organization, 2011; Low et al., 2014). In the absence of a protective gonorrhea vaccine, antibiotics remain the sole therapeutic intervention. However, the well-documented ability of gonococci to acquire antibiotic resistance continues to threaten available treatment options (Unemo and Shafer, 2014; Unemo, 2015). To meet the needs raised by WHO and CDC our laboratory focuses on identification and validation of new molecular targets for the development of gonorrhea treatments (Zielke et al., 2014; Zielke et al., 2015; Bonventre et al., 2016; Zielke et al., 2016).

Targeting the first enzymes in the nucleotide-activated-*glycero-manno*-heptose pathways is a relatively unexplored field, although it appears to be an alternative approach to the discovery of broad-spectrum antibacterial drugs (Tamaki *et al.*, 1971; Bauer *et al.*, 1998; Darby *et al.*, 2005; Valvano *et al.*, 2002). Nucleotide-activated-*glycero-manno*-heptoses, while absent in eukaryotic cells, are widely present in bacteria and are crucial components of the lipopolysaccharides (LPS), lipooligosaccharides (LOS), capsules, O antigens, and glycan moieties of bacterial cell surface (S-layer) glycoproteins (Valvano *et al.*, 2002). In particular, one such potential drug target of significant interest is sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase, GmhA, annotated previously as TfrA (Havekes *et al.*, 1976) and LpcA (Brooke and Valvano, 1996). GmhA is conserved in many Gram-negative and some Gram-positive bacteria and is responsible for catalyzing isomerization of the D-sedoheptulose 7-phosphate into D-glycero- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -D-manno-heptose-7-phosphate (Eidels and Osborn, 1974), which is the

first and common step for parallel biosynthetic pathways leading to generation of GDP-D-glycero- $\alpha$ -D-manno-heptose (D,D-heptose) and ADP-L-glycero- $\beta$ -D-mannoheptose [L,D-heptose; reviewed in Ref: (Valvano et al., 2002)]. D,D-heptose is required for glycosylation of flagella and capsular polysaccharides, and for the assembly of disaccharide repeating units (D,D-heptose linked to L-rhamnose) composing the S-layer glycan in the Gram-positive Eubacterium, Aneurinibacillus thermoaerophilus DSM 10155 (Kosma et al., 1995; Wugeditsch et al., 1999; Eidels and Osborn, 1974). L,D-heptose is used for glycosylation of capsular polysaccharides (Valvano et al., 2002) and as a primary building block of LPS/LOS core oligosaccharide (Eidels and Osborn, 1971; Brooke and Valvano, 1996). In addition, a large family of bacterial autotransporter heptosyltransferases (BAHTs) utilizes L,Dheptose as a sugar donor to modify serine residues on their substrate autotransporters, which has a significant impact on the virulence of Gram-negative pathogens (Lu *et al.*, 2015). The L,D-heptose is synthesized in sequential reactions catalyzed in order by GmhA-HldE (HldA)-GmhB-HldE (HldC)-HldD [reviewed in Refs: (Valvano et al., 2002; Raetz and Whitfield, 2002)]. Usually one or more L,D-heptose molecules and two 2-keto-3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid (KDO) residues form the inner portion (lipid A proximal) of the LPS/LOS core oligosaccharide, which is typically more conserved than the structurally diverse outer core (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). Similarly, gonococcal LOS contain two basal heptose molecules, designated Hep I and Hep II, forming elongation centers  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\chi$  (Gibson *et al.*, 1989; John *et al.*, 1991; Yamasaki et al., 1991). The individual chains can be decorated with structures that mimic human carbohydrate epitopes [ $\alpha$  chain linked to Hep I; (Apicella and Mandrell, 1989)]; a single glucose, lactose, or glucose with additional sugars [ $\beta$  chain extending from Hep II; (Gibson et al., 1989; Yamasaki et al., 1994)]; and GlcNac, GlcNac acetate, or occasionally galactose [ $\chi$  chain; (McLeod Griffiss *et al.*, 2000)]. In addition, phosphate or phosphoethanolamine groups may be attached to the heptose residues (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002; Preston et al., 1996). The phosphoric residues participate in the ionic interactions between LPS/LOS and outer membrane proteins, as well as divalent cations, providing a barrier against entry of detergents, antibiotics, and hydrophobic compounds (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002; Preston et al., 1996). The N.

*gonorrhoeae* heptose-monophosphate was recently linked with the clinical and epidemiological synergy of gonorrhea and HIV (Malott *et al.*, 2013). At the molecular level, this interplay involves the unique ability of gonococci to efficiently liberate phosphorylated L,D-heptose into the extracellular milieu, which elicits an immune response and induces HIV-1 expression and viral production in cluster of differentiation 4-positive (CD4<sup>+</sup>) T-cells (Malott *et al.*, 2013).

Mutations in genes encoding GmhA in different bacterial species examined to date resulted in pleiotropic effects including production of truncated LPS/LOS composed of lipid A and KDO residues, increased susceptibility to antibiotics and detergents, impaired biofilm formation, and attenuated virulence (Bauer *et al.*, 1998; Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Darby *et al.*, 2005; Aballay *et al.*, 2003). In addition, lack of HldA, which acts immediately downstream from GmhA in the L,D-heptose biosynthetic pathway, rendered gonococci unable to induce HIV-1 expression (Malott *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, we propose GmhA in *N. gonorrhoeae*, GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, as a molecular target for the development of new antigonococcal drugs. Herein we performed characterization of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> at the molecular, functional, and structural levels to facilitate the future targeting of this enzyme with small molecule inhibitors.

# Materials and methods

**Bacterial strains and growth conditions.** Strains of bacteria used in this study are listed in Table 2.1. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* were cultured either on gonococcal base solid medium (GCB, Difco), or in gonococcal base liquid (GCBL) medium supplemented with Kellogg's supplement I and II in ratios 1:100 and 1:1000, respectively (Spence *et al.*, 2008). GCBL was additionally supplemented with sodium bicarbonate at a final concentration of 0.042%. *In vitro* host relevant growth conditions (iron deprivation, presence of normal human serum, anoxia) were procured as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). *Neisseria* were cultured on solid media for 18-22 h at 37 °C in the presence of 5% atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. For *N. gonorrhoeae*, piliated or non-piliated variants were passaged onto GCB and incubated for an additional 18-22 h. Colonies with piliated morphology were used for DNA transformation, while non-piliated variants were used in all other experiments. *Escherichia coli* strains were grown either on Luria-Bertani agar (LBA, Difco) or cultured in Luria-Bertani broth (LB, Difco) at 37 °C.

Antibiotics were used on selected bacteria in the following concentrations: for *N. gonorrhoeae*: kanamycin 40 µg/mL, erythromycin 0.5 µg/mL; for *N. meningitidis*: kanamycin 80 µg/mL, erythromycin 2 µg/mL; for *E. coli*: kanamycin 50 µg/mL, erythromycin 250 µg/mL.

Genetic manipulations, site-directed mutagenesis and transcomplementation. Plasmids and primers used in this study are listed in Supplemental Table S2.1. Oligonucleotides were designed based on the genomic sequence of N. gonorrhoeae FA1090 (NC 002946), N. meningitidis MC58 (NC\_003112), and E. coli BL21(DE3) (NC\_012892) using SnapGene software version 2.8 (GSL Biotech LLC) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies. Genomic DNA of gonococcal isolates, N. meningitidis MC58, and E. coli BL21(DE3) was isolated with the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega). PCR products and plasmid DNA were purified using QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN). PCR reactions were performed using chromosomal or plasmid DNA as template, appropriate oligonucleotides, and Q5® High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (NEB). E. coli MC1061 was used as the host during the molecular cloning and site-directed mutagenesis procedures. All obtained constructs were verified by Sanger Sequencing at the Center for Genomic Research and Biocomputing at Oregon State University. Transformation of *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* was performed as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2014, Alexander *et al.*, 2004).

The recombinant GmhAGC (rGmhAGC) containing N-terminal-6×His-tag followed by the Tobacco Etch Virus (TEV) protease recognition site was obtained by amplifying the DNA region of the *ngo1986* gene lacking a stop codon with primers rNGO1986-F and rNGO1986-R and cloning the obtained PCR product (615 bp) into NcoI/HindIII sites of pRSF-NT (Supplemental Table S2.1).

The conditional GmhAGC mutant, FA1090  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/Plac::gmhA_{GC}$ , was constructed using the strategy described by Zielke *et al.*, 2016. An additional copy of *ngo1986* was placed under the control of the isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG)-inducible promoter, *P*<sub>*lac*</sub>, within an intergenic region located between *lctP* and *aspC* in the FA1090 chromosome (Mehr *et al.*, 2000), followed by an in-frame replacement of *ngo1986* in its native chromosomal locus with the nonpolar kanamycin resistance cassette. Specifically, *ngo1986* containing its native ribosomal binding site (RBS) was amplified with primers NGO1986-RBS-F and NGO1986-RBS-R. The resulting 628 bp PCR product was digested with FseI and inserted into ScaI/FseI treated pGCC4, yielding pGCC4-GmhAGC. After transformation of FA1090 with pGCC4-GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, gonococci were selected on GCB with 0.5 µg/mL erythromycin and verified by PCR with primers pGCC4-Ver-F and pGCC4-Ver-R.

The constructs for deletion of  $gmhA_{GC}$  were obtained by amplification of the 552 bp upstream DNA region and 571 bp downstream from ngo1986 with primers NGO1986-UP-F/NGO1986-UP-R and NGO1986-Down-F/NGO1986-Down-R, respectively. The upstream fragment was digested with EcoRI/KpnI and cloned into similarly cleaved pUC18K, yielding pUC18K-GmhAGC-Up. Next, the downstream fragment was inserted into the BamHI/HindIII-cleaved pUC18K-GmhAGC-Up. The resulting pUC18K-GmhAGC was linearized with HindIII and used to transform FA1090 carrying the second copy of gmhA on the chromosome, FA1090  $P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$ . Clones were selected on solid medium supplemented with kanamycin and 0.1 mM IPTG, and verified by PCR with NGO1986-Ver-F and NGO1986-Ver-R primers.

Subsequently, selected gonococci were further verified by immunoblotting analyses using anti-GmhAGC antisera.

To generate GmhA<sub>GC</sub>E65A and GmhA<sub>GC</sub>H183A, the template for site-directed mutagenesis (pUC18-GmhAGC) was constructed by amplifying *ngo1986* with its native RBS using primers NGO1986-RBS-F and NGO1986-RBS-R and cloning into SmaI-cleaved pUC18. Site-directed mutagenesis was performed using the template; primer pairs E65A-F/E65A-R or H183A-F/H183A-R, respectively, and Q5 Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (NEB), according to the manufacturer's manual. Subsequently, the mutated variants of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> were amplified with NGO1986-RBS-F and NGO1986-RBS-F and NGO1986-RBS-R, cleaved with FseI, cloned into ScaI/FseI digested pGCC4, introduced into the FA1090 chromosome, the native *ngo1986* was deleted as described above.

For transcomplementation studies, GmhA homologues from *N. meningitidis* MC58 (nmb2090) and *E. coli* BL21(DE3) (ECBD\_3400) were amplified with primer pairs NGO1986-RBS-F/NGO1986-RBS-R and ECBD3400-RBS-F, respectively. The resulting PCR products were digested with FseI and introduced into ScaI/FseI-treated pGCC4. Introduction into the FA1090 chromosome and deletion of GmhA were performed as outlined above.

The cytoplasmic marker control for subfractionation experiments, the *zwf* gene (*ngo0715*) encoding glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase was amplified using primers rZwf-F and rZwf-R. The PCR product was cleaved with NcoI and HindIII and cloned into similarly digested pRSF-NT to obtain plasmid pRSF-NT-Zwf.

**Proteome subfractionation procedures.** Colonies of N. gonorrhoeae FA1090 were collected from GCB, suspended in 500 mL of GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1 and cultured with aeration at 37 °C until OD<sub>600</sub> of ~0.8. Bacterial cells were separated from the suspension by centrifugation (10 min,  $6,000 \times g$ , 4 °C). The crude cell envelopes were purified using a sodium carbonate extraction procedure while naturally released membrane vesicles (MVs) and soluble proteins (SS) were fractionated from culture supernatants by ultracentrifugation as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2016).

**GmhA**<sub>GC</sub> **depletion studies.** Colonies of FA1090  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::  $gmhA_{GC}$  were collected with a cotton swab from GCB supplemented with 10 µM IPTG and

suspended in GCBL to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1. After two washes in pre-warmed GCBL, bacterial suspension was split and incubated with shaking (220 rpm) with or without IPTG for 3 h at 37 °C. Cultures were back-diluted to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1 in fresh GCBL, as described above, and cultured for additional 6 h. At specific time points indicated in the text,  $OD_{600}$  measurements were taken, samples for western blotting and LOS isolation were withdrawn, and cultures were serially diluted followed by plating on GCB for enumeration of colony forming units (CFUs). Experiments were performed on three separate occasions and mean values and SEM are presented.

Isolation of LOS and silver staining. LOS was isolated from *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* based on the method described previously (Hitchcock and Brown, 1983). Bacteria were either collected from GCB or GCBL, as specified in the text, suspended in 1.5 mL of GCBL to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.2 and spun down for 1.5 min at 15,000 × *g*. Pelleted cells were lysed by addition of 50 µL of lysis buffer (2% SDS, 4% β-mercaptoethanol, 10% glycerol, 1M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, and 0.01% bromophenol blue) and incubation at 100 °C for 10 min. Samples were allowed to cool down to room temperature and proteins were digested by addition of 25 µg proteinase K in 10 µL of lysis buffer and incubated for 1 h at 60 °C. Isolated LOS was resolved on 16.5% Mini-PROTEAN® Tris-Tricine Gel (BioRad) and visualized by a silver staining procedure (Tsai and Frasch, 1982).

**Fitness assessment.** Colonies of different neisserial strains, as indicated in the text, were collected from GCB and reconstituted in GCBL to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1. Bacterial cultures were incubated in the absence of IPTG for 3 h at 37 °C with aeration and subsequently back-diluted to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.2, serially diluted, and plated on GCB with or without IPTG for CFUs scoring. Experiments were repeated in three biological replicates and averaged values with corresponding SEM are presented.

Purification of the rGmhAGC and rZwf and production of polyclonal rabbit antibodies. *E. coli* BL21(DE3) strain carrying either pRSF-NT-GmhAGC or pRSF-NT-Zwf was used as heterologous host for overproduction and purification of rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> and recombinant Zwf (rZwf), respectively. Overnight cultures were back-diluted in 2.0 L of LB supplemented with kanamycin and incubated with aeration at 37 °C until the optical density (OD<sub>600</sub>) reached ~0.5. Overproduction of rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> and

rZwf was induced with 0.1 and 1 mM IPTG, respectively, and cultures were incubated for additional 3 h at 37 °C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation  $(6,000 \times g, 10 \text{ min}, 10 \text{ min})$ 4 °C). Pelleted bacteria carrying pRSF-NT-GmhAGC were suspended in lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.0, 1 M NaCl, 10 mM imidazole, 5% glycerol) supplemented with a Pierce Protease Inhibitor Mini Tablet (Thermo Scientific) and lysed by passaging six times through a French pressure cell at 12,000 psi. Cell debris and unbroken cells were separated from soluble protein fraction by centrifugation at 16,000  $\times$  g for 30 min at 4 °C. The obtained supernatant was passed through 0.22  $\mu$ m membrane filter (VWR International) and applied onto Bio-Scale MiniProfinity IMAC cartridges (Bio-Rad) on the NGC Scout Chromatography system (Bio-Rad). Loosely bound proteins were removed with 10 column volumes of wash buffer (20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 40 mM imidazole) and elutions were conducted with a 40-250 mM imidazole gradient. Fractions containing rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> were combined and a PD-10 column (GE Healthcare) was used to exchange the buffer to 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol. Subsequently, the N-terminal-6×His-tag of the rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> was removed by TEV protease. Cleavage reaction was prepared by mixing rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> with TEV in 20:1 (w:w ratio) in 500 µL of cleavage buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 5 mM EDTA), 10 µL of 0.5 M DTT, and 500 µL of Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen) equilibrated with cleavage buffer. Following overnight incubation at room temperature, cleavage mixture was loaded onto a 5 mL polypropylene column (Thermo Scientific) and supernatant containing 6×His-tag-free rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> was collected. To remove residual TEV protease that co-eluted with rGmhAGC, the mixture was incubated again with 500  $\mu$ L of Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen) equilibrated with cleavage buffer for 1 h with rotation at 4 °C, and rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> was eluted. The purified rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> was applied to a PD-10 column (GE Healthcare) for a buffer exchange into 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, and 5% glycerol.

Purification of rZwf was accomplished using the same procedures as described above with the following modifications. *E. coli* cells were resuspended in lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 10 mM imidazole, 450 mM NaCl). Cells were lysed using French Press and rZwf was purified using 5 mL Bio-Scale Mini Nuvia IMAC Ni-Charged column (Bio-Rad) connected to a NGC Chromatography System (Bio-Rad). Bound peptides were eluted using elution buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 250 mM imidazole, 450 mM NaCl). Fractions containing proteins were pooled, EDTA and DTT were added to final concentrations of 0.5 mM and 1 mM, respectively, and the His-tag was removed by overnight incubation with TEV protease (ratio 1:100 w/w). After cleavage the proteins were separated using Hi Load 16/600 Superdex 75 pg column (GE Healthcare) and buffer containing 20 mM Tris pH8, 150 mM NaCl connected to the NGC Chromatography System. Fractions containing Zwf were pooled together and concentrated using 10 kDa Vivaspin 20 concentrators (GE Healthcare). Glycerol was added to a final concentration of 10% and the protein was aliquoted and stored at - 80 °C.

The polyclonal rabbit anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and anti-Zwf antibodies were generated using  $6\times$ His-tag-free rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> and rZwf, respectively. Standard 13-week antibody production protocols were applied, utilizing four New Zealand White rabbits, animal handling was performed according to the Animal Protocol #1 approved by IACUC, in a certified animal facility (USDA 93-R-283) and the NIH Animal Welfare Assurance Program (#A4182-01) at the Pacific Immunology Corporation. Anti-GmhAGC and anti-Zwf antisera were used at 1:10,000.

Size exclusion chromatography. The NGC Scout Chromatography system (Bio-Rad) employing a HiLoad 16/600 Superdex 75 pg column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) was used to separate purified rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> based on the molecular size. Buffer for the chromatography (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl) was applied at 1 mL/min flow rate. Gel Filtration Standard (BioRad) was used to determine the size of the separated proteins.

**Crystallization and structure determination of** *N. gonorrhoeae* **GmhA**<sub>GC</sub>**.** The screening for initial crystallization conditions was performed using JCSG Core Suites I-IV (Qiagen) (Newman *et al.*, 2005). The optimized crystals were grown using 0.1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.5, 0.2 M magnesium chloride, 30% PEG4000. Crystals were transferred to a cryo-protectant solution supplemented with 20% glycerol and flashfrozen in liquid nitrogen. The diffraction data were collected from a single crystal at the beamline 22-ID, Southeast Regional Collaborative Access Team (SER-CAT) at the Advanced Photon Source, Argonne National Laboratory. Data were integrated and scaled using XDS and XSCALE (Kabsch, 2010). The structure was solved by molecular replacement using Phaser (McCoy *et al.*, 2007) and structure of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* GmhA (PDB 3BJZ) as a search model (Taylor *et al.*, 2008). The electron density modification was performed using Parrot (Cowtan, 2010) followed by automated model rebuilding using Buccaneer (Cowtan, 2006). The model was completed by manual rebuilding in Coot (Emsley *et al.*, 2010) and was refined using REFMAC5 (Murshudov *et al.*, 2011). The structure was validated using Coot and the MolProbity server (Chen *et al.*, 2010). The structural figures were generated using PyMol (The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 1.8 Schrödinger, LLC.).

**SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.** Whole cell lysates of *Neisseria* strains indicated in the text were either collected from solid media after 22 h of aerobic or 48 h of anaerobic growth, or harvested from liquid media following procedures described (Zielke *et al.*, 2014, Zielke *et al.*, 2016). *E. coli* cells were collected from LB agar plates after overnight incubation. Samples were normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> values or based on total protein concentration, and SDS-PAGE, staining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250, and immunoblotting analyses were performed exactly as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2014, Zielke *et al.*, 2016).

**Statistical analysis.** GraphPad Prism's build-in *t*-test was used for determination of statistically significant differences between obtained experimental results. A confidence level of 95% was used for all analyses.

Accession numbers. The coordinates and structure factors were deposited to the Protein Data Bank with accession code 5I01.

### Results

**Chromosomal location and purification of GmhA**GC. Genes encoding the enzymes of the L,D-heptose biosynthesis pathway are scattered throughout the chromosome in the majority of bacteria, including *N. gonorrhoeae* (Valvano *et al.*, 2002). The GmhA homologue in *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 is encoded by *ngo1986*, which is located between *ngo1985*, coding for an outer membrane lipoprotein (Zielke *et al.*, 2014) and *ngo1987* encoding a putative endonuclease (YraN). Comparison of the *gmhA* location using BioCyc Pathway/Genome Database Collection (http://biocyc.org/) showed that this genetic arrangement is conserved among the various deposited *Neisseria* species and isolates (n=70) with only a few exceptions, including *N. bacilliformis* ATCC BAA-1200, *N. sp.* oral taxon 020 F0370, *N. shayeganii* 871, and *N. subflava* NJ9703.

GmhA<sub>GC</sub> consists of 197 amino acids with residues 37–197 comprising a sugar isomerase domain (SIS) (Bateman, 1999) that is shared between all ketose/aldose isomerases (Golinelli-Pimpaneau, 1989). At the amino acid level, GmhA<sub>GC</sub> shows 43-57% identity with crystallized orthologous proteins (Table 3) and contains the key conserved residues observed in all GmhA homologues, including three serine residues and a threonine that presumably interacts with the phosphate group of sedoheptulose 7-phosphate or D-glycero-D-manno-heptose 7-phosphate (Harmer, 2010, Valvano *et al.*, 2002).

To characterize  $GmhA_{GC}$ , we first purified recombinant protein with a Nterminal 6×His-tag followed by the Tobacco Etch Virus (TEV) protease cleavage site and prepared untagged protein. Size exclusion chromatography indicated that the native GmhA<sub>GC</sub> forms tetrameric structures in the solution (Supplemental Fig. S2.1 A). The denatured protein migrated on SDS-PAGE according to the predicted molecular mass of 21.093 kDa (Supplemental Fig. S2.1 B). Untagged GmhA<sub>GC</sub> was subsequently used in crystallization and to obtain polyclonal rabbit antisera.

*N. gonorrhoeae* deprived of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> displays defect in LOS synthesis and growth cessation. The genetic inactivation of *gmhA* in *E. coli*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, *H. ducreyi*, *Salmonella enterica*, and *Yersinia pestis* resulted in altered outer membrane permeability and decreased virulence in animal infection models, however

the mutants did not display drastic growth defects *in vitro* (Bauer *et al.*, 1998; Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Darby *et al.*, 2005; Aballay *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, we were surprised by the failure of our numerous attempts to generate a clean deletion of *ngo1986* in *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090. As an alternative strategy, an additional copy of *gmhA<sub>GC</sub>* was placed under the control of the IPTG inducible  $P_{lac}$  promoter and introduced into the chromosome of wild type (wt) FA1090, followed by an allelic replacement of *ngo1986* with the kanamycin resistance cassette. The obtained  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA<sub>GC</sub>* mutant grew scarcely after passage on solid media without IPTG, whereas abundant colonies were observed in the presence of the inducer (Fig. 2.1 A). The depletion of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antisera (Fig. 2.1 B). Visualization of LOS species by Tricine-SDS-PAGE coupled with silver staining showed, as expected, that bacteria deprived of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> carried a truncated version of LOS that migrated faster in comparison to the LOS species isolated from wt and  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA<sub>GC</sub>* grown in the presence of IPTG (Fig. 2.1 B).

Subsequently, time course experiments during standard laboratory growth conditions were conducted to examine the correlation between depletion of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, LOS formation, and N. gonorrhoeae fitness. An initial suspension of non-piliated colonies of  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>GC</sub> collected from solid media supplemented with IPTG was divided and cultured in liquid media in the presence or absence of IPTG [(+) or (-); respectively]. After 3 h, to ensure GmhA<sub>GC</sub> depletion, the corresponding cultures were diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1 in media with or without IPTG. From this point onward (shown as 0 h in Fig. 2.1 C-E), samples were withdrawn every hour to assess GmhA<sub>GC</sub> levels and LOS formation (Fig. 2.1 C), culture density (Fig. 2.1 D), and Colony Forming Units (CFUs; Fig. 2.1 E). Immunoblotting with anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antisera showed that in the absence of IPTG, GmhA<sub>GC</sub> levels were slightly decreased at 0 h and complete GmhA<sub>GC</sub> depletion was achieved three hours later (Fig. 2.1 C). Also, it was noted that despite the presence of inducer, GmhA<sub>GC</sub> had a peculiar expression pattern; decreased amounts of protein in comparison to these observed at 0 h were detected at 1 h and in early log phase (corresponding to 2-3 h data points). Further, increased GmhA<sub>GC</sub> levels were found in late-log phase (4, 5h) followed by a decline in stationary phase (6h; Fig.

2.1 C-E). In contrast, no major differences were noticed in the overall protein profiles and the level of Ng-MIP (Fig. 2.1 C), which is ubiquitously expressed throughout phases of gonococci growth (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). As expected based on data presented in Fig. 2.1 B, the wt LOS species diminished over time and were barely detectable upon GmhA<sub>GC</sub> diminution (Fig. 2.1 C). Finally, analysis of growth rates showed that in media lacking IPTG, bacterial growth terminated concomitant to depletion of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> (Fig. 2.1 C-E), whereas in the presence of IPTG, the generation time of the  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}::gmhA_{GC}$  mutant was 61.21 min (Fig. 2.1 D-E), a value similar to the parental wt strain (56.5 min; Fig. 2.2 B).

Together, these findings demonstrated that GmhAGC is pivotal for LOS synthesis and optimal growth of N. gonorrhoeae.

GmhAGC subcellular localization and expression patterns. Preliminary results and absence of signal peptide suggested that GmhA of E. coli is a cytoplasmic enzyme (Brooke and Valvano, 1996). However, subcellular localization of GmhA and expression patterns were never assessed. To examine the localization of  $GmhA_{GC}$ , N. gonorrhoeae FA1090 was harvested at mid-logarithmic phase of growth and subjected to subfractionation procedures. Equal amounts of extracted proteome fractions including cytoplasm, cell envelopes, naturally released membrane vesicles, and soluble proteins in culture supernatants were separated by SDS-PAGE and probed with polyclonal antibodies (Fig. 2.2 A). GmhA<sub>GC</sub> was found solely in the cytoplasmic protein fraction, similarly to the cytoplasmic enzyme glucose-6-phosphate 1dehydrogenase, Zwf. As expected, the GTPase Obg ( $Obg_{GC}$ ), which primarily associates with 50S ribosomal subunits and partly with the peripheral inner membrane proteome (Zielke et al., 2015; Papanastasiou et al., 2013), was detected mainly in the cytoplasm and minute amounts were also found in the cell envelope fraction; whereas antisera against the outer membrane protein marker BamA (Zielke et al., 2016) crossreacted with fractions containing cell envelopes and membrane vesicles.

The expression of  $GmhA_{GC}$  was subsequently examined in wt FA1090 during routine aerobic growth in liquid media (Fig. 2.2 B-C) and on solid media under conditions that more closely mimic clinical infection, such as iron deprivation, exposure to human serum, and anoxia (Fig. 2.2 D). Antibodies against Ng-MIP, TbpB,

and AniA were used as markers for ubiquitous expression, iron-limiting conditions and anaerobiosis, respectively (Cornelissen, 2008; Zielke *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Immunoblotting analyses of whole cell lysates showed that expression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> peaked during mid-exponential phase (3 and 4h, Fig. 2.2 B-C). Increased GmhA<sub>GC</sub> levels were also detected during iron deprivation and anaerobic growth in comparison to standard laboratory conditions (Fig. 2.2 D). As expected, expression of Ng-MIP remained constant throughout different phases of gonococcal growth and was unchanged under all tested conditions (Zielke *et al.*, 2015; Zielke *et al.*, 2016), while TbpB and AniA were the most highly upregulated during iron deprivation and anaerobic growth, respectively (Fig. 2.2 D).

The increase in GmhA<sub>GC</sub> expression did not influence LOS migration patterns in wt gonococci, albeit increased amounts of total LOS were observed in bacteria cultured in the presence of normal human serum and anaerobically (Fig. 2.2 D). To further assess the possible correlation between expression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and LOS levels,  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$  was cultured in increasing concentrations of IPTG. The vast overexpression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> achieved with 1000 µM IPTG did not have adverse effect on bacterial growth (data not shown) and had no effect on the LOS quantities (Fig. 2.2 E).

Cumulatively, these experiments demonstrated that  $GmhA_{GC}$  is a cytoplasmic enzyme with augmented expression during mid-logarithmic phase, iron depletion and anaerobiosis, and that overproduction of GmhAGC alone does not alter gonococcal LOS abundance.

**Conservation of gmhA among** *Neisseria*. Analysis of *gmhA* conservation showed that the gene (locus NGO1986, NMB2090, NMC2070) is present in all of the 39,182 *Neisseria spp*. genomes deposited into the PubMLST database (http://pubmlst.org/neisseria/ as of July, 20, 2016) and that there are 340 alleles and 323 single nucleotide polymorphic sites (Supplemental Fig. S2.3).

Expression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> among 36 different *N. gonorrhoeae* strains isolated from patients at different times and geographic locations, including the 2016 WHO reference strains (Unemo *et al.*, 2016), was also assessed by immunoblotting. Whole cell lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with either polyclonal antiGmhA<sub>GC</sub> antisera or Zwf antibodies, or stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 as a loading control. Antisera against GmhA<sub>GC</sub> cross-reacted with all clinical isolates of *N. gonorrhoeae* but no cross-reactivity was detected for the *E. coli* GmhA homologue (Fig. 2.3). In addition, there were noticeable differences in GmhA<sub>GC</sub> protein abundance between the strains, while Zwf was uniformly expressed and there were no discrepancies in regards to samples normalization and loading (Fig. 2.3 and Supplemental Fig. S2.2).

Hindering GmhAGC isomerase activity does not influence N. gonorrhoeae growth. The crucial side chains for GmhA enzymic activity appeared to be E65 and H180 in the E. coli orthologue as analyzed by in vitro kinetic assays, LOS synthesis, and novobiocin sensitivity studies. It has been proposed that these two residues act as the base and the acid, respectively, to promote the isomerization reaction of Dsedoheptulose 7-phosphate into D-glycero- $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -D-manno-heptose-7-phosphate (Taylor et al., 2008). Therefore, to determine whether the observed decrease in N. gonorrhoeae survival upon GmhA<sub>GC</sub> depletion is a consequence of abolished LOS synthesis, sitedirected mutagenesis of corresponding residues (E65 and H183 in GmhA<sub>GC</sub>) was employed. The obtained GmhA<sub>GC</sub> E65A and H183A variants were placed under the IPTG inducible promoter and introduced into the chromosome of wt FA1090, followed by allelic exchange of *ngo1986* with the kanamycin resistance cassette. Both mutated proteins were stably produced in N. gonorrhoeae; however, the H183A variant was present at higher levels than the wt  $GmhA_{GC}$  (Fig. 2.4 A). Silver staining analysis of LOS revealed that bacteria expressing either E65A or H183A constructs produced truncated LOS, regardless of the presence of IPTG (Fig. 2.4 A). Further, under nonpermissive conditions (without IPTG), the  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>GC</sub>E65A and  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmA<sub>GC</sub>H183A, similarly to the  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>GC</sub>, had decreased viability, which was demonstrated by a 3214-, and 8653-fold decline, respectively, in CFUs in comparison to wt gonococci (Fig. 2.4 B). In contrast, the expression of either mutated version of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> rescued bacterial viability to the wt level.

These *in vivo* studies demonstrated the importance of residues E65 and H183 in  $GmhA_{GC}$  activity in the production of full length LOS and suggested that abolition

of LOS synthesis is disconnected from the GmhA<sub>GC</sub>-dependent effect on N. *gonorrhoeae* viability.

Trans-complementation studies of GmhA. GmhA homologues of H. *influenzae* and *H. ducreyi* restored the synthesis of full length LPS in the *E. coli*  $\Delta gmhA$ mutant (Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Bauer et al., 1998). This suggested that GmhA proteins can function interchangeably. However, failure of multiple attempts to remove ngo1986 in FA1090 carrying the E. coli gmhA gene cloned under the P<sub>lac</sub> promoter and integrated into the chromosome ruled out the possibility of a functional inter-species complementation. The E. coli GmhA (GmhA<sub>EC</sub>) shares 74% and 75% amino acid identity with H. influenzae and H. ducreyi proteins, respectively, while only 50% identity exists between  $GmhA_{EC}$  and  $GmhA_{GC}$  (Table 2.3). In contrast, N. meningitidis GmhA (GmhA<sub>NM</sub>) shows 98% identity to GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, and anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antisera readily recognized  $GmhA_{NM}$  (Fig. 2.5 A). Therefore, we decided to use an analogous strategy to create N. gonorrhoeae and N. meningitidis  $\Delta gmhA$  strains expressing either endogenous or non-endogenous GmhA. Immunoblotting experiments demonstrated that under permissive conditions, both proteins were stably expressed in each host, while without IPTG, neither  $GmhA_{GC}$  nor  $GmhA_{NM}$  were detected (Fig. 2.5 A). Functional interchangeability of GmhA between N. gonorrhoeae and N. meningitidis was then evaluated by analysis of LOS patterns. In FA1090  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>NM</sub> expression of GmhA<sub>NM</sub> resulted in LOS migrating exactly as LOS species extracted from the wt gonococci (Fig. 2.5 A). Likewise, expression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> restored LOS synthesis in the N. meningitidis MC58  $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ : gmhA<sub>GC</sub>. Further, as expected from our studies in N. gonorrhoeae (Fig. 2.1), depletion of GmhA<sub>NM</sub> in N. meningitidis MC58  $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>NM</sub> had adverse effects on bacterial viability and resulted in a 300- and 235.7-fold decrease in CFUs in comparison to wt and  $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA\_NM cultured in the presence of IPTG, respectively (Fig. 2.5 B). There was no statistically significant difference in the number of CFUs between the wt N. gonorrhoeae and its isogenic  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}$  mutant expressing either GmhA<sub>GC</sub> or GmhA<sub>NM</sub> (Fig. 2.5 B). Similarly, both GmhA<sub>NM</sub> and GmhA<sub>GC</sub> fully complemented the lack of GmhA<sub>NM</sub> in *N. meningitidis*.

Together, the trans-complementation studies showed that the *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* GmhA can function interchangeably. Expression of either of the homologues restored both viability and LOS synthesis. Additionally, we concluded that *E. coli* GmhA<sub>EC</sub> is not able to complement GmhA<sub>GC</sub> functions, as we were not able to generate a viable *N. gonorrhoeae*  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>EC</sub> mutant.

The structure of N. gonorrhoeae GmhA. To gain insights into the function of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and to facilitate the future targeting of this molecule with small molecule inhibitors, we obtained recombinant protein for structural studies (Supplemental Fig. S2.1). The structure of N. gonorrhoeae GmhA was determined by molecular replacement and was refined to 2.37 Å resolution with Rwork 0.207, R<sub>free</sub> 0.267, and excellent stereochemical parameters (Table 2.2). Four monomers of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> were present in the asymmetric unit (Fig. 2.6 A). The tetrameric architecture is consistent with the results of size-exclusion chromatography (Supplemental Fig. S2.1 A), and with the previously determined structures of GmhA homologs from other bacteria (Table 2.3). The interface area of the  $GmhA_{GC}$  tetramer is extensive and buries 14,160 Å2 of surface area as calculated by the PISA server (Krissinel and Henrick, 2007). Four subunits of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> adopt highly similar structures with root mean square deviation (r.m.s.d.) 0.1–0.2 Å between subunits. Residues 69–74 (chains A and B) and 69–75 (chains C and D) are disordered in the structure. These residues form a loop in the vicinity of the active site and could become ordered upon substrate binding. A similar disorder was observed in the homologous region of *E. coli* GmhA (Taylor *et al.*, 2008).

Each monomer of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> is composed of a central five-stranded parallel  $\alpha$ sheet flanked by four  $\alpha$ -helices from each side (Fig. 2.6 B). Four zinc ions are present in the GmhA<sub>GC</sub> tetramer. The zinc ions are coordinated by the side chains of residues H61, E65 and H183 of one monomer, and the side chain of Q175 of the neighboring monomer (Fig. 2.6 C). Therefore, the zinc-binding sites of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> are identical to the zinc-binding sites of *B. pseudomallei* GmhA (Harmer, 2010).

Overall, the structure of  $GmhA_{GC}$  is similar to the previously determined structures of GmhA from other bacteria, as well as *E. coli* DiaA (Table 2.3). The monomer structure of  $GmhA_{GC}$  could be superimposed to the homologous structures with r.m.s.d. of 0.5–1.4 Å. The tetramer structure of  $GmhA_{GC}$  forms a 'closed'

conformation, similar to the GmhA structures of *P. aeruginosa*, *V. cholerae*, *B. pseudomallei* and *C. psychrerythraea* (Harmer, 2010; Do *et al.*, 2015; Seetharaman *et al.*, 2006; Taylor *et al.*, 2008).

### Discussion

GmhA is a conserved sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase involved in the first biosynthesis step of the L,D-heptose component of the LPS/LOS. Deprivation of heptoses results in pleiotropic phenotypes including synthesis of LPS/LOS molecules composed only of lipid A and KDO residues, increased susceptibility to antimicrobial agents, defects in plasmid F conjugations and P1 bacteriophage transduction, and decreased virulence and biofilm formation (Tamaki et al., 1971; Havekes et al., 1976; Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Malott et al., 2013; Bauer et al., 1998; Earl et al., 2015). In N. gonorrhoeae, heptoses are also crucial for LOS function in the evasion of the host immune system and induction of HIV expression (Malott et al., 2013; Preston et al., 1996). Variability of LOS molecules on the gonococcal surface is driven by phase variable enzymes responsible for decorating the sugar moiety of the outer core oligosaccharide (Danaher et al., 1995; Apicella et al., 1987). N. gonorrhoeae scavenges sialic acid from the human body and modifies the lacto-N-neotetraose attached to the HepI of the LOS core oligosaccharide, which provides protection from killing by classical and alternative complement pathways (Elkins et al., 1992; Ram et al., 1998). Thus, inhibition of GmhA could aid in treatment of infections caused by different pathogenic bacteria including N. gonorrhoeae.

Accordingly, in this work we presented initial characterization of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> at the functional and structural levels. Our experiments demonstrated that gonococci and meningococci depleted in GmhA produced overall significantly less LOS molecules that migrated faster in comparison to the LOS-derived from wt bacteria (Figs. 2.1 B and 2.5 A). In contrast to other orthologues, however, diminution of the GmhA cellular pool had severe consequences on neisserial growth (Figs. 2.1 A, D-E and 2.5 B). This protein is likely not essential for bacterial viability, as GmhA-depleted neisserial cells still arose on solid media under nonpermissive conditions (Fig. 2.1 A, D-E). Corroborating this observation,  $gmhA_{GC}$  was not found among 827 gonococcal core essential genes identified using a high density Tn5 transposon library (Remmele *et al.*, 2014). In addition, expression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> variants carrying substitutions in the catalytic residues coordinating zinc ions, E65 and H183 (Fig. 2.6 C), led to synthesis of truncated LOS while retaining ample *N. gonorrhoeae* viability (Fig. 2.4). These findings suggested that  $GmhA_{GC}$  may be involved in additional physiological function(s) in *Neisseria*. Not surprisingly, a complete functional transcomplementation was achieved between  $GmhA_{GC}$  and  $GmhA_{NM}$  (Fig. 2.5 A-B), whereas multiple attempts to generate a viable strain of *N. gonorrhoeae* expressing only  $GmhA_{EC}$  were unsuccessful (data not shown). Based on these findings, we concluded that GmhA plays a critical role in LOS synthesis and is a fundamental growth factor for both *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis*.

Profiling of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> expression showed that amounts of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> increased during exponential growth of wild type N. gonorrhoeae (Fig. 2.2 C). Likewise, the isogenic conditional  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>GC</sub> mutant cultured in the presence of IPTG had elevated levels of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> during the logarithmic phase (Fig. 2.1 C-E), suggesting that expression of  $GmhA_{GC}$  is regulated at the post-transcriptional level. Higher amounts of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> were also noted upon exposure of N. gonorrhoeae to environmental cues relevant to infection; iron deprivation and anaerobiosis (Fig. 2.2 D). Transcriptomic studies, however, did not identify  $GmhA_{GC}$  as an iron-regulated gene (Ducey et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2010). The observed upregulation of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> under anaerobic conditions was in agreement with deep sequencing analysis of the N. gonorrhoeae anaerobic stimulon, where  $gmhA_{GC}$  was found to be 4.2- and 6.1-fold upregulated in two biological experiments (Isabella and Clark, 2011). Higher levels of enzymes acting downstream from GmhA including HldA (NGO0402) and GmhB (NGO2070) were identified in anaerobically versus aerobically cultured gonococci in our recent high-throughput proteomic studies (Zielke et al., 2016), suggesting that the L,D-heptose biosynthesis pathway is upregulated during anoxia. Accordingly, increased amounts of LOS were detected in anaerobically grown gonococci (Fig. 2.2 D), while vast overexpression of  $GhmA_{GC}$  alone had no effect on LOS levels (Fig. 2.2 E). GmhA<sub>GC</sub> expression was also studied in a diverse collection of gonococcal isolates, including the 2016 WHO reference strains (Unemo et al., 2016) containing multidrug resistant N. gonorrhoeae (Fig. 3). Potential involvement of GmhA in antibiotic resistance via increased synthesis of LPS was suggested recently in Salmonella typhimurium DT104B multiresistant strain with additional fluoroquinolone resistance (Correia *et al.*, 2016). Notwithstanding this suggestion, the amounts of  $GmhA_{GC}$  varied widely between the WHO strains K, L, V, W, X, Y, and Z, which display overall high levels of ciprofloxacin resistance (MIC>32 mg/L) and decreased susceptibility to gemifloxacin and moxifloxacin (Unemo *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, strain L, which has high MICs for all quinolones (MICs in mg/L for ciprofloxacin, gemifloxacin, and moxifloxacin of >32, 8, and 16, respectively), showed significantly lower GmhA<sub>GC</sub> levels in comparison to WHO isolates F, O, P, and U, which are all ciprofloxacin sensitive (MIC of 0.004 mg/L) and are significantly more sensitive to gemifloxacin and moxifloxacin (MICs ranging from 0.004 to 0.016 mg/L).

Finally, to better understand the pivotal function of  $GmhA_{GC}$ , we have determined the three-dimensional structure of the untagged enzyme (Fig. 2.6). Comparison of our GmhA<sub>GC</sub> crystal structure with the structures of homologues from other bacteria did not reveal significant differences in the general organization of the structure or within the catalytic site of the enzyme. Zinc ions were not added to any of the protein purification steps or crystallization buffers, yet similarly to Burkholderia pseudomallei GmhA (Harmer, 2010), GmhA<sub>GC</sub> held zinc ions in the active site (Fig. 2.6 C), providing further support that GmhA is a metalloenzyme. Zinc is likely retained from the cell of the heterologous host during protein overproduction and natively bound to the active site of the enzyme. It likely drives the "closed" conformation of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, which was also observed in structures of B. pseudomallei, P. aeruginosa and V. cholerae GmhA (Table 2.3), thus providing further support that the "closed" conformation is most probable catalytically relevant. In addition, site-directed mutagenesis coupled with in vivo studies confirmed the pivotal function of GmhAGC E65 and H183 in the isomerization of the sedoheptulose-7-phosphate (Figs. 2.4 and 2.6).

In conclusion, understanding the function and structure of individual GmhA proteins will facilitate drug discovery approaches focused on targeting this protein with small molecule inhibitors. In particular, our work demonstrated the crucial function of GmhA in neisserial growth and LOS synthesis, positive regulation of expression by host-relevant environmental stimuli, and conservation among different isolates, as well as provided further support for the mode of action of GmhA. These findings underscore the significance of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> as a target for anti-gonorrhea therapeutics. Future work

involving determining the interacting partner(s) of  $GmhA_{GC}$  and analysis of global changes at the proteome and metabolome levels are required to elucidate the whole scope of physiological function(s) of  $GmhA_{GC}$  in *N. gonorrhoeae*.

# Acknowledgements

We thank staff members of Southeast Regional Collaborative Access Team (SER-CAT) at the Advanced Photon Source, Argonne National Laboratory, for assistance during data collection. This research used resources of the Advanced Photon Source, a U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Office of Science User Facility operated for the DOE Office of Science by Argonne National Laboratory under Contract No. DE-AC02-06CH11357. We thank Benjamin I. Baarda for critical reading of the manuscript. We acknowledge the Protein Core at the Center for Molecular Medicine, University of Kentucky that is supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under grant number P30GM110787. Funding for this work was provided to AES by grant R01-AI117235 from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, and was partially supported by an Institutional Development Award (IDeA) from the NIGMS/NIH under grant number P20GM103486 to KVK.







Figure 2.1. GmhA<sub>GC</sub> is pivotal for *N. gonorrhoeae* growth and LOS synthesis. (A) The Ν. FA1090 gmhA<sub>GC</sub> conditional gonorrhoeae knockout strain,  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ; gmhA<sub>GC</sub>, was streaked out from frozen glycerol stock on solid media supplemented with 20 µM IPTG. After 18 h incubation at 37 °C in the presence of 5% atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, the colonies were passaged onto plates either with (+) or without IPTG (-). (B) Whole cell lysates of FA1090 wt and isogenic  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA<sub>GC</sub> harvested from plates with (+) or without 20 µM IPTG (-) were either probed with polyclonal rabbit antisera or subjected to LOS extraction using proteinase K followed by silver staining. (C-E) The FA1090  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ : gmhA<sub>GC</sub> cells were collected from solid media supplemented with 20  $\mu$ M IPTG, suspended to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, washed twice, divided, and cultured either in the presence or absence of IPTG for 3 h. At time point designated as 0 h, corresponding cultures were back-diluted to the same density ( $OD_{600}$ ) of 0.1) into fresh media with or without IPTG and incubated for additional 6 h. Samples of bacterial cultures were collected every hour for GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and Ng-MIP immunoblotting analysis, LOS, and whole cell protein profiles (C), monitoring of bacterial proliferation by measurement of density of the cultures at  $OD_{600}$  (D) and spotting serially diluted bacteria on solid media with IPTG for CFU scoring (E). Whole cell lysates were matched by the same OD<sub>600</sub> units. As loading control, samples separated by SDS-PAGE samples were either probed with anti-Ng-MIP antibodies or stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250. The migration of molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left. All experiments were performed in three biological replicates. Means and SEM are presented on graphs; \*p<0.05.



Figure 2.2. Assessment of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> subcellular localization and expression patterns. (A) *N. gonorrhoeae* wt FA1090 cells were harvested during mid-exponential phase and subjected to proteome extraction to separate cytoplasmic/periplasmic proteins [C], cell envelopes [CE], naturally released membrane vesicles [MVs], and soluble proteins in culture supernatants [SS]. Individual fractions were loaded based on the total amount of protein ( $\mu$ g) and probed with antisera as indicated on the left. (B-C) Wt *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 was cultured in liquid media and at indicated time points OD<sub>600</sub> measurements were taken (B) and samples were withdrawn and processed for immunoblotting analysis of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and Ng-MIP (C). D. Quantities of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and LOS in wt FA1090 during *in vitro* conditions relevant to different infection sites [standard growth under aerobic conditions (SGC), iron deprivation (-Iron), presence of

normal human serum (+NHS), and anaerobiosis (-O<sub>2</sub>)], were assessed by probing the whole cell lysates with anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antibodies and silver staining of proteinase K-extracted LOS, respectively. Immunoblotting experiments with antisera against Ng-MIP, TbpB and AniA were used as markers for ubiquitous expression, iron-limiting and anaerobic conditions, respectively. (E) Effect of overexpression of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> on LOS amounts was examined by harvesting wt FA1090 and isogenic  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$  grown on solid media with different IPTG concentrations (0, 20, or 1000 µM). Whole cell lysates were either probed with anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antisera or treated with proteinase K and LOS was visualized by silver staining. Experiments were performed in biological triplicates and representative immunoblots and silver stained gels are shown. Mean values and corresponding SEM are presented on the graph. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left.



Figure 2.3. GmhA<sub>GC</sub> expression in a panel of *N. gonorrhoeae* isolates. Whole cell lysates of *E. coli*, wt FA1090,  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$  grown either with (+) or without (-) IPTG, and 36 additional strains of *N. gonorrhoeae* were resolved on a 10-20% Tris-Glycine gel and probed with anti-GmhAGC antibodies. Immunoblotting with anti-Zwf antisera was used as a loading control. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left.



Figure 2.4. Hindering GmhA<sub>GC</sub> isomerase activity does not influence N. gonorrhoeae growth. (A) Wt FA1090 and isogenic conditional mutants carrying either native  $gmhA_{GC}$  ( $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$ ) or mutated variants of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>  $(\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}::gmhA_{GC}E65A \text{ or } \Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}::gmhA_{GC}H183A)$  were collected from solid media with (+) and without (-) IPTG. Expression of individual GmhAGC variants and LOS patterns were examined in whole cell extracts by immunoblotting and silver staining, respectively. Samples were matched by equivalent OD<sub>600</sub> units. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left. (B) Wt FA1090 and conditional  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac::gmhA_{GC}}$ ,  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::gmhA\_{GC}E65A, mutants and  $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: gmhA<sub>GC</sub>H183A were collected from solid media supplemented with 20  $\mu$ M IPTG, suspended in liquid media to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, cultured for 3 h, back-diluted to equal  $OD_{600}$  of 0.2, serially diluted, and spotted on solid media in the presence (+) and absence (-) of IPTG. CFUs were scored. The data show averages of CFUs with corresponding SEM of at least three separate experiments; \*p<0.05.



Figure 2.5. Homologues of GmhA from *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* function interchangeably. (A) *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 wt and isogenic conditional *gmhA* mutants bearing either endogenous ( $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA\_GC*) or *N. meningitidis*derived *gmhA<sub>NM</sub>* ( $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA<sub>NM</sub>*), as well as *N. meningitidis* MC58 wt and conditional *gmhA* mutants carrying *gmhA* alleles ( $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA<sub>NM</sub>*) or  $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ ::*gmhA<sub>GC</sub>*) were harvested from GCB after 22 h of incubation either with (+) or without (-) IPTG. Whole cell lysates were probed with anti-GmhA<sub>GC</sub> antibodies or treated with proteinase K and LOS was visualized by silver staining. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left. (B) Wt and mutant strains of *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis*, as described above, were collected from GCB supplemented with 20 µM IPTG and 15 µM IPTG, respectively. Bacteria were suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, cultured for 3 h, back-diluted to equal OD600 of 0.2, serially diluted and plated on GCB with (+) and without (-) IPTG. CFUs were counted following 22 h of incubation. Experiments were performed in three independent replicates. Mean values and SEM are presented; \*p<0.05.



Figure 2.6. The structure of *N. gonorrhoeae* GmhA<sub>GC</sub>. (A) The ribbon representation of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> tetramer with monomers colored in green, yellow, cyan and magenta. Zn<sup>2+</sup> ions are shown as grey spheres. (B) The structure of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> monomer is colored in rainbow colors from blue (N-terminus) to red (C-terminus). The  $\alpha$ -helices are labeled according to (Seetharaman *et al.*, 2006). (C) A close-up view of the Zn<sup>2+-</sup>binding site of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>. The coordinating side-chains are shown in stick representation. The  $\sigma_{A^-}$ weighted 2*F*<sub>0</sub>–*F*<sub>C</sub> electron density map countered at 1.0  $\sigma$  is displayed as blue mesh.

Bacterial strain	Reference			
N. gonorrhoeae				
FA1090	(Connell et al., 1988)			
MS11	(Meyer et al., 1982)			
1291	(Apicella et al., 1978)			
F62	(Sparling, 1966)			
FA1090 $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$	This study			
FA1090 $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$ E65A	This study			
FA1090 $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$ H183A	This study			
FA1090 $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{NM}$	This study			
Baltimore collection 1991-1994:	(Garvin et al., 2008, Zielke et al.,			
LGB1, LG14, LG2, LGB26, LG20	2014)			
Clinical isolates from Public Health–Seattle &				
King County Sexually Transmitted Disease				
	(Zielke et al., 2016)			
UW01, UW02, UW03, UW04, UW05, UW06, UW07, UW08, UW07, UW08, UW07, UW08, UW00, UW10, UW10				
UW00, UW07, UW08, UW09, UW10,				
2016 WHO reference strains:				
F. G. K. L. M. N. O. P. W. X. Y. Z. U. V	(Unemo et al., 2016)			
<i>N. meningitidis</i>				
MC58	(McGuinness et al., 1991)			
MC58 $\Delta gmhA_{NM}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{NM}$	This study			
MC58 $\Delta gmhA_{GC}/P_{lac}$ :: $gmhA_{GC}$	This study			
E. coli				
MC1061	(Casadaban & Cohen, 1980)			
BL21(DE3)	(Studier & Moffatt, 1986)			

Table 2.1. Bacterial strains used in this study.

	N. gonorrhoeae GmhA <sub>GC</sub> (PDB 5I01)
Data collection	
Wavelength (Å)	1.0000
Space group	$P2_{1}2_{1}2$
Cell dimensions:	
<i>a</i> , <i>b</i> , <i>c</i> (Å)	114.36, 130.15, 47.15
$\alpha, \beta, \gamma \Box$ (°)	90, 90, 90
Resolution (Å)	85.91–2.37 (2.43–2.37) <sup>a</sup>
R <sub>sym</sub>	0.134 (1.032)
$CC_{1/2}^{b}$	99.6 (62.4)
Ι/σΙ	9.3 (1.7)
Completeness (%)	95.8 (97.8)
Multiplicity	3.7 (3.6)
Refinement	
Resolution (Å)	85.91–2.37
No. reflections (total / free)	28191 / 1405
$R_{\rm work}$ / $R_{\rm free}$	0.207 / 0.267
Number of atoms:	
Protein	5411
Ligand/ion	4
Water	101
B-factors:	
Protein	37.6
Ligand/ion	54.9
Water	32.7
All atoms	37.2
Wilson <i>B</i>	41.2
R.m.s. deviations:	
Bond lengths (Å)	0.009
Bond angles (°)	1.224
Ramachandran distribution <sup>c</sup> (%):	
Favored	97.8
Outliers	0

Table 2.2. Data collection and refinement statistics.

<sup>a</sup>Values in parentheses are for the highest-resolution shell.

 ${}^{b}CC_{1/2}$  correlation coefficient as defined in (Karplus & Diederichs, 2012) and calculated by *XSCALE* (Kabsch, 2010b).

<sup>c</sup>Calculated using the MolProbity server (http://molprobity.biochem.duke.edu) (Chen *et al.*, 2010).

Protein	Organism	r.m.s.d. <sup>a</sup>	Sequence identity <sup>a</sup> (%)	Ligands	PDB ID	Reference
GmhA	P. aeruginosa	0.5	57	D-glycero-α-D- manno- heptopyranose- 7-phosphate	1X92	(Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
DiaA	E. coli	0.7	52	Apo	2YVA	(Keyamura <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
DiaA	E. coli	0.7	52	Аро	4U6N	unpublished
GmhA	F. tularensis	0.7	45	Apo	3TRJ	(Chaudhury <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
GmhA	C.psychrerythraea	0.7	48	Аро	5BY2	(Do <i>et al.</i> , 2015)
GmhA	C. jejuni	0.7	54	Аро	1TK9	(Seetharaman et al., 2006)
GmhA	P. aeruginosa	0.8	56	Аро	3BJZ	(Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
GmhA	B. pseudomallei	0.8	43	$Zn^{2+}$	2X3Y	(Harmer, 2010)
GmhA	B. pseudomallei	0.9	43	Zn <sup>2+</sup> , D-glycero- α-D-manno- heptopyranose- 7-phosphate	2XBL	(Harmer, 2010)
GmhA	E. coli	1.4	45	Apo	2I2W	(Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
GmhA	E. coli	1.1	45	D- seduheptulose- 7-phosphate	2I22	
GmhA	V. cholerae	1.1	43	Аро	1X94	(Seetharaman et al., 2006)

Table 2.3. Structural homologs of *N. gonorrhoeae* GmhA<sub>GC</sub>.

<sup>a</sup>As reported by the Dali server (Holm and Rosenstrom, 2010) for superposition of monomers. A mean value is listed for the structures containing more than one protein subunit in the asymmetric unit.



Supplementary Figure S2.1. Purification of rGmhA<sub>GC</sub>. (A) rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> eluted mainly as tetramers during size exclusion chromatography. Purified rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> was separated by NGC Scout Chromatography system (Bio-Rad) with HiLoad 16/600 Superdex 75 pg column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences). Elution chromatogram of rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> is indicated by blue line. Predicted mass of a monomeric rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> is 21.1 kDa. Gel Filtration Standard (BioRad) is shown on the chromatogram as the red line. (B) Increasing amounts of rGmhA<sub>GC</sub> after removal of His-tag by TEV protease were resolved by SDS-PAGE and visualized by Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 staining. The migration of molecular mass markers (kDa) is indicated on the left.



Supplementary Figure S2.2. Loading controls for immunoblotting experiments. Samples of whole-cell lysates were prepared for SDS-PAGE as described in the text, separated in 10-20% Tris-Glycine gel and the protein profiles were visualized using Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250. Loaded  $OD_{600}$  units matched the corresponding samples used in immunoblotting analyses of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and Zwf. The migration of molecular mass markers (kDa) is indicated on the left.


**Supplementary Figure S2.3. Analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms in** *gmhA*. Analysis of *gmhA* (locus NGO1986, NMB2090, NMC2070) in 39,182 *Neisseria spp* genomes deposited into PubMLST database (http://pubmlst.org/neisseria/ as of July, 20, 2016) showed that there are 340 *gmhA* alleles and 323 single nucleotide polymorphic sites.

Plasmid Name	Reference					
pRSF-NT	(Korotkov et al., 2013)					
pGCC4	(Skaar <i>et al.</i> , 2002)					
pUC18	(Yanisch-Perron et al., 1985)					
pUC18K	(Menard et al., 1993)					
pRSF-NT-GmhA <sub>GC</sub>	This study					
pRSF-NT-Zwf	This study					
pGCC4-GmhA <sub>GC</sub>	This study					
pUC18K-GmhA <sub>GC</sub>	This study					
pUC18-GmhA <sub>GC</sub>	This study					
pUC18-GmhA <sub>GC</sub> E65A	This study					
pUC18-GmhA <sub>GC</sub> H183A	This study					
pGCC4-GmhA <sub>GC</sub> E65A	This study					
pGCC4-GmhA <sub>GC</sub> H183A	This study					
pGCC4-GmhA <sub>NM</sub>	This study					
pUC18K-GmhA <sub>NM</sub>	This study					
pGCC4-GmhA <sub>EC</sub>	This study					
Oligonucleotide	Sequence <sup>1</sup>					
Primers used for creating	recombinant protein with N-terminal 6×His-tag:					
rNGO1986-F	GGATTTAC <u>CCATGG</u> CGACATTACAAGAACGCG					
rNGO1986-R	ACTCGGTCAAGCTTCATTCCTTCCAGCAGTACG					
rZwf-F	GACT <u>CCATGG</u> GTACACAGACAAATTTTGATTTG G					
rZwf-R	GATC <u>AAGCTT</u> GCATTACTGTTCTTCGTGC					
Primers used for gene del	etion and complementation:					
NGO1986-Up-F	GACTGATA <u>GAATTC</u> GCGCAGGGTAATGTCTG					
NGO1986-Up-R	ATCGAT <u>GGTACC</u> GCAACGCGTTCTTGTAATG					
NGO1986-Down-F	GGATTTAC <u>GGATC</u> CACTGTATCGACTCCGTACT GC					
NGO1986-Down-R	ACTCGGTC <u>AAGCTT</u> TGATGCCCAGCAGCGTG					
NGO1986-RBS-F	GAATATTACAGGTTGACGATATG					
NGO1986-RBS-R	AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> TTACATTCCTTCCAGCAG					
pGCC4-Ver-F	AAATCGCCCTTGATACCG					
pGCC4-Ver-R	ACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTC					

NGO1986-Ver-R TGAAGGCGGTTCAGACGGC

Supplemental Table S2.1. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study.

NMB2090-Up-F	GACTGATA <u>GAATTCC</u> AATACCGCCAAAGCG						
NMB2090-Down-R	ACTCGGTCAAGCTTTGATGCCCAACAGCGTG						
ECBD3400-RBS-F	TTATGCTGAAGGATATCCTC						
ECBD3400-RBS-R	AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> TTACTTAACCATCTCTTTT CAATC						
Primers used for the mutagenesis of the GmhA <sub>GC</sub> conserved residues E65 and							
H183:							
E65A-F	CTTCGCCGCCGCAATGACCGGGC						
E65A-R	TGTTGCGCGTCGGCAGCC						
H183A-F	CCTGCTGATAGCCGCCATGTGCG						
H138A-R	ATGTGGTTTTCCTGAATGC						

<sup>1</sup>Sequences recognized by restriction enzymes are underlined.

# Chapter 3

NGO1985 is a surface-exposed lipoprotein interacting with BAM complex and a gonorrhea vaccine candidate

Igor H. Wierzbicki, Ryszard A. Zielke, Afrin A. Begum, Ann E. Jerse, Magnus Unemo, and Aleksandra E. Sikora

Manuscript in preparation for submission to Nature Microbiology

## Abstract

The sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea, caused by an obligate human pathogen, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, remains a significant burden on reproductive and neonatal health worldwide. Treatment of gonococcal infections has been continuously challenged by the rapid development of antimicrobial resistance. The development of a protective vaccine would be an ideal solution for containing gonorrhea and identification of new vaccine candidates is an important endeavor in this process great demand. Here we showed that NGO1985 is a surface exposed lipoprotein that is highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed among diverse N. gonorrhoeae strains. Deletion of ngo1985 in recent gonococcal clinical isolates caused increase susceptibility to antibiotics currently and previously used in clinics. The  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant displayed decrease viability during conditions mimicking the host environment and was highly attenuated in the murine model of infection. Lack of NGO1985 results in compromised cell envelope integrity as well as altered protein profiles of cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles. Interactome studies comprising of pull-down experiments coupled to mass spectrometry suggested that NGO1985 plays a role in the cell envelope homeostasis via its association with the  $\beta$ -Barrel Assembly Machinery (BAM) complex, antibiotic efflux pump(s) including Mtr, and several lipoproteins. We conclude that NGO1985 is crucial for proper cell envelope biogenesis and has great potential as a vaccine antigen.

## Introduction

Cell envelopes are a crucial component of pathogenic bacterial species, functioning as an important interaction site with the host. Some components of the outer membrane are essential for bacterial viability, participation in nutrient acquisition, antibiotic resistance, and evasion of host defense mechanisms. Therefore, maintaining cell envelope homeostasis is indispensable for pathogen survival. Folding and assembly of  $\beta$ -barrel outer membrane proteins (OMPs) into to the outer membrane depends on the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex. The BAM complex has primarily been studied in *Escherichia coli* and *Neisseria meningitidis* and it is reported to be composed of five proteins: BamA-E (reviewed by Noinaj *et al.*, 2015); however, BamB component was found to be absent in *Neisseria* species (Volokhina *et al.*, 2009). Defects in individual BAM components result in different levels of impaired OMP assembly, leading to defects in cell envelope integrity and functionality.

Gonorrhea, a sexually transmitted disease caused by the by the Gram-negative bacterium *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC) remains a global heath burden. Untreated gonococcal infections can lead to devastating health consequences including epididymitis in men and endometritis, salpingitis, ectopic pregnancy, or sterility in women (Edwards and Apicella, 2004). Neonates delivered from infected mothers are at high risk of conjunctivitis, which may result in blindness. Moreover, GC infections are associated with increased risk of acquisition and transmission of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 (Bignell *et al.*, 2013; Cohen *et al.*, 1997; Tapsall *et al.*, 2009; World Health Organization, 2012). Treatment of gonorrhea has been challenged by the rapid development of antibiotic resistance. The possibility of untreatable GC underscores the necessity of identification and validation of new molecular targets for development of new antibiotics and a protective gonorrhea vaccine(s).

To identify potential new vaccine candidates, a proteomic-driven antigen discovery approaches have recently been used (Zielke *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Among the proteins identified as ubiquitously expressed in four common laboratory strains – FA1090, MS11, F62, and 1291 – was NGO1985, a predicted outer membrane lipoprotein (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, this protein was similarly expressed by

FA1090 during *in vitro* conditions mimicking conditions encountered during infection of the human host (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Initial characterization of NGO1985 confirmed its localization to the cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles (MVs). In addition, the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain was more susceptible than wild type (wt) GC FA1090 towards a variety of compounds, including host- and non-host derived detergents (bile salts, SDS) and antibiotics (polymyxin B, chloramphenicol). Based on these studies, NGO1985 was hypothesized to be involved in maintaining cell envelope integrity. The homologue of NGO1985 from *N. meningitidis* (NM), GNA2091, has been included as a fusion protein with factor H binding protein in the successful multicomponent meningococcal group B vaccine, the Bexsero vaccine (Serruto *et al.*, 2012). The function of GNA2091 was associated with maintaining the cell envelope homeostasis, as a  $\Delta gna2091$  mutant accumulated misassembled OMPs, was more susceptible to detergents, and exhibited reduced survival in whole human blood and serum (Bos *et al.*, 2014; Seib *et al.*, 2010).

Herein, we evaluated the potential of NGO1985 as a gonorrhea vaccine candidate and investigated its role in GC cell envelope homeostasis. We have found that NGO1985 is a surface exposed lipoprotein important for cell envelope permeability and virulence of GC. The NGO1985 interactome determined by Tandem Affinity Purification coupled with mass spectrometry revealed interactions between this protein and the BAM complex, in addition to efflux pumps and several other lipoproteins.

## Materials and methods

**Bacterial strains and growth conditions.** Bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Supplemental Table S3.1. *Neisseria* species and *E. coli* were propagated using media and methods as described (Zielke *et al.*, 2016).

Antibiotics were used at the following concentrations for GC: kanamycin 40  $\mu$ g/mL, erythromycin 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL, streptomycin 100  $\mu$ g/mL, chloramphenicol 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL, polymyxin B sulfate and ceftriaxone (as specified in the text); for NM: kanamycin 80  $\mu$ g/mL, erythromycin 2  $\mu$ g/mL, and ceftriaxone 0.0013  $\mu$ g/mL; for *E. coli*: kanamycin 50  $\mu$ g/mL, erythromycin 250  $\mu$ g/mL, and tetracycline 20  $\mu$ g/mL.

**Genetic manipulations and site-directed mutagenesis.** The genome sequences of GC FA1090 (NC\_002946), NM MC58 (NC\_003112), and *E. coli* BL21(DE3) (NC\_012892) were used to design oligonucleotides with SnapGene software version 2.8 (GSL Biotech LLC). Genomic DNA from different GC isolates as indicated in the text, NM MC58, and *E. coli* BL21(DE3) were purified with the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega). Plasmid DNA and PCR products were purified with QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN). Individual PCRs were performed with the appropriate primers synthesized by IDT, chromosomal or plasmid DNA as a template, and Q5® High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (NEB). Genetic manipulations were performed using *E. coli* MC1061 strain. All constructs were verified by DNA sequencing at the Center for Genome Research and Biocomputing at Oregon State University (CGRB OSU). Transformation procedures for GC and NM were conducted as described previously (Alexander *et al.*, 2004; Zielke *et al.*, 2014).

A recombinant version of NGO1985 (rNGO1985) with C-terminal-6×His-tag was constructed by amplifying a fragment of NGO1985 (531 bp) lacking the *N*-terminal 34 amino acids with primer pair rNGO1985-F/rNGO1985-R and cloning into NdeI and XhoI cleaved pET28a. Analogously, the *C*-terminally-6×His-tagged BamE excluding the initial 19 amino acids (rBamE) was generation by amplifying a fragment of BamE (NGO1780) (342 bp) with primer pair rBamE-F and rBamE-R, and subsequent introduction into NcoI/HindIII digested pET28a.

To perform mutagenesis of the conserved cysteine (+1) in the predicted lipobox of NGO1985, the NGO1985 gene with its native ribosomal binding site (RBS) was

amplified with primers NGO1985-RBS-F and NGO1985-RBS-R. The 643 bp PCR product was sub-cloned into pUC18 digested with SmaI, resulting in pUC18-NGO1985. This plasmid served as a template in the site directed mutagenesis reactions as described in the instructions provided by the manufacturer using the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent Technologies) and appropriate primers listed in Supplemental Table S3.2. Subsequently, the individual mutated variants of NGO1985 were amplified with primers NGO1985-RBS-F and NGO1985-RBS-R, digested with FseI, and cloned into ScaI/FseI treated pGGC4, yielding pGCC4-NGO1985 C23A and pGCC4-NGO1985 C23S. The obtained constructs were individually introduced into the chromosome of FA1090∆ngo1985 (Zielke *et al.*, 2014).

For tandem affinity purification (TAP) experiments, strain FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-TAP expressing functional C-terminally TAP-tagged NGO1985 was created. First the genomic region encoding NGO1985 with native RBS and lacking the STOP codon was amplified with primers NGO1985-TAP-F and NGO1985-TAP-R. The 654 bp PCR product was digested with SacI/KpnI and cloned into similarly prepared pUC18, yielding pUC18-NGO1985(STOP). Vector pBS1479 (Puig et al., 2001) was used as a template for amplification of the TAP-cassette with primers NGO1985-TAP-F2 and NGO1985-TAP-R2. The 572 bp DNA fragment was subsequently digested with KpnI/BamHI and cloned into pUC18-NGO1985. The obtained pUC18-NGO1985-TAP was used to amplify the NGO1985-TAP with oligonucleotides NGO1985-RBS-F and NGO1985-TAP-R3. The resulting 1242 bp PCR product was digested with FseI and cloned into SacI/FseI treated pGCC4, yielding pGCC4-NGO1985-TAP. This plasmid was introduced to FA1090 $\Delta ngo1985$  (Zielke et al., 2014). To provide a control for the pull-down experiments, the DNA sequence encoding the TAP cassette was amplified with primers TAP-F and TAP-R, fused to the RBS of ngo1985 and placed under the control of the  $P_{lac}$  promoter. The 586 bp PCR product was treated with FseI and cloned into pGCC4. pGCC4-TAP was subsequently introduced into wt FA1090, yielding FA1090 Plac:: TAP. For verification of pull-down experiment results, additional strains were generated:  $\Delta bamE$ ,  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}$ ::bamE, and  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}$ ::bamE-TAP. In order to generate a deletion of bamE, the upstream region of the gene was amplified with primers BamE-Up-F and BamE-Up-R. The 757 bp

product was cleaved with SacI/KpnI enzymes and cloned to similarly treated pUC18K vector, yielding pUC18K-BamEUp. Subsequently, the downstream region from the gene encoding BamE was amplified with primer pair BamE-Down-F/BamE-Down-R and the obtained product (724 bp) was cloned into pUC18K-BamEUp with BamHI/HindIII enzymes. The final product, pUC18K-BamE, was used for an allelic exchange of *bamE* for the kanamycin resistance cassette, as described above. Deletion of bamE was confirmed by PCR with primers BamE-Ver-F and BamE-Ver-R using wt bacteria chromosomal DNA as controls and additionally by probing the whole cell lysates with antisera against BamE as described below. The strain complementing the deletion of BamE,  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}$ : bamE was generated by amplification of bamE, together with the RBS region, with primers BamE-RBS-F and BamE-RBS-R, and the 415 bp PCR product was digested with FseI and inserted into ScaI/FseI cleaved pGCC4 vector. pGCC4-BamE was introduced into the  $\Delta bamE$  mutant as described above, and positive clones selected on GCB containing erythromycin were validated by PCR with pGCC4-Ver-F and pGCC4-Rev-R primers. The *C*-terminally TAP-tagged BamE was generated analogously as described for NGO1985. BamE with native RBS and without STOP codon was amplified with primers BamE-TAP-F and BamE-TAP-R, and the obtained 421 bp product was cloned into pUC18 with EcoRI/KpnI enzymes, yielding pUC18-BamE(STOP). Subsequently, TAP-tag was amplified with as described above with primers NGO1985-TAP-F2/ NGO1985-TAP-R2, digested with KpnI/BamHI, and introduced into pUC18-NGO1985. BamE-TAP was then amplified with BamE-TAP-F2 and NGO1985-TAP-R3, using pUC18-BamE-TAP vector as template, and cloned into the pGCC4 vector. The final construct, pGCC4-BamE-TAP, was introduced into

the  $\Delta bamE$  background.

The clean deletion of ngo1985 in different GC clinical isolates (Zielke *et al.*, 2016) was constructed by homologous recombination using pUC18K-NGO1985 as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). The absence of *ngo1985* was confirmed by PCR with primers NGO1985-Ver-F and NGO1985-Ver-R using chromosomal DNA isolated from corresponding wt bacteria as controls and additionally by probing the whole cell lysates with antisera against NGO1985 as described below.

The clean deletion of the *ngo1985* homologue in NM serogroup B strain MC58 (*gna2091*; locus tag NMB2091) was generated in the following steps. The 583 bp fragment of chromosomal DNA upstream from GNA2091 was amplified with primers GNA2091-Up-F and GNA2091-Up-R, digested with SacI/KpnI, and cloned into similarly treated pUC18K, yielding pUC18K-GNA2091Up. The downstream region of GNA2091 (546 bp) was amplified with oligonucleotides GNA2091-Down-F and GNA2091-Down-R, cleaved with BamHI/HindIII, and cloned into pUC18K-GNA2091Up. The obtained pUC18K-GNA2091 was used to transform MC58. Deletion of *gna2091* was confirmed by PCR with primers GNA2091-Ver-F and GNA2091-Ver-R using genomic DNA of wt MC58 as a control.

For trans-complementation studies, *ngo1985* from GC FA19, *gna2091* from NM MC58, and *yraP* from *E. coli* BL21(DE3) were amplified with primer pairs: NGO1985-RBS-F/NGO1985-RBS-R, GNA2091-RBS-F/NGO1985-RBS-R, and YRAP-RBS-F/YRAP-RBS-R, respectively. The obtained PCR fragments, comprised of 643 bp, 644 bp, and 610 bp respectively, were digested with FseI and cloned into SacI/FseI cleaved pGCC4 (Skaar *et al.*, 2002) to yield pGGC4-NGO1985FA19, pGGC4-GNA2091, and pGCC4-YraP.

Assessment of conservation of NGO1985 at the nucleotide and amino acid levels was performed as described (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). To sequence the *ngo1985* in 13 GC isolates collected at the Public Health–Seattle & King County Sexually Transmitted Disease clinic in 2011-2013 (Zielke *et al.*, 2016) the chromosomal region encompassing ~700 bp upstream and downstream from the gene was amplified with primers NGO1985-Amp-F and NGO1985-Amp-R. The resulting individual 2 kb PCR products were sequenced from both DNA strands using NGO1985-Seq-F and NGO1985-Seq-R. Subsequently, the ClustalOmega available at the European Bioinformatics Institute (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/) was utilized to compare the sequences at both nucleotide and predicted amino acid levels between FA1090, NCCP11945 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/), the draft genome sequences of 14 different GC strains (downloaded from http://www.broadinstitute.org/), and WHO reference strains.

Purification of recombinant NGO1985 and generation of polyclonal antibodies. The rNGO1985 was purified using batch-gravity flow method. An

overnight culture of *E. coli* BL21(DE3) carrying pET28a-rNGO1985 was back diluted into 3.0 L of LB broth supplemented with kanamycin and incubated with aeration at 37 °C. The production of rNGO1985 was induced with 0.1 mM isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) during mid-logarithmic growth. Bacterial cells were collected by centrifugation 3 h after induction and suspended in lysis buffer comprised of 500 mM NaCl, 10 mM imidazole, 20mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, and complete EDTAfree Protease Inhibitor tablet (Roche). Bacteria were lysed by passaging six times through a French pressure cell at 12,000 psi. Unbroken cells and cell debris were removed by centrifugation at 16,000 × g for 30 min at 4 °C. The cell-free lysate was passed through a 0.22 µm filter unit (VWR International) and incubated with rotation at 4 °C for 1 h with 1 mL of Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen) equilibrated with lysis buffer. The sample/Ni-NTA slurry was applied onto a 5 mL polypropylene column (Thermo Scientific), washed with buffer containing 40 mM imidazole and rNGO1985 was eluted with 250 mM imidazole. The elution was dialyzed four times against 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0. For protein storage, the buffer was supplemented with glycerol (10% w/v).

*E. coli* BL21(DE3) cultures harboring pET28-rBamE were treated the same way to allow expression of rBamE. After cell lysis the lysates were applied onto a 5 mL IMAC column (Bio-Rad) conditioned with the lysis buffer and connected to a NGC Purification System (Bio-Rad). The column was washed with 10 column volumes of the lysis buffer containing 3% of elution buffer (20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 250 mM imidazole) at a flow rate of 5 mL/min. Finally, the protein was eluted with 5 column volumes of elution buffer. Fractions containing rBamE were pooled together and dialyzed against 20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 10% glycerol.

Polyclonal antisera against purified rNGO1985 and rBamE were prepared by Pacific Immunology Corp. using a 13-week antibody production protocol and two New Zealand White rabbits under Animal Protocol #1 approved by IACUC and the NIH Animal Welfare Assurance Program (#A4182-01) in a certified animal facility (USDA 93-R-283).

**Protein localization studies.** Colonies of different GC strains, as specified in the text, were collected from GCB, suspended to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1 in GCBL, and cultured in Fernbach flasks at 37 °C with shaking (220 rpm) until reached  $OD_{600}$  of 0.6-0.8.

Cells were separated from the supernatants by centrifugation  $(6,000 \times g)$ , lysed, and the cell envelopes fraction was extracted using sodium carbonate as described previously (Zielke and Sikora, 2014; Zielke et al., 2014). The supernatants were passed through the 0.22 µm filter units, a complete EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor tablet was added, and the naturally released membrane vesicles (MVs) were separated from the soluble protein fraction (SS) by ultracentrifugation at  $210,000 \times g$ , 3 h, 4 °C (Zielke and Sikora, 2014; Zielke et al., 2014). After ultracentrifugation, SS were concentrated using either trichloroacetic acid (TCA) or Pyrogallol Red (Sigma). In the first procedure, chilled 100 % TCA was added to the samples to 15% vol/vol. Following 1 h incubation at 4 °C, the samples were centrifuged at 14,000  $\times$  g, 20 min, 4 °C. Supernatant was decanted and the precipitated proteins were washed three times with ice-cold 100% acetone, air-dried, and finally suspended in phosphate buffered saline pH 7.5 (PBS, Li-Cor). For the second precipitation method, secreted proteins were mixed with the Pyrogallol Red in 1:1 ratio; the pH of the mixture was adjusted to 2.8, incubated 1 h at room temperature, and followed by overnight incubation at 4 °C. Following day, samples were centrifuged at  $10,000 \times g$ , 1 h, 4 °C. Supernatant was decanted, and pelleted proteins were washed with 100% acetone, and air-dried. The total protein concentration in obtained subproteome fractions [cytoplasm(C), cell envelopes(CE), MVs, and SS] was measured using DC Protein Assay (BioRad).

**Immunodots.** Assessment of gonococcal proteins surface localization by immunodots was performed as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Colonies of the GC wt FA1090, isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$ ,  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985,  $\Delta ngo1985$  carrying either  $P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-C23A or  $P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-C23S, and NM MC58, isogenic  $\Delta gna2091$ ,  $\Delta gna2091/P_{lac}$ ::gna2091 were suspended to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1 in a pre-warmed to 37 °C GCBL. Bacteria were grown with aeration for 3 h. Cells were collected, suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> = 2.0 and 5 µL of the suspensions were applied to 0.45 µm nitrocellulose membrane. The nitrocellulose was air-dried for 30 min at room temperature and the immunoblotting was performed as described below.

**Protease accessibility assays.** Modified protocols described by Shewell *et al.* 2013 and Pinne *et al.*, 2009 were used to examine surface accessibility of NGO1985. Colonies of wt FA1090 were suspended to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1 in GCBL and incubated with

aeration at 37 °C for 3 h. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation for 10 min, 2,000 × g, 4 °C, and suspended to OD<sub>600</sub> of 2.5 in PBS pH 8.0 - for trypsin treatment, or to OD<sub>600</sub> of 2.0 in the same buffer supplemented with 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> – for proteinase K treatment. Cell suspensions (500  $\mu$ L) were incubated with 0, 40, 80  $\mu$ g/mL of trypsin (NEB), or 0, 20, 40  $\mu$ g/mL of proteinase K (NEB) for 1 h at 37 °C. Afterwards, 10  $\mu$ L of 50 mM phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride (PMSF) was added, cells were washed with PBS, and collected by centrifugation.

**Immunogold labeling.** Parental wt strain of FA1090 and isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$  were inoculated to GCBL and incubated at 37 °C until mid-logarithmic phase. A 1 mL of each culture was gently pelleted and resuspended in 100 µL of filtered PBS. A drop of each culture was placed on a gold grid (Electron Microscopy Sciences), incubated for 30 min at room temperature, and an excess of the liquid was removed using blotting paper. Subsequently, cells were blocked for 1 h in 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS following incubation with anti-NGO1985 antisera (1:50) prepared in the same buffer. Grids were washed three times for 5 min with filtered PBS containing Tween 20 at the final concentration of 0.05% (PBST), followed by 1 h incubation with 12 nm Colloidal Gold AffiniPure Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) (EM Grade; Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) at 1:100 dilution. Samples were washed with PBST, dried, and stained with 2% ammonium molybdate. Microphotographs of stained cells were captured using FEI Titan 80-200 TEM/STEM electron microscope at the Oregon State University Electron Microscope Facility.

Fitness assessments of  $\Delta ngo1985$  cell during different *in vitro* growth conditions and cell envelopes purification. The colonies of wt FA1090, isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$  were collected from GCB, suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C with 220 rpm. Bacterial cultures were back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2 and either 100 or 5 µL aliquots (of undiluted and diluted bacteria) were spread or spotted, respectively, on solid media for concurrent growth under standard GCB, -Fe, +NHS, and  $-O_2$  growth conditions, as described above. Bacteria that arose on solid media inoculated with 100 µL aliquots were harvested for isolation of the cell envelope fractions (Zielke and Sikora, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2014). The CFUs were determined from spotted 5 µL aliquots after 18 and 48 h for aerobic and anaerobic conditions, respectively. Experiments were performed in three biological replicates and mean values with corresponding SEMs are presented.

Sensitivity to ceftriaxone. Different GC strains, as specified in the text, were suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1 and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C. Cultures were back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2 and 5  $\mu$ L of undiluted and serially diluted bacteria were plated on GCB agar with different concentrations of ceftriaxone, and, for strains  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985,  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-TAP, additionally with IPTG (0.04 mM or 1.0 mM, as specified). The CFUs were scored on following day and the relative viability was calculated by comparing CFUs/mL on GCB plates supplemented with ceftriaxone to the CFUs/mL on control plates. Experiments were performed three times on separate occasions and mean values with corresponding SEMs are presented.

Sensitivity to polymyxin B. FA1090 wt,  $\Delta bamE$ ,  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}::bamE$ , and  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}::bamE$ -TAP, were suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1 and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C. Cultures were back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.2 and 5 µL of undiluted and serially diluted bacteria were plated on GCB agar with or without polymyxin B 800 U/mL, and supplemented with IPTG (0.02 mM). The CFUs were scored on the following day and the relative viability was calculated by comparing CFUs/mL on GCB plates supplemented with polymyxin to CFUs/mL on control plates. Experiments were performed three times on separate occasions and mean values with corresponding SEMs are presented.

Antimicrobial susceptibility determined by E-tests. The Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) of cefpodoxime, cefotaxime, ceftriaxone, cefixime, cefuroxime, azithromycin, ciprofloxacin, polymyxin B, tetracycline, ampicillin, and benzylpenicilin was determined with the use of E-test reagent strips (Biomerieux) according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

Expression of NGO1985 during exposure to detergents and antibiotics. FA1090 cells were suspended in GCBL to  $OD_{600} = 0.1$  and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C with aeration. Bacterial culture was then back-diluted to  $OD_{600} = 0.2$  and 100 µL suspensions were plated on GCB supplemented with either SDS 0.01%, chloramphenicol 0.1 µg/mL, polymyxin B 400U/mL, or ceftriaxone 0.9 ng/mL. Cells were collected for immunoblotting analysis after 22 h. Expression of NGO1985 upon exposure to these compounds was also examined during growth of GC in liquid media. The culture was back diluted to  $OD_{600} = 0.1$  and maintained at 37 °C, with aeration, until reaching  $OD_{600} = 0.4$ . Bacteria were split into 1 mL aliquots and incubated for an additional 1 h at 37 °C, 220 rpm, in the presence of either SDS (0.0001%), chloramphenicol (0.1 µg/mL), polymyxin B (50 U), or ceftriaxone (0.9 ng/mL). The turbidity of the cultures was measured, bacterial cells were collected and subjected to SDS-PAGE as described below.

Experimental murine infection. Competitive infection studies were conducted as described previously (Jerse et al., 2002). Groups of 6 and 10 estradiol treated mice were inoculated intravaginally with a mixture containing either FA1090 wt and isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain or FA1090 wt and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac::}ngo1985$ . The initial inoculum, per mouse, for wt/ $\Delta ngo1985$  analysis was approximately 2.2×106 CFU/mL, while for wt/ $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 was 2.1×106 CFU/mL. To minimalize possible transmission of antibiotic resistance cassettes during growth in vivo, nonpiliated colonies were used for the experiment. Vaginal swabs were collected on days 1, 3, 5, and 7 post-inoculation, and equal amounts of undiluted and diluted bacterial suspensions were plated on GCB agar supplemented either with streptomycin alone, or streptomycin and kanamycin. The next day, CFUs were calculated, and the ratios of  $\Delta ngo1985$  or  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 to the wt FA1090 strains were determined for input inoculum and output of the cultures obtained from vaginal swabs. Competitive index (CI) was calculated as described by Beuzon and Holden, 2001, by dividing the ratio of the derivative strain and the wt FA1090 in the output, by the ratio of these two strains in the input.

Isolation of NGO1985-associated complexes by Tandem Affinity Purification. Pull-down experiments were performed as described (Puig *et al.*, 2001) with the following modifications. Equal amounts of cells derived from 1 L of midlogarithmic cultures of FA1090  $P_{lac}$ ::TAP,  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985, and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-TAP were resuspended in 5 mL of IPP150 buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8, 300 mM NaCl, 0.1% NP-40) and lysed by passing three times through a French press. Unbroken cells and cell debris were pelleted at 12,000 × g for 20 min. The obtained cell lysates were incubated with 400 µL of IgG resin (GE Healthcare) for 4 h at 4 °C. Subsequently, the beads were washed six times with 6 mL of IPP150 buffer followed by a wash with 6 mL of TEV Cleavage buffer (10 mM Tris pH8, 300 mM NaCl, 0.1% NP-40, 0.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT). Protein A tag was cleaved overnight in 1 mL of TEV Cleavage buffer using 50 U of acTEV protease (Invitrogen). The liberated complexes were mixed with 6 mL of Calmodulin binding buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8, 300 mM NaCl, 1 mM magnesium acetate, 1 mM imidazole, 2 mM CaCl2, 10 mM  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) and incubated with Calmodulin resin for 1 hour at 4 °C. The beads were washed 6 times with 6 mL of Calmodulin binding buffer and bound proteins were eluted from the Calmodulin resin by addition of 1 mL of Calmodulin elution buffer (10 mM TrispH8, 300 mM NaCl, 1 mM magnesium acetate, 1 mM imidazole, 20 mM EGTA, 10 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1% NP-40) followed by secondary elution with the same buffer. Protein fractions were combined and precipitated for 4 h at 4°C by addition of TCA to a final concentration of 15%. Protein pellets were washed twice with ice-cold acetone and reconstituted in SDS loading buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and either silver stained (Invitrogen, SilverQuest<sup>™</sup> Silver Staining Kit, according to manufacturer's recommendations) or subjected to Western blotting with selected sera, as indicated in the text.

Assessment of NGO1985 interactome. For mass spectrometry (MS) analysis, eluted proteins were precipitated overnight in 90% acetone at -20 °C, washed with icecold acetone and reconstituted in 100  $\mu$ L of 0.5 M triethylammonium bicarbonate and 0.1% SDS. To reduce disulfide bonds, 5  $\mu$ L of 50 mM Tris-(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine was added to each sample and the samples were incubated for 1 h at 60 °C. Cysteine residues were blocked by addition of 200 mM methyl methane thiosulfonate (MMTS). Digestion of proteins was performed with 5  $\mu$ g of trypsin (Promega) for 24 h at 37 °C. Obtained peptides were analyzed at Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center Proteomic Core.

Data analysis was performed using Proteome Discoverer 1.4 (Thermo Scientific). The data were searched against the GC FA1090 database (downloaded on December 12, 2012) that included common contaminants. Trypsin was set as the enzyme with maximum missed cleavages set to 2. The tolerance for precursor ion and the fragment ion were set to 10 ppm and 0.6 Da, respectively. The variable

modifications were set as follows: oxidation on methionine (+15.995 Da) and carbamidomethyl on cysteine (+57.021 Da). Data were searched using Sequest HT. Only proteins identified with 1% FDR based on at least two unique peptides with  $\geq$ 95% confidence were recorded.

The Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COG) functional categories were assigned to the identified proteins using WebMGA (Tatusov *et al.*, 1997; Wu *et al.*, 2011).

SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting. As described previously (Zielke et al., 2016)(Chapter 2). Samples containing gonococcal whole cell lysates were obtained, as specified in the text, from either colonies collected from GCB after 22 h of aerobic or 48 h of anaerobic growth, from bacteria cultured in GCBL, or recovered from infected mice. The whole cell lysates of E. coli ER2738 derived from overnight cultures of bacteria maintained in LB at 37 °C. Samples of purified rNGO1985 and isolated subproteome fractions were normalized as specified in the text by either the amount of protein ( $\mu g$ ) or the same OD<sub>600</sub> units, while whole cell lysates were loaded onto SDS-PAGE based on OD<sub>600</sub> values; cell lysates of bacteria recovered from infected mice were standardized either by equal bacterial counts (3,180 CFUs) or by sample volume (15 µL, approximate CFUs as indicated, day 1: 90,000; day 3: 23,175; day 5: 3,180). Samples were boiled in SDS sample buffer containing 50 mM DTT and were separated in 15% polyacrylamide gels or in 4-12% NuPAGE® Bis-Tris Precast Gels (Life Technologies). After electrophoresis proteins were stained in Coomassie Briliant Blue G-250 or transferred onto GE Amersham Protran nitrocellulose membrane (0.2 µm or  $0.45 \,\mu\text{m}$  for proteins with molecular weight below or above 20 kDa, respectively) using Trans-blot Turbo (Bio-Rad) system. Membranes were incubated in 5% milk in PBS with 0.1 % Tween 20, followed by incubation with primary antibodies, then in HRP conjugate goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) or HRP conjugate goat anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) Secondary Antibodies (1:10,000) (ThermoFisher Scientific). Immunoblots were developed using Clarity Western ECLSubstrate (BioRad) and visualized with Chemi-DocTM MP System (BioRad). Primary antibodies were used in following concentrations: anti-NGO1985 (1:30,000), anti-BamE (1:20,000), anti-BamA (1:20,000), anti-BamD (1:20,000), anti-LptD (1:5,000), anti-TamA (1:5,000), antiAniA (1:10,000), anti-Laz (1:20,000); anti-NGO2054 (1:10,000), anti-NGO2139 (1:30,000), anti-Obg (1:5,000), anti-Zwf (1:10,000), anti-GmhA (1:10,000), anti-SurA (1:10,000), anti-DsbA (1:10,000), anti-MtrE (1:5,000), anti-Ng-MIP (1:20,000).

Isolation and silver staining of lipooligosaccharide. As described in Chapter 2. Lipooligosaccharide was isolated from GC isolates based on the protocol described by Hitchcock and Brown, 1983. FA1090, isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant, and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 were reconstituted in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2 and 1.5 mL of the cell suspensions were pelleted down by 1.5 min centrifugation at 15,000 x g. Cells were suspended in 50 µL of lysis buffer composed of 2% SDS, 4% β-mercaptoethanol, 10% glycerol, 1M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 0.01% bromophenol blue and incubated for 10 min at 100 °C. After the samples were to cool down to room temperature, 25 µg of proteinase K in 10 µL of lysis buffer was added and incubated for 1 h at 60 °C. Isolated lipooligosaccharide was resolved on 16.5% Mini-PROTEAN® Tris-Tricine Gel (BioRad) and visualized by silver staining method described by Tsai and Frasch, 1982.

**Densitometry analysis.** Protein abundance was determined by densitometry as described previously (Park *et al.*, 2015; Zielke *et al.*, 2015). To quantify the protein abundance, western blots, developed as described above, were subjected to densitometry analysis using Image Lab 5.0 software (Bio-Rad). Intensities of unprocessed and processed NGO1985 were quantified by volume tool (rectangle), local background subtraction, and linear regression method. Experiments were performed three times on separate occasions and mean values with corresponding SEMs are presented.

**Statistical analysis.** GraphPad Prism's build-in t-test was used for determination of statistically significant differences between obtained experimental results. A confidence level of 95% was used for all analyses.

#### Results

**NGO1985 is a surface exposed lipoprotein conserved among GC isolates.** The domain architecture of NGO1985 includes a signal peptide containing the lipobox motif LALGGCF (predicted by LIPO algorithm http://services.cbu.uib.no/tools/lipo) with a conserved cysteine residue (C23), and two BON (Bacterial OsmY and Nodulation) domains, which are characteristic for *E. coli* protein OsmY involved in osmotic shock resistance, a group of nodulation proteins, haemolysins, as well as secretory channels (Yeats and Bateman, 2003) (Fig. 3.1 A).

Lack of NGO1985, similar to its homologue GNA2091 in NM (Seib *et al.*, 2010), did not result in increased sensitivity to osmotic stress (Fig. S3.1), indicating that it does not share functional similarity with OsmY. To study and understand the role of NGO1985, a recombinant, *C*-terminally His-tagged protein, excluding the initial 34 amino acids (rNGO1985; 21.81 kDa) was purified and used to raise polyclonal rabbit antibodies (Fig. 3.1 A and B). Anti-NGO1985 antisera cross-reacted with cell lysates of wt FA1090 and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 strains (size of mature protein excluding signal peptide predicted to be 19.42 kDa) as well as with rNGO1985, and no protein was detected in the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain (Fig. 3.1 C).

NGO1985 is a predicted outer membrane (OM) lipoprotein, and initial studies suggested that it associates with cell envelopes and MVs. We confirmed the localization of NGO1985 to the cell envelope and membrane vesicles by probing subproteome fractions of wt FA1090 with anti-NGO1985 antibodies (Fig. 3.1 D). OM lipoproteins are described in the literature to either localize to the inner membrane, periplasmic leaflet of the OM or to associate with the cell surface (reviewed by Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). Surface accessibility is an important consideration for a potential vaccine target; therefore, the orientation of NGO1985 within the OM was evaluated by multiple approaches. Immunogold labeling coupled with Transmission Electron Microscopy of wt FA1090 showed golden particles distributed throughout the surface of the diplococcus while in contrast, scarce particles were present of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain (Fig. 3.1 E). The ability of antibodies to recognize NGO1985 on the surface of the GC cells was further verified by immunodot experiments. Anti-NGO1985 antibodies cross-reacted with intact cells of wt FA1090 and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985. Similarly, antibodies against surface exposed protein BamA bound to these strains as well to the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant (Fig. 3.1 E) (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Neither BamD nor Obg antisera bound intact cells, as anticipated, because their protein targets are localized to the inner leaflet of the outer membrane and the cytoplasm, respectively (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Antisera against both proteins cross-reacted with lysed cells and recombinant proteins. Finally, surface exposure of NGO1985 was verified by assessing protein accessibility to trypsin or proteinase K. Western blotting analysis of treated intact cells indicated that NGO1985 was accessible for protease processing, similarly to BamA (Fig. 3.1 G). Unaltered levels of BamD and Obg, as well as overall unaffected protein profiles in the presence of either of the enzymes indicated that cells were not lysed during handling (Fig. 3.1 G and H).

The invariant cysteine within the lipobox motif of lipoproteins is involved in protein maturation and serves as the site for addition of a lipid membrane anchor (reviewed by Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). The importance of C23 for NGO1985 maturation was examined by site directed mutagenesis, replacing this residue with either alanine (C23A) or serine (C23S; Fig 3.1A). Alanine was chosen because of the lack of any charge or functional group on its side chain, while serine was selected because the side chain is similar in shape to cysteine. The two variants of NGO1985 were individually cloned under the control of an IPTG inducible promoter and introduced into FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985$ . Western blotting analysis revealed that changing cysteine to either alanine or serine led to the presence of two forms of NGO1985,  $\sim 21$ and 18 kDa, which likely corresponded to the unprocessed- and mature-lipoprotein, respectively (Fig. 3.1 I). Densitometry analysis showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the average abundance of either form of the protein (Fig. 3.1 J). To test whether alterations of the conserved cysteine affect the surface localization of NGO1985, immunodot experiments were performed. The anti-NGO1985 antibodies failed to react with intact cells of GC expressing either NGO1985 C23A or NGO1985 C23S (Fig. 3.1 K). In contrast, the protein was detected when lysed gonococci were probed with antibodies.

Together, these studies demonstrated that C23 within the predicted lipobox motif of NGO1985 is critical for protein maturation and localization to the outer surface of the GC cell envelope.

A suitable vaccine antigen should be expressed by a wide range of gonococcal isolates. Therefore, we examined the level of NGO1985 expression in a panel of temporally and geographically diverse GC isolates, including the 2016 WHO reference strains (Unemo *et al.*, 2016). Anti-NGO1985 antisera cross reacted with cell lysates derived from all 36 strains examined, and similar levels of NGO1985 were detected in all strains (Fig. 3.1 L). No signal was detected for the *E. coli* cell lysate.

The nucleotide- and amino acid level conservation of NGO1985 among GC isolates was also investigated. Analysis of 118 NGO1985 sequences derived from available draft genomes (NCBI, Broad Institute), isolates from the Seattle STD Clinic, contemporary isolates from Europe, and the 2016 WHO reference strains indicated only 22 single nucleotide polymorphic sites (4.3%), and 11 amino acid changes (5.4%).

Together, these studies demonstrate that NGO1985 is a surface exposed lipoprotein, ubiquitously expressed and highly conserved among distinct GC isolates.

NGO1985 and GNA2091 compensate each other's function despite different orientation within the outer membrane. NGO1985 and GNA2091 share 96% similarity at the amino acid level. As a result, rabbit antisera raised against NGO1985 cross-reacted with GNA2091 (Fig. 3.2 A). Despite the high degree of similarity, GNA2091 localized mainly to the periplasmic side of the OM (Bos et al., 2014). Therefore, we decided to investigate whether these proteins function interchangeably. For these studies, we generated FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ :: gna2091 and in NM MC58 background:  $\Delta gna 2091$ ,  $\Delta gna2091/P_{lac}$ ::gna2091, and  $\Delta gna 2091/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985. Additionally, FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains expressing the homologue of NGO1985 from E. coli, YraP (34% amino acid identitity with NGO1985); as well as NGO1985 from GC strain FA19, bearing a V to A substitution at position 31, were engineered. In our initial studies regarding NGO1985, we observed that absence of this protein resulted in increased susceptibility to membrane perturbing agents and chloramphenicol, suggesting an overall alteration in the cell envelope integrity. Similarly, the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant had a severe growth defect on media containing ceftriaxone, which was fully complemented by the reintroduction of wt allel ngo1985 (Fig. 3.2 B). We further used the ceftriaxone sensitivity phenotype as means to assess the functionality of NGO1985. Expression of NGO1985 A31V from the FA19 strain and GNA2091 in the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain reversed the ceftriaxone-sensitive phenotype (Fig. 3.2 B). In contrast, *E. coli* YraP did not rescue the antibiotic susceptibility of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain. Further, the growth of the NM MC58  $\Delta gna2091$  strain was impaired in the presence of ceftriaxone (Fig. 3.2 B) and as with GC, expression of either GNA2091 or NGO1985 in the  $\Delta gna2091$  background led to restoration of ceftriaxone resistance to the wild type level.

Together, these findings provide evidence that, despite the difference in subcellular localization, NGO1985 and GNA2091 function interchangeably. Additionally, we have determined that the single amino acid polymorphism in NGO1985 in the FA19 strain did not affect the protein's function.

**NGO1985 contributes to GC antibiotic resistance.** Following the ceftriaxone-sensitivity phenotype of  $\Delta ngo1985$  in FA1090, we have investigated the importance of NGO1985 in recent GC isolates with decreased susceptibility to antibiotics.  $\Delta ngo1985$  derivatives of strains isolated from the Public Health–Seattle & King County Sexually Transmitted Disease clinic (2011-2013) were generated and validated by western blotting (Fig. S3.2). All  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutants displayed a statistically significant decrease in viability compared to the wt strains in the presence of ceftriaxone (Fig. 3.3 B). Antibiotic susceptibility of the isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$  progenies was further analyzed by E-test strips containing 11 antibiotics with distinct mechanisms of action: inhibition of peptidoglycan, translation, and DNA synthesis. Overall, we observed the decrease of MICs ranged from 2 up to 8-fold between original and  $\Delta ngo1985$  derivatives (Fig. 3.3 A). Moreover, FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 mutant overexpressing NGO1985 (1 mM IPTG) was more resistant to higher concentrations of ceftriaxone compared to wt and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 expressing native levels of NGO1985 (0.04 mM IPTG) (Fig. 3.3 C).

These results showed that NGO1985 was involved in susceptibility to antibiotics of contemporary GC isolates.

NGO1985 expression patterns and importance for GC survival during murine model of infection. In NM, lack of GNA2091 caused decreased doubling time (Bos et al., 2014). The absence NGO1985 in GC did not affect growth under standard aerobic conditions, as there was no significant difference in cell doubling time between the wt and  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain [63 and 67 minutes respectively (Fig. 3.4 A)]. Analysis of NGO1985 abundance during different stages of bacterial growth revealed that expression increased upon entering and during stationary phase, suggesting growthphase dependent regulation of NGO1985 expression (Fig. 3.4 B). Next,  $\Delta ngo1985$  was exposed to growth conditions mimicking some of the microniches within the human body to test the importance of NGO1985 for survival within the host. The  $\Delta ngo1985$ mutant exhibited an overall decrease in colony forming units (CFUs) under standard growth conditions and during iron limitation (Fe-) on solid media, and a dramatic loss of viability when exposed to normal human serum (NHS) and during anoxia  $(O_2)$  (Fig. 3.4 C). The levels of NGO1985 remained unaltered (Fig. 3.4 D) corroborating our iTRAQ experiments (Zielke et al., 2016). Moreover, NGO1985 abundance didn't change when bacteria were probed with different compounds in either solid or liquid media (Fig. 3.4 D).

Next, we wanted to determine whether NGO1985 plays an important role during GC growth *in vivo* by employing a murine model of GC infection. Initially, we investigated NGO1985 expression during colonization of the estradiol-treated mouse vaginal tract (Jerse *et al.*, 2002). Immunoblot analysis of GC recovered from vaginal swabs showed that NGO1985 is expressed throughout infection, albeit at higher levels at later days from inoculation (Fig. 3.4 E). Subsequently, competitive infections between wt and  $\Delta ngo1985$  or wt and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$  strains were performed. Competitive index (CI) values for every mouse were calculated at days 1, 3, 5, and 7 post-infection for each tested pair of strains (Fig. 3.4 F). The low CI values (ranging from 0.061 to 0.000003) observed in the wt and  $\Delta ngo1985$  co-infection indicated that the mutant was highly (100 to 1000-fold) attenuated. In comparison, the CI values for wt and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$  ranged from 1.85 to 0.037 and only on the last day the values were very similar to the wt/ $\Delta ngo1985$  competition.

These experiments demonstrated that NGO1985 plays a crucial role GC viability *in vivo* as well as under in vitro conditions related to host infection.

Absence of NGO1985 causes alterations in cell envelope and membrane vesicle protein profiles. In NM, absence of GNA2091 was associated with disruption of membrane integrity, resulting in increased release of MVs and elevated protein content in culture supernatants. To investigate whether absence of NGO1985 causes similar phenotypes in GC, culture supernatants were collected at mid-logarithmic (3h) and stationary (6h) phases of growth, and fractionated into soluble protein fraction (SS) and MVs. Coomassie staining of culture supernatants showed that at the 3h time point, the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain released substantially more SS and ~ 3-fold more MVs (Fig. 3.5 A and B, respectively). Increased vesiculation among bacteria has been related to cell envelope stress and as a means of removing misfolded proteins (McBroom and Kuehn, 2007). Analysis of LOS showed no significant differences between the strains, suggesting that the compromised integrity of the cell envelope was not due to defects in LOS (Fig. 3.5 C). Supernatants from stationary phase, however, showed much fewer differences. Nevertheless, further analysis of supernatants by western blotting demonstrated that the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant released from both time points contained more periplasmic (SurA, DsbA), inner membrane-cytoplasmic (Obg), and cytoplasmic (Zwf, GmhA) protein contents (Fig. 3.5 D). Simultaneous analysis of whole cell lysates (WC) of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain revealed decreased abundance of the periplasmic chaperones SurA and DsbA, while levels of Glucose-6-phosphate 1-dehydrogenase, Zwf, were increased (Fig. 3.5 E). SurA facilitates transport of OMPs in the periplasm and prevents their aggregation, while DsbA participates in proper protein folding by introducing disulfide bonds (Heras et al., 2009; Sklar, Wu et al., 2007). Zwf was found to be upregulated during membrane stress caused by bile salts, as well as in the presence of reactive oxygen species, and was shown to be important for resistance to reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (Bernstein et al., 1999; Merritt and Donaldson, 2009; Lundberg et al., 1999; Sandoval et al., 2011). The lower levels of periplasmic chaperones in the absence of NGO1985 suggested OMPs misfolding that could result in cell envelope stress.

To further analyze consequences of NGO1985 absence on GC membrane integrity, cell envelopes and MVs collected during mid-logarithmic growth were analyzed. The overall cell envelope protein profiles visualized by Coomassie Blue staining did not differ between analyzed strains (Fig. 3.5 F). Western blotting analysis indicated, however, decreased amounts of a major component of the LOS transport system, LptD (Bos *et al.*, 2004; Braun and Silhavy, 2002; Ruiz *et al.*, 2009), as well as part of the autotransporter secretion system, TamA (Selkrig *et al.*, 2012) in the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain (Fig. 3.5 G). The decrease in TamA amounts was also consistently observed in cell envelopes derived from colonies of  $\Delta ngo1985$  collected from solid media during standard conditions, in the presence of NHS, and from anaerobic growth (Fig. S3.3 C and D). In contrast, lower levels of LptD were observed only during anaerobiosis (Fig. S3.3 C and D).

The  $\Delta ngo1985$  MVs protein profile exhibited apparent alterations in comparison to wt (Fig. 3.5 F) and among 11 proteins analyzed by western blotting, only MtrE abundance was not changed (Fig. 3.5 G).

Taken together, our results suggested that absence of NGO1985 caused decreased periplasmic chaperone abundance affecting the composition of certain OMPs (e.g. TamA and LptD) and functionality of the GC cell envelopes.

NGO1985 co-purifies with Bam machinery, Mtr, and several lipoproteins. Bacterial cell envelope homeostasis is a coordinated process mediated by many proteins, including those that often form large protein complexes of unique composition and structure. To better understand the function of NGO1985 in the cell envelope, we aimed to characterize the NGO1985 interactome by tandem affinity purification (Fig. 3.6 A). For this purpose, a strain expressing functional NGO1985 Cterminally fused with a TAP tag was generated (Fig. S3.4 A and B). SDS-PAGE and silver staining of purified protein complexes revealed multiple bands for the  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-TAP while few or no bands were detected for the two control strains,  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 and  $P_{lac}$ ::TAP (Fig. 3.6 B). Tandem mass spectrometry of purified complexes identified 332 proteins for  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$ -TAP, 128 proteins for  $P_{lac}::TAP$  and 5 proteins for  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 (Fig. 3.6 C) with 246 proteins uniquely identified in the  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985-TAP fraction (Table S3.3). Cluster of Orthologous Groups (COG) analysis revealed that the identified proteins belonged to many classes. Excluding the proteins within the Poorly Characterized group, the most represented classes were 1) Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis (31 proteins), 2) Energy production and conversion (20 proteins), and 3) Amino acid transport and metabolism (17 proteins) (Fig. 3.6 E). Western blot analysis with available antibodies confirmed that among the proteins co-purified in complex with NGO1985 were components of membrane biogenesis  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machinery (BAM), BamA, BamD, and BamE; a member of the Mtr efflux pump, MtrE; and OM lipoproteins: Laz, AniA, Ng-MIP, NGO2139 and NGO2054 (Fig. 3.6 D).

The BAM complex contributes to the maintenance of cell envelope integrity due to its involvement in folding and assembly of  $\beta$ -barrel OMPs into to the outer membrane (reviewed by Noinaj *et al.*, 2015). To validate the potential interaction of NGO1985 with the BAM complex, a strain expressing functional TAP-tagged BamE was generated (Fig. S3.4 C and D). Multiple protein bands were detected for protein complexes purified from  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}$ ::*bamE*-TAP by silver staining, and, as expected, immunoblotting revealed that BamE co-purified with other components of the BAM complex as well as with NGO1985. Moreover, proteins found in complex with BamE included Laz, AniA, Ng-MIP, NGO2139, NGO2054, as well as LptD and TamA. Thus, the role of NGO1985 in cell envelope integrity is possibly mediated through interaction with the BAM complex.

#### Discussion

In this work, we characterized the predicted OM lipoprotein NGO1985 as a potential vaccine candidate and investigated its role in cell envelope homeostasis. Our data showed that NGO1985 is exposed on the surface of GC cells (Fig. 3.1 E-H). In contrast, the NM homologue GNA2091 was proposed to localize to the periplasmic side of the OM (Bos *et al.*, 2014). However, later studies showed that GNA2091 is recognized by a component of the innate immune system, PTX3 (Bottazzi *et al.*, 2015), suggesting that it could be at least partially exposed to the extracellular milieu. Nevertheless, the literature describes several examples of GC and NM homologous proteins, including NspA and fHbp that display differences in localization between species, despite high amino acid coverage (Jongerius *et al.*, 2013; Moe *et al.*, 1999).

Cysteine residues within lipobox motifs are essential for maturation of lipoproteins. Mutations of C23 in NGO1985 led to expression of two protein forms, ~21 and ~18 kDa, corresponding to full length and mature NGO1985, respectively (Fig. 3.1 I). Supporting these findings, in *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Streptococcus agalactiae*, cysteine was shown not to be necessary for signal peptide cleavage (Baumgartner *et al.*, 2007; Henneke *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, it has been shown that the RseP protein of *E. coli* (NGO1800 in GC) can be responsible for the proteolytic cleavage of diverse signal peptides (Saito *et al.*, 2011).

Absence of NGO1985 manifested itself through increased susceptibility to different classes of antibiotics, decreased viability during in vitro conditions relevant to GC infection sites, and attenuation during the *in vivo* model of infection (Figs. 3.3 A and B; and 3.4 C and F). Maintenance of steady state levels of NGO1985 during *in vitro* growth conditions as well in the presence of chemical probes suggested that the phenotypes observed in  $\Delta ngo1985$  are the result of a general cell envelope defect. Compromised membrane integrity was suggested by increased protein content in  $\Delta ngo1985$  supernatants (Fig. 3.5 A). Moreover, increased vesiculation and upregulation of Zwf in the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant suggested cell envelope stress (Fig. 3.5 B, D and E) (Bernstein *et al.*, 1999; McBroom and Kuehn, 2007; Merritt and Donaldson, 2009). However, protein profiles of cell envelopes were not dramatically altered in the absence of NGO1985, and among analyzed proteins, only TamA was

consistently lower in abundance, while LptD was downregulated during certain growth conditions (Fig. 3.5 G, Fig. S3.3 C and D). The decrease in periplasmic chaperones SurA and DsbA observed in the  $\Delta ngo1985$  background could cause impaired OMP folding and aggregation (Fig. 3.5 D and E). Proper folding of LptD depends on both SurA and DsbA (Denoncin *et al.*, 2010). Because vesiculation is a way of relieving cells of misfolded and toxic proteins (McBroom and Kuehn, 2007), elevated levels of all three analyzed OMPs (BamA, TamA, LptD) in  $\Delta ngo1985$  MVs could result from their improperly folded state (Figs. 3.5 G, and S3.3 A). Moreover, MVs of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant contained high levels of several OM lipoproteins, implying that their transport and/or assembly might be affected as well.

Analysis of NGO1985 and co-purified proteins revealed a broad network of interactions including the BAM complex, multidrug efflux pumps, and several surface exposed lipoproteins (Table S3.3, Fig. 3.6 D). NGO1985 interaction with the BAM complex was validated by the detection of NGO1985 in pull down experiments with BamE (Fig. 3.6 G). BAM is involved in folding and inserting OMPs into the OM, thus it is essential for cell envelope biogenesis and integrity. In *E. coli*, this complex is composed of the integral membrane protein BamA and four accessory lipoproteins, BamB, C, D, and E. *Neisseria* genomes, however, do not encode the BamB homologue. In NM, an additional component of BAM was identified. The RmpM protein was required for stability, but not folding, of OMP complexes (Volokhina *et al.*, 2009). GNA2091 was suggested to be associated with BAM complex, although this interaction could not be shown (Bos *et al.*, 2014). BamB was recently shown in *E. coli* to be crucial for BamA folding and biogenesis *in vivo* (Misra *et al.*, 2015). Our observation of high levels of BamA, presumably aggregates, in  $\Delta ngo1985$  MVs suggest that in GC, NGO1985 could be involved in regulating BamA stability.

In conclusion, we reported that lipoprotein NGO1985, is a novel component of the BAM complex, participating in biogenesis and homeostasis of the GC cell envelope. The importance of NGO1985 in antibiotic resistance and during infection of the female mouse model, as well as its surface exposure and conservation across gonococcal isolates, makes it a promising candidate for gonorrhea vaccine development.



**Figure 3.1. NGO1985 is a surface localized lipoprotein conserved among GC isolates.** (A) Schematic of predicted domains and motifs of native NGO1985 (SP – signal peptide, LALGGCF – lipobox motif, BON - bacterial OsmY and nodulation domain) and outline of recombinant NGO1985 constructs used: for protein purification (rNGO1985), for assessment of important of cysteine in the putative lipobox, and for

interactome studies (C-terminally TAP-tagged NGO1985; CBP - calmodulin binding protein, PA – Protein A). (B) rNGO1985 was resolved by SDS-PAGE and visualized with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 (CBB). (C) Whole cell lysates normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> units and rNGO1985 (0.02 µg) were resolved in 15% Tris-glycine gel and probed with polyclonal rabbit anti-NGO1985 antisera. Migration of the protein weight marker is indicated on the left (kDa). (D) Analysis of NGO1985 subcellular localization. Subproteome fractions: cytoplasm/periplasm (C), cell envelopes (CM), membrane vesicles (MVs), and soluble secreted proteins (SS) were probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (E) Examination of NGO1985 surface localization using immunogold labeling coupled with transmission electron microscopy. Wt FA1090 and  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains were cultured in GCBL medium till mid-log phase of growth  $(OD_{600} \approx 0.8)$ . Cultures were harvested and reconstituted in PBS. Cell suspensions were placed onto a gold grid and incubated at room temperature. Grids were blocked in BSA, and incubated with anti-NGO1985 antisera. Following washing, grids were probed with secondary antibodies conjugated with 12 nm gold particles, stained with 2% ammonium molydbate, and visualized by TEM. (F) Immunodot analysis. Intact cells of wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 were spotted onto nitrocellulose and probed with different antisera, as indicated. Controls include: BamA, BamD, Obg, lysed GC cells, and purified recombinant proteins Obg and BamD. (G, H) Intact GC cells were incubated in the presence or absence of trypsin/proteinase K. Whole cell lysates were normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> units, separated by SDS-PAGE, and either probed with different antibodies (G) or visualized with CBB (H). (I) Whole cell lysates of different GC strains, as indicated, were normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> units, separated by SDS-PAGE, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (J) The abundance of unprocessed (21 kDa) and mature (18 kDa) forms of NGO1985 C23A and NGO1985 C23S was assessed by densitometry ( $n=3 \pm SEMs$ ). (K) Intact and lysed cells of indicated GC strains were spotted on nitrocellulose and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (L) Whole cell lysates of GC were normalized by OD600 units, separated on a 4-20% Tris-glycine gel, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antibodies. As positive controls, wt FA1090 and *Ango1985/Plac::ngo1985* were used, while E. coli ER2738 and  $\Delta ngo1985$  served as negative controls.



**Figure 3.2. NGO1985 and GNA2091 function interchangeably.** (A) Whole cell lysates of GC and NM, as indicated, were normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> units, separated by SDS-PAGE, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. Nonspecific protein band detected in NM samples is indicated (\*). Migration of the protein molecular weight marker is indicated on the left (kDa). (B) GC or NM strains, as indicated, were grown for 3 h in GCBL at 37 °C with aeration, back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.2, and plated on GCB agar supplemented with 0.04 mM IPTG and without or with ceftriaxone (concentration as indicated in the text). After 22 h of incubation at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, relative survival values were calculated (as described in materials and methods section) ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs). Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are indicated (\*).

Α.

Strain	XM	PX	СТ	IX	тх	AZ	тс	CI	PO	АМ	PG
UW01											
wt	0.125	0.032	0.032	<0.016	0.008	0.125	32	8	256	8	8
∆ngo1985	0.064	< 0.016	0.008	< 0.016	0.004	0.064	16	4	256	2	2
UW02											_
wt	8	0.5	0.25	0.125	0.064	0.50	2	>32	128	1	1
∆ngo1985	2	0.125	0.064	0.032	0.016	0.25	1	16	128	0.5	0.25
UW03											_
wt	8	1	0.5	0.125	0.064	0.25	1	>32	256	2	2
∆ngo1985	8	0.5	0.25	0.125	0.064	0.125	1	8	128	1	1
UW04			and the second second								-
wt	8	0.5	0.25	0.125	0.032	0.5	2	>32	256	1	1
Ango1985	8	0.5	0.125	0.064	0.032	0.25	1	32	256	1	1
UW06											
wt	8	1	0.25	0.125	0.064	0.25	1	>32	256	2	1
∆ngo1985	4	0.5	0.125	0.064	0.032	0.125	1	32	128	1	1
UW07		1 1000							2 10.00		
wt	8	0.5	0.125	0.064	0.032	0.25	2	>32	128	1	0.5
∆nao1985	4	0.25	0.064	0.032	0.016	0.25	1	>32	64	0.25	0.5
UW08		The second second				1990030851			1000.00	a design of the	
wt	8	1	0.25	0.125	0.064	0.25	1	>32	256	2	2
∆ngo1985	8	0.25	0.125	0.064	0.032	0.25	1	>32	128	1	1
UW09											100
wt	1	0.064	0.064	0.032	0.032	16	1	>32	128	0.5	0.5
Ango1985	0.5	0.032	0.032	< 0.016	0.016	2	0.5	>32	128	0.25	0.25
UW10											
wt	0.5	0.064	0.064	0.032	0.032	2	2	>32	128	2	2
∆ngo1985	0.5	0.032	0.032	<0.016	0.008	0.5	1	>32	64	0.5	1
Decrease ir	n MIC:	2-fold		4-fold	8-fc	ld					
							~				
В.							υ.				



Figure 3.3. Involvement of NGO1985 in resistance to antimicrobial compounds.

(A) Gonococcal strains, as specified in the text, were suspended in Brain-heart infusion (BHI) broth to equivalent turbidity of 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard and were streaked with a cotton swab onto GCB agar plates. After allowing the surface of the agar to dry, E-test antimicrobial gradient test strips were applied. Following 22 h, antibiotic minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) ( $\mu$ g/mL) were determined based on the zone of bacterial growth inhibition. The presented numbers are the MIC values that repeated at least twice in three biological replicates of the experiment. Antibiotic

abbreviations as indicated by manufacturer (BioMerieux): XM, cefuroxime; PX, cefpodoxime; CT, cefotaxime; IX, cefixime; TX, ceftriaxone; AZ, azithromycin; TC, tetracycline; CI, ciprofloxacin; PO, polymyxin B; AM, ampicillin; PG, benzylpenicillin. CDC GISP alert criteria: cefpodoxime and cefixime MIC  $\geq 0.250$  $\mu$ g/mL; ceftriaxone MIC  $\ge 0.125 \mu$ g/mL; azithromycin MIC  $\ge 2.0 \mu$ g/mL. (B) GC strains, as indicated in the text, after 3 h of growth in GCBL at 37 °C with aeration were suspended to  $OD_{600} = 0.2$ , serially diluted, and plated on solid media with or without different concentrations of ceftriaxone, as indicated. The following day, relative survival for each strain was calculated (as described in materials and methods section)  $(n=3 \pm \text{SEMs})$ . (C) Wt FA1090, isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 strain following 3 h of cultivation in liquid media were backdiluted to  $OD_{600} = 0.2$ , serially diluted, and plated on agar supplemented with either 0.04 mM or 1.0 mM IPTG, and with or without ceftriaxone. Relative survival for each strain was calculated for each strain and each ceftriaxone concentration ( $n=3 \pm SEMs$ ). Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are indicated (\*).



Figure 3.4. NGO1985 is important for GC survival during *in vitro* host relevant conditions and in gonorrhea mouse model of infection. (A) Proliferation of FA1090 wt and  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains was assessed by OD<sub>600</sub> measurements during 6 h of growth with aeration in GCBL medium ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs). (B) The expression of NGO1985 throughout GC growth was examined in whole cell lysates of wt FA1090, normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> units, by immunoblotting analysis with anti-NGO1985 antisera. Anti-MtrE antibodies were used as a loading control. (C) FA1090 wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 were cultured in GCBL with aeration for 3 hours, diluted to  $OD_{600} = 0.2$ , serially diluted, plated on solid media, and cultured under different growth conditions: standard aerobic (SGC), iron deprivation (Fe-), presence of normal human serum (+NHS), aerobically in the presence of nitrite, and anaerobically in the presence of nitrite as a terminal electron acceptor ( $O_2$ -). Following 22 h of aerobic or 48 h of anaerobic growth, CFUs were scored ( $n=3 \pm SEMs$ ). (D) FA1090 whole cell lysates (normalized by OD<sub>600</sub> units) or cell envelopes (0.25  $\mu$ g) cultured under the conditions described above, or whole cell lysates (normalized by  $OD_{600}$  units) of FA1090 exposed to different compounds (sodium dodecyl sulfate, SDS; chloramphenicol, Cm; Polymyxin B, PO; ceftriaxone; TX) in solid or liquid media were separated by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (E) Whole cell lysates of FA1090

recovered from mice at days 1, 3, and 5 post-infection and normalized by CFUs (3,180) or equal sample volumes (15µL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE page and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (F) Mixtures containing similar CFUs of wt and  $\Delta ngo1985$  as well as wt and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$  were inoculated into two groups of estradiol-treated female BALB/c mice. Bacteria were recovered at days 1, 3, 5, and 7 post infection and enumerated on GCB agar containing streptomycin (total number) and GC agar with streptomycin and kanamycin ( $\Delta ngo1985$  or  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac::ngo1985$ ). Competitive indices (CI) for individual mice at each time point are shown. Red lines represent the geometric mean. The CI values below 1 represent decreased ratios of the mutant to the wt strain. Mice from which no  $\Delta ngo1985$  or  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac::ngo1985}$  bacteria were recovered are designated by open symbols. To calculate CI in these cases, the limit of detection (1 CFU in 100 µL of vaginal swab suspension) was used as CFU value.


Fold change 50 0.50 37 0.25 1 25 α-NGO2139 α-NGO2054 α-AniA α-Laz **α-MtrE** α-Ng-MIP α-BamE α-AniA *c***-MtrE** a-NGO2139 a-NGO2054 α-Laz α-Ng-MIP 20 a-LptD α-LptD α-TamA α-BamA α-BamD α-BamD α-BamE α-TamA α-BamA 15 10

Figure 3.5. Lack of NGO1985 causes loss of cell envelope homeostasis demonstrated by increased leakage of protein content and vesiculation, as well as altered protein profiles of cell envelopes and membrane vesicles. (A) Protein contents of culture supernatants (S), soluble protein fraction (SS), and natural membrane vesicles (MVs), of FA1090 wt (1),  $\Delta ngo1985$  (2), and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 (3), collected at indicated time points, were analyzed by resolving samples on 4-12% NuPAGE Novex Bis-Tris Gels, normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> value, followed by Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 staining. (B) Amount of released MVs of strains indicated above was calculated (as described in materials and

method section) ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs). (C) Equal amounts (0.75 µL) of LOS derived from GC isolates were resolved on a 16.5% Tris-Tricine gel and subjected to silver staining. (D, E) Whole cell lysates (WC), soluble protein fraction (SS), and naturally released membrane vesicles (MVs) of GC strains determined in the text were isolated from liquid culture at determined time points (D), or from solid media, as indicated (E). Samples normalized by OD<sub>600</sub> units were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with antibodies. Subcellular localization of analyzed proteins is indicated: outer membrane, OM; periplasm, P; inner membrane and cytoplasm, C+IM; cytoplasm, C. (F) Cell envelopes (CE) and MVs were isolated from indicated GC strains cultured until midlogarithmic growth (OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.8-0.9). Equal amounts (3 µg) of each sub-proteome fraction were resolved by SDS-PAGE and visualized by Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 staining. (G) Relative abundance of indicated proteins within cell envelopes and membrane vesicles of  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain, compared to wt FA1090 ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs). Migration of the protein weight marker is indicated on the left (kDa).



**Figure 3.6. Interactome of NGO1985.** (A) Outline of experimental design. NGO1985 was tagged with TAP-tag, placed under  $P_{lac}$  promoter and expressed in  $\Delta ngo1985$  background. GC FA1090 wt cells expressing empty TAP-tag and  $\Delta ngo1985$  complemented with wt NGO1985, as well as  $\Delta ngo1985$  expressing NGO1985-TAP-tag placed under  $P_{lac}$  promoter were harvested at mid-log phase of growth. Bacteria were lysed and the protein lysates were incubated with IgG Sepharose followed by the TEV protease cleavage of the multiprotein complexes. Samples were applied to Calmodulin Beads and after extensive washing proteins were eluted by the addition of EGTA. (B) Equal amounts of eluate were resolved on a 4-15% Tris-glycine gel and visualized by silver staining. (C) Venn diagram of proteins identified by mass spectrometry analysis in pulldown experiment. Total of 246 individual proteins were identified uniquely in the  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}::ngo1985$ -TAP strain. (D) Mass spectrometry

analysis was validated by resolving equal amounts of eluted protein on a 4-15% gel, transferring to a nitrocellulose membrane and probing with antibodies, as indicated. Immunoblotting with anti-LptD, anti-TamA, and anti-Obg antisera served as negative controls. (E) Identified proteins that interact with NGO1985 were categorized into functional classes according to Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COGs) analysis. The pie chart presents the numbers of identified proteins in each COG cluster. COG categories are listed on the right. (F, G). Association with BAM complex was verified by performing tandem affinity purification with  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}::bamE$ -TAP and control strains  $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}::bamE$  and  $P_{lac}::TAP$ . Isolated protein complexes were resolved on a 4-15% gel and visualized by silver staining or probed with antisera. Migration of the protein weight marker is indicated on the left (kDa).



Supplementary Figure S3.1. Absence of NGO1985 does not increase GC susceptibility to osmotic shock. FA1090 wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 strains were grown for 3 h in GCBL media, back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.2, serially diluted, and plated on GCB agar supplemented with 0.04 mM IPTG, and without or with sucrose (5 %), urea (100 mM), or KCl (100 mM). After 22 h of incubation, relative survival values were calculated (as described in materials and methods section) ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs).



Supplementary Figure S3.2. Western blotting validation of ngo1985 deletion in GC clinical isolates (Seattle STD Clinic 2011-2013). Whole cell lysates of GC isolates were normalized by OD<sub>600</sub> units, separated in a 4-20% Tris-glycine gel, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antibodies. Wt FA1090 and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 were included as the positive controls, while  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant was used as a negative control.



Supplementary Figure S3.3. Changes in protein composition of cell envelopes and membrane vesicles in the absence of NGO1985. (A) Equal amounts ( $\mu$ g) of cell envelopes (CE) and membrane vesicles (MV) isolated from FA1090 wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant, and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 grown to mid-logarithmic stage (OD<sub>600</sub> = 0.8-0.9) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with antisera. Biological replicates of the experiments are indicated. (B, C) Cell envelopes were isolated from wt FA1090 and  $\Delta ngo1985$  grown under the following growth conditions: standard conditions

(SGC), aerobically in the presence of normal human serum (NHS), and anaerobically in the presence of NaNO<sub>2</sub> as a terminal electron acceptor (O<sub>2</sub>-). Equal amounts ( $\mu$ g) of protein fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE, and either stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 (representative samples) (B), or probed with antibodies (C). Biological replicates of the experiments are indicated. (D) Relative abundance of indicated cell envelope proteins of  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain cultivated under indicated growth conditions, compared to wt FA1090 ( $n=3 \pm$  SEMs).



**Supplementary Figure S3.4. Functional NGO1985-TAP-tag and BamE-TAP-tag fusions.** (A and C) Whole cell lysates of GC strains, normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> values, were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-NGO1985 or anti-BamE antisera, as indicated. Migration of the protein weight marker is indicated on the left (kDa). (B)

GC strains, grown for 3 h in GCBL, were diluted to  $OD_{600} = 0.2$ , serially diluted, and plated on GCB agar supplemented with 0.04 mM IPTG and in the absence or presence of ceftriaxone (0.0015 µg/mL). After 22 h of incubation, colony forming units were scored and relative survival values were calculated (as described in materials and methods) ( $n=3 \pm SEMs$ ). (D) GC strains were cultured and handled as described above and plated on GCB agar supplemented with 0.02 mM IPTG, and in the absence or presence of Polymyxin B (800 U/mL). After 22 h of incubation, colony forming units were scored and relative survival values were calculated (as described in materials and methods) ( $n=3 \pm SEMs$ ).

Bacterial strain	Reference
N. gonorrhoeae	
FA1090	Connell et al., 1988
MS11	Meyer <i>et al.</i> , 1982
1291	Apicella et al., 1978
F62	Sparling, 1966
FA19	Maness and Sparling, 1973
FA1090 Δngo1985	Zielke et al., 2014
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985	Zielke et al., 2014
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 C23A	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/Plac::ngo1985 C23S	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 (FA19)	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::gna2091	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::yraP	This study
FA1090 \Deltango1985/Plac::ngo1985-TAP	This study
FA1090 <i>P<sub>lac</sub>::</i> TAP	This study
FA1090 Δ <i>bamE</i>	This study
FA1090 $\Delta bamE/P_{lac}$ ::bamE	This study
FA1090 ΔbamE/P <sub>lac</sub> ::bamE-TAP	This study
Baltimore collection 1991-1994: LGB1, LG14, LG2, LGB26, LG20 Public Health–Seattle & King County Sexually Transmitted Disease clinic isolates: UW01, UW02, UW03, UW04, UW05, UW06, UW07, UW08, UW09, UW10, UW11, UW12, UW13	Garvin <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Zielke <i>et al.</i> , 2014 Zielke <i>et al.</i> , 2016
WHO 2015 reference strains: F, G, K, L, M, N, O, P, W, X, Y, Z, U, V	Unemo et al., 2016
UW02 Δ <i>ngo1985</i>	This study
UW03 Δngo1985	This study
UW04 Δ <i>ngo1985</i>	This study
UW05 Δngo1985	This study
UW06 Δngo1985	This study
UW07 Δngo1985	This study
UW08 Δngo1985	This study
UW09 Δngo1985	This study
UW10 Δngo1985	This study
N. meningitides	
MC58	McGuinness et al., 1991

Table S3.1. Bacterial strains used in this study.

MC58 Δgna2091	This study
MC58 Δgna2091/P <sub>lac</sub> ::gna2091	This study
MC58 Δgna2091/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985	This study
E. coli	
MC1061	Casadaban and Cohen, 1980

BL21(DE3)

Studier and Moffatt, 1986

Plasmid Name	Reference
pET28a	Novagen
pGCC4	Skaar <i>et al.</i> , 2002
pUC18	Yanisch-Perron et al., 1985
pUC18K-NGO1985	Zielke et al., 2014
pET28a-rNGO1985	This study
pET28a-rBamE	This study
pUC18-NGO1985(STOP)	This study
pBS1479	Puig et al., 2001
pUC18-NGO1985-TAP	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985-TAP	This study
pGCC4-TAP	This study
pUC18-BamE(STOP)	This study
pUC18-BamE-TAP	This study
pGCC4-BamE-TAP	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985(FA19)	This study
pGCC4-GNA2091	This study
pGCC4-YraP	This study
pUC18K-GNA2091	This study
pUC18-NGO1985	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 C23A	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 C23S	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 C23A	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 C23S	This study
pUC18K-BamE	This study
pGCC4-BamE	This study
Oligonucleotide	Sequence <sup>1</sup>

Table S3.2. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study.

-			
ombinant proteins with C-terminal 6×His-tag:			
TTCATC <u>CATATG</u> GCAAAATCCGTCATCGACC			
TTCATC <u>CTCGAG</u> GCGTTGGACGTAGTTTTGGT			
GAATTC <u>CCATGG</u> TCGAACGCGTCTCGCTGT			
GGATCC <u>AAGCTT</u> TTGTTTGTCTGCGTTTTGTTTCGC			
Primers used for the mutagenesis of the conserved cysteine (+1) in a predicted lipobox of NGO1985			
CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC			
AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> TCAGCGTTGGACGTAGTT			
CGGCGGCGCCTTCAGCG			

NGO1985-C23A-R	CGCTGAAGGCGCCGCCG
NGO1985-C23S-F	CCCTCGGCGGCAGCTTCAGCGCA
NGO1985-C23S-F	TGCGCTGAAGCTGCCGCCGAGGG
pGCC4-Ver-F	AAATCGCCCTTGATACCG
pGCC4-Ver-R	CTTCCGGCTCACACTTTATG
Primers used for creating TAL and TAP-tagged BamE:	P-tagged NGO1985, TAP-tag expressed under NGO1985 RBS,
NGO1985-TAP-F	CTATCGAT <u>GAGCTC</u> CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC
NGO1985-TAP-R	ATCCGC <u>GGTACC</u> GCGTTGGACGTAGTTTTG
NGO1985-TAP-F2	ATCCGC <u>GGTACC</u> AAGAGAAGATGGAAAAAGAATTTCA
NGO1985-TAP-R2	GGATTTAC <u>GGATCC</u> TCAGGTTGACTTCCCCG
NGO1985-TAP-R3	AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> CTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTG
TAP-F	CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCCCGATGGAAAAGAGAAGATGG AAAAA
TAP-R	AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> TCAGGTTGACTTCCCC
BamE-TAP-F	GACTGATA <u>GAATTC</u> TTGCACAGAAAGGTTCTCC
BamE-TAP-R	ATCGAT <u>GGTACC</u> TTGTTTGTCTGCGTTTTGTTTC
BamE-TAP-F2	TTGCACAGAAAGGTTCTCC

### Primers used for gene deletion:

NGO1985-Ver-F	CCCGCCCGAGTGGATAAAG			
NGO1985-Ver-R	CATAATGCTTCCTTGGATTGCG			
GNA2091-Up-F	CTATCGAT <u>GAGCTC</u> TGCCGACGCGCAACACTT			
GNA2091-Up-R	ATCCGC <u>GGTACC</u> CGGTGTGCGGTTTGGGTTTC			
GNA2091-Down-F	GCTCAG <u>GGATCC</u> CCAAAACTACGTCCAACGC			
GNA2091-Down-R	GATTCG <u>AAGCTT</u> GGACGTTTGTGGGCAGTA			
GNA2091-Ver-F	CGTGCCAAGCAGGAAGC			
GNA2091-Ver-R	TCCGGTTTGGTATGGTTTTCTTTG			
BamE-Up-F	AGGCCT <u>GAGCTC</u> GGCAGTTCTCCAAAAACACAGA			
BamE-Up-R	CCGC <u>GGTACC</u> CACGGGAGAACCTTTCTGTG			
BamE-Down-F	CGATCG <u>GGATCC</u> GCGAAACAAAACGCAGACAA			
BamE-Down-R	GTTAAC <u>AAGCTT</u> GAAGAGGGCGGTGTGGT			
BamE-Ver-F	AAAGCATAGGCAGGATCGGG			
BamE-Ver-R	CCTGCATATCGTACAAACCCG			
Primers used for the complementation/trans-complementation studies:				

# GNA2091-RBS-FCCCAAGAAAGGAAGCACCYRAP-RBS-FAGGATGATTAAGGAGAATACATGAAGYRAP-RBS-RAAGCTT<u>GGCCGGCC</u>CTATTTAATAAACGTAAACGCTGTG<br/>GBamE-RBS-FTTGCACAGAAAGGTTCTCCCBamE-RBS-RAAGCTT<u>GGCCGGCC</u>TCCTTATTGTTTGTCTGCGTTT

NGO1985-Amp-F	CCCGCCCGAGTGGATAAAG
NGO1985-Amp-R	CATAATGCTTCCTTGGATTGCG
NGO1985-Seq-F	GCCGCCATGCTCAAAGAC
NGO1985-Seq-R	TGTCGCCGTTCGGGTTG

## Primers used for sequencing of NGO1985 from the recent GC clinical isolates:

<sup>1</sup>Sequences recognized by restriction enzymes are underlined.

Accession	Description	Gene	Score	Coverage	Number of Unique Peptides		
Amino acid transport and metabolism							
59801193	Homoserine dehydrogenase	NGO0779	75.7	49.66	14		
59800659	ABC transporter periplasmic binding protein, polyamine	NGO0206	65	31.48	10		
59801562	Anthranilate phosphoribosyltransferase	trpD, NGO1203	64	30.41	8		
59800553	3-dehydroquinate synthase	aroB, NGO0092	59	35.38	8		
59800701	Tryptophan synthase subunit alpha	trpA, NGO0248	57.4	40.61	7		
59801253	2-isopropylmalate synthase	leuA, NGO0848	46.6	30.37	11		
59801612	ABC transporter periplasmic binding protein, polyamine	NGO1253	35.1	25.53	8		
59801419	Aminotransferase	NGO1047	30.4	22.52	8		
59801298	3-phosphoshikimate 1-carboxyvinyltransferase	aroA, NGO0900	22.9	19.4	5		
59801825	Arginine decarboxylase	speA, NGO1487	22.7	10.16	5		
59800898	Succinyldiaminopimelate transaminase	NGO0460	15.4	8.35	3		
59801601	Imidazoleglycerol-phosphate dehydratase	hisB, NGO1242	10.6	12.3	2		
59801073	Bifunctional N-succinyldiaminopimelate-aminotransferase/acetylornithine transaminase	argD, NGO0646	8.1	11.08	3		
59801674	GDSL family lipase	NGO1323	8.1	14.08	3		
59800818	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein, amino acid	NGO0374	7.7	15.94	4		
59800672	Argininosuccinate lyase	argH, NGO0219	7.2	14.19	4		
59802089	Oligopeptidase A	prlC, NGO1770	0	4.42	2		
Carbohydrate transport and metabolism							
59802227	6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase	gnd, NGO1914	16.1	13.07	5		
59802095	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	epd, NGO1776	13	16.03	5		
59800819	Phosphoglucomutase	pgm, NGO0375	9.2	11.52	4		
Coenzyme tra	nsport and metabolism						
161572979	S-adenosylmethionine synthetase	metK, NGO0106	39.8	28.28	7		
59800768	Ubiquinone/menaquinone biosynthesis methyltransferase	ubiE, NGO0321	38.3	37.96	7		
59801748	Glutamyl-tRNA reductase	hemA, NGO1403	23.9	23.37	8		
59801695	3-octaprenyl-4-hydroxybenzoate carboxy-lyase	ubiD, NGO1345	19	10.16	4		
59802307	Bifunctional 5,10-methylene-tetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase/ 5,10- methylene-tetrahydrofolate cyclohydrolase	folD, NGO1999	17.8	27.82	5		
59801904	Thiamine monophosphate kinase	thiL, NGO1575	14.1	9.12	2		
59801764	Thiamine biosynthesis protein ApbE	apbE, NGO1420	11.9	13.68	4		
59800508	Glutamate-1-semialdehyde aminotransferase	hemL, NGO0040	7.3	7.75	3		
59801900	Quinolinate synthetase	nadA, NGO1567	7.3	10	3		
59802375	3-demethylubiquinone-9 3-methyltransferase	ubiG, NGO2074	6.9	11.57	3		
59800804	Heme biosynthesis operon protein HemX	hemX, NGO0360	5.1	11.08	3		
59802000	Octaprenyl diphosphate synthase	ispB, NGO1675	5	8.02	2		
59802327	Molybdopterin/thiamine biosynthesis adenylyltransferase	thiF, NGO2019	4.8	8.59	2		
59801501	GTP cyclohydrolase II	ribA, NGO1134	4.1	8.12	2		

# Table S3.3. Proteins identified in pull-down experiments by mass spectrometry.

### Nucleotide transport and metabolism

59800964	Phosphoribosylaminoimidazole synthetase	purM, NGO0526	78.4	36.92	10
59800797	Uracil phosphoribosyltransferase	upp, NGO0353	64.6	77.88	12
59800789	Nucleoside phosphorylase	mtnN, NGO0345	42.4	48.07	9
59801041	Ribonucleotide-diphosphate reductase subunit alpha	nrdA, NGO0614	18.3	9.35	7
59802032	Adenylosuccinate lyase	purB, NGO1711	9.1	8.33	4
59802282	Uridylate kinase	pyrH, NGO1973	8.3	15.06	3
59802251	Phosphoribosylamineglycine ligase	purD, NGO1939	8	8.75	3
59801571	CTP synthetase	pyrG, NGO1212	5.2	3.68	2
59800526	Formatetetrahydrofolate ligase	fhs, NGO0062	5	5.91	2
Cell cycle cont	trol, cell division, chromosome partitioning				
59801865	Cell division protein FtsA	ftsA, NGO1529	115.4	59.9	21
59802109	Chromosome partitioning protein ParA	parA,NGO1790	92.4	59.14	10
59801255	Cell-division protein FtsK	ftsK, NGO0851	42.8	16.57	15
59801885	Cell division protein FtsN	ftsN, NGO1549	38.9	36.68	8
59801021	FtsK-like cell division/stress response protein	NGO0590	20.8	11.57	8
59802132	Cell division topological specificity factor MinE	minE, NGO1814	9.3	35.63	3
59801785	Chromosome segregation ATPase	smc, NGO1443	6	3.96	3
59800521	MRP family ATPase	NGO0056	5.6	7.24	2
Inorganic ion	transport and metabolism				
59801548	Magnesium transporter	mgtE, NGO1188	22.1	14.26	5
59802088	Cytochrome-c peroxidase	ccpR, NGO1769	8.2	8.27	3
59802393	Ferric enterobactin periplasmic binding protein	fetB, NGO2092	6.3	10.22	3
59800626	Zinc ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	znuC, NGO0170	6.1	9.96	2
Lipid transpo	rt and metabolism				
59801240	Squalene/phytoene synthase	crtB, NGO0830	49.7	42.07	11
59802464	Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase PlsX	plsX, NGO2171	29.7	30.17	8
59801024	4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-en-1-yl diphosphate synthase	ispG, NGO0594	27.8	20.67	7
59801366	Squalene/phytoene synthase	NGO0980	19.1	16.73	4
59802117	1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase	dxr, NGO1799	8.4	6.6	3
59801565	Phosphatidylserine decarboxylase	psd, NGO1206	8.2	16.22	4
59800825	Cyclase	NGO0381	6.9	17.93	3
59800702	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase subunit beta	accD, NGO0249	2.9	6.9	2
Secondary me	tabolites biosynthesis, transport and catabolism				
59801633	Nitrite reductase AniA	aniA, NGO1276	19	14.29	5
59802414	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	NGO2116	6.4	11.89	2
Cell wall/mem	brane/envelope biogenesis				
59801339	Hypothetical lipoprotein NGO0948	NGO0948	121	45.98	16
59801427	Peptidase	NGO1056	102.4	36.48	13
59801851	OpaD protein	opaD, NGO1513	102.3	44.6	1

59801713	Antibiotic resistance efflux pump component	mtrC, NGO1365	80.5	46.36	14
59802119	Outer membrane protein assembly factor BamA	bamA, NGO1801	68.6	28.16	18
59801875	UDP-murnac-pentapeptide synthetase	murF, NGO1539	56.8	41.37	12
229220794	UDP-N-acetylmuramateL-alanine ligase	murC, NGO1532	53.4	33.97	13
651851645	Opacity protein	NGO1277a	41.3	35.04	3
59802356	Membrane-bound lytic murein transglycosylase A	ltgC, NGO2048	39.5	32.2	9
59802432	Transglycosylase LtgA	ltgA, NGO2135	32.2	20.45	8
651851643	Opacity protein	NGO1040a	31.6	31.86	2
59801871	UDP-N-acetylmuramoyl-L-alanyl-D-glutamate synthetase	murD, NGO1535	23.1	18.88	6
59800658	LolA protein	lolA, NGO0205	22.9	22.22	4
59800547	Hypothetical protein NGO0086	NGO0086	19.4	18.3	6
59800788	Elongation factor 4	lepA, NGO0344	19.3	13.57	7
59800880	Outer membrane lipoprotein LolB	lolB, NGO0439	19.3	20.73	3
59800731	LPS-assembly lipoprotein	lptE, NGO0282	18	27.04	4
59801036	Murein transglycosylase	ltgE, NGO0608	17.9	14.89	8
59800686	Opacity family porin protein	nspA, NGO0233,	14.5	21.14	4
59801866	Cell division protein FtsQ	ftsQ, NGO1530	11.8	14.46	4
59801054	Murein hydrolase LtgD	ltgD, NGO0626	11.8	13.5	5
59800560	Penicillin-binding protein 1	mrcA, NGO0099	11.7	5.01	3
59801867	D-alanineD-alanine ligase	ddl, NGO1531	10.3	13.49	3
59801892	Hypothetical protein NGO1559	NGO1559	9.3	19.11	3
59802101	Lipid-A-disaccharide synthase	lpxB, NGO1782	8.7	7.18	2
59800548	Hypothetical protein NGO0087	NGO0087	8.4	6.21	2
59801880	rRNA small subunit methyltransferase H	rsmH, mraW, NGO1544	7.1	11.32	2
59801782	Macrolide transport protein MacA	macA, NGO1440	6.5	6.12	2
59802353	Glucosaminefructose-6-phosphate aminotransferase	glmS, NGO2045	6.3	3.92	2
59802419	Hypothetical protein NGO2121	NGO2121	5.7	9.03	2
59801830	Phospholipase	pldA, NGO1492	4.9	6.81	2
Defense mech	anisms				
59801126	Type I restriction-modification system methyltransferase	hsdM, NGO0702	31.6	27.2	12
59801781	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	macB, NGO1439	7	7.14	4
Energy produ	ction and conversion				
59802249	Electron transfer flavoprotein subunit alpha	etfA, NGO1936	103.6	43.09	8
59802444	ATP synthase F0F1 subunit delta	atpH, NGO2147	49.9	71.19	11
59801289	D-lactate dehydrogenase	NGO0890	49.6	28.24	16
161572971	Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase	ppc, NGO2020	40.7	15	11
59801304	Hypothetical protein NGO0906	NGO0906	34.1	22.93	8
59802446	ATP synthase F0F1 subunit gamma	atpG, NGO2149	33.5	25.77	6
59802339	Cytochrome C1 precursor	petC, NGO2031	19	32.06	6
59801810	NAD(P) transhydrogenase subunit alpha	pntA, NGO1470	14.3	7.23	3

59801721	Cbb3-type cytochrome c oxidase subunit II	ccoO, NGO1373	12.4	25.62	5
59802329	NAD(P)H-dependent glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	gpsA, NGO2021	11.5	8.51	4
59801313	2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase E1	sucA, NGO0917	8.4	3.93	3
59800562	Cytochrome precursor	NGO0101	7	13.04	2
59801719	Cytochrome c oxidase subunit	ccoP, NGO1371	6.4	4.78	2
59801447	C-type cytochrome	NGO1080	6.3	25.66	4
59801312	Dihydrolipoamide succinyltransferase	sucB, NGO0916	5.6	6.36	2
59802070	NADH dehydrogenase subunit C	nuoC, NGO1749	5.4	11.17	2
59801762	Na(+)-translocating NADH-quinone reductase subunit F	nqrF, NGO1418	5.3	5.93	2
59801757	Na(+)-translocating NADH-quinone reductase subunit A	nqrA, NGO1413	4.2	6.26	2
59802069	NADH dehydrogenase subunit D	nuoD, NGO1748	2.8	9.09	3
59801431	Succinate semialdehyde dehydrogenase	gabD, NGO1061	2.7	4.19	2
Secretion and	l transport				
59802021	Signal recognition particle protein	ffh, NGO1700	87	31.14	14
59802367	Signal recognition particle protein	ftsY, NGO2060	81.7	45.13	14
59800643	Hypothetical protein NGO0188	NGO0188	17.1	45.45	4
59800638	Twin arginine translocase A	tatA, NGO0183	10.1	46.27	3
59800644	Preprotein translocase subunit secd	secD, NGO0189	4.9	3.07	2
Multiple clas	ses				
59800557	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilO	pilO, NGO0096	71	59.53	12
59801519	ABC transporter periplasmic histidine-binding protein precursor	hisJ, NGO1152	57.3	54.48	10
59801025	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilF	pilF, NGO0595	36.4	27.67	6
59800882	Ribose-phosphate pyrophosphokinase	prs, NGO0441	33.8	30.28	7
59801660	Guanosine-3',5'-bis(diphosphate) 3'-pyrophosphohydrolase	spoT, NGO1308	30.1	20.75	11
59801998	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilF	pilF, NGO1673	23.2	15.23	8
59800558	Pilus assembly protein	pilN, NGO0097	22.3	45.73	7
59800893	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilW	pilW, NGO0454	18.6	22.39	8
59801077	ATP-dependent RNA helicase	rhlE, NGO0650	18.5	18.4	7
59800894	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilX	pilX, NGO0455	18.4	17.73	3
59801413	Exopolyphosphatase	NGO1041	18.3	18.53	8
59800607	ATP-dependent RNA helicase	rhlE, NGO0149	14.2	13.13	4
59800892	Type IV pilus assembly protein PilV	pilV, NGO0453	11.8	19.7	3
59800891	Type IV pilus assembly protein FimT	fimT, NGO0452	10.2	10.86	2
59802274	Protease	NGO1963	10.1	13.41	4
59801595	Acetolactate synthase 3 catalytic subunit	ilvI, NGO1236	9.5	4.35	2
59802003	Ubiquinone biosynthesis hydroxylase	NGO1678	6.8	7.61	3
59800895	Type IV pilin-like protein	NGO0456	6.7	15.43	3
59801605	Periplasmic protease	NGO1246	6.6	7.43	2
59802412	Aminodeoxychorismate synthase	NGO2112	3.9	3.5	2
59802029	ATP-dependent DNA helicase DinG	dinG, NGO1708	1.6	2.09	2

59802038	Thiol:disulfide interchange protein	dsbA, NGO1717	85	49.57	10
59800826	Hypothetical protein NGO0382	ftsH, NGO0382	33.3	20.61	11
59801072	ATP-dependent protease ATP-binding subunit ClpX	clpX, NGO0645	17.7	17.39	7
59800811	DNA repair protein RadA	radA, NGO0367	14.3	14.6	5
59802216	Molecular chaperone DnaJ	dnaJ, NGO1901	13.1	16.62	5
59801780	Thiol:disulfide interchange protein DsbC	dsbC, NGO1438	11.4	14.56	4
59801202	Genome-derived Neisseria antigen 1220	NGO0788	9	7.3	2
59801239	Chaperone protein HscA	hscA, NGO0829	8	3.71	2
59800843	Heat shock protein HtpX	htpX, NGO0399	6.3	10.39	2
59801549	Hsp33-like chaperonin	hslO, NGO1189	5.7	7.62	2
Replication, re	ecombination and repair				
59802091	DNA gyrase subunit B	gyrB, NGO1772	145	34.42	25
59801158	Recombinase A	recA, NGO0741	121	34.2	10
59801160	DNA polymerase III subunits gamma and tau	NGO0743	71.3	23.06	10
59800890	Replicative DNA helicase	dnaB, NGO0451	22.9	18.59	8
59800791	DNA polymerase III subunit delta'	NGO0347	22.4	42.46	10
59802243	DNA mismatch repair protein MutS	mutS, NGO1930	18.4	7.87	6
59802404	DNA polymerase I	polA, NGO2103	15.2	8.6	8
59800474	Chromosomal replication initiation protein	dnaA, NGO0001	14.5	10.04	5
59800732	DNA polymerase III subunit delta	NGO0283	14.1	13.86	4
59800539	DNA polymerase III subunit alpha	NGO0078	11	3.32	4
59801156	ATP-dependent DNA helicase	rep, NGO0739	8	5.22	3
59801186	Exodeoxyribonuclease V subunit alpha	recD, NGO0771	6.1	4.3	2
161572978	Holliday junction resolvase	ruvC, NGO0153	4.4	10.67	2
59801373	Methylated-DNAprotein-cysteine methyltransferase	NGO0988	3.2	8.65	2
Signal transdu	action mechanisms				
59801908	Anaerobic transcriptional regulator	NGO1579	31.7	29.51	7
59802186	Two-component system transcriptional response regulator	NGO1866	19.2	19.29	6
Transcription					
59801382	RNA polymerase sigma factor rpod	rpoD, NGO0999	99.8	27.41	17
59800652	Transcription termination factor Rho	rho, NGO0199	37.3	35.32	12
59801138	RpiR family transcriptional regulator	NGO0718	26.7	16.67	4
59801895	ArsR family transcriptional regulator	NGO1562	13.1	22.58	2
59800837	TetR family transcriptional regulator	NGO0393	10.5	12.5	2
59802027	LysR family transcriptional regulator	NGO1706	8.6	9.57	3
Translation, r	ibosomal structure and biogenesis				
59802104	Ribonuclease E	rne, NGO1785	108.9	32.86	23
59801613	Alanyl-trna synthetase	alaS, NGO1254	77.5	25.74	18
59801095	SUN-family protein	NGO0668	70.7	36.36	13

59802450	Glycyl-trna synthetase subunit beta	glyS, NGO2154	65.7	39.01	20
59802099	Outer membrane protein assembly factor BamE	bamE, NGO1780	38.6	52	6
59802352	Methionyl-trna synthetase	metG, NGO2044	21.4	8.63	5
59802189	16S RNA methyltransferase	NGO1869	19.4	12.41	6
59801089	Aspartyl/glutamyl-trna amidotransferase subunit A	gatA, NGO0662	17.1	11.23	4
59801012	30S ribosomal protein S6	rpsF, NGO0581	16.1	36.07	3
59800723	Dimethyladenosine transferase	rsmA, ksgA, NGO0272	10.5	22.78	4
59802127	Valyl-trna synthetase	valS, NGO1809	8.9	5.61	4
59802333	30S ribosomal protein S9	rpsI, NGO2025	6.9	28.46	2
59802449	Glycyl-trna synthetase subunit alpha	glyQ, NGO2153	6.3	10.4	3
59800751	Phenylalanyl-trna synthetase subunit beta	pheT, NGO0304	3.8	3.43	3
Function unk	nown				
59800994	Hypothetical protein NGO0561	NGO0561	46.8	30.23	12
651851633	Hypothetical protein NGO1551	NGO1551	43.5	44.34	4
59800868	Hypothetical protein NGO0425	NGO0425	39.7	52.63	8
59802340	DNA recombination protein RmuC	NGO2032	35	20.64	10
59800835	Hypothetical protein NGO0391	NGO0391	24.2	28.72	4
59801088	Hypothetical protein NGO0661	NGO0661	17.1	17.42	5
59802206	Hypothetical protein NGO1889	NGO1889	11.2	10.95	4
59802257	Hypothetical protein NGO1945	NGO1945	10.6	13.31	3
59802030	Hypothetical protein NGO1709	NGO1709	10.4	17.16	3
59801350	Hypothetical protein NGO0961	NGO0961	10	12.32	3
59802266	Hypothetical protein NGO1955	NGO1955	8.3	3.24	3
59801672	Hypothetical protein NGO1321	NGO1321	6.3	15.7	2
59801841	Hypothetical protein NGO1503	NGO1503	4.8	9.66	2
59800735	Hypothetical protein NGO0286	NGO0286	3.2	6.8	2
General func	tion prediction only				
59800727	ComL	bamD, NGO0277	77.6	56.93	14
59801026	Dual-specificity RNA methyltransferase RlmN	rlmN, NGO0596	21.9	18.13	5
59801400	2-nitropropane dioxygenase	NGO1024	21.6	17.39	7
59801596	Hypothetical protein NGO1237	NGO1237	20.3	28.11	4
59801902	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	NGO1573	14.4	10.75	5
59801028	Hypothetical protein NGO0598	NGO0598	13.9	15.4	4
59802261	Hypothetical protein NGO1949	NGO1949	12.9	16.33	4
59802037	Hypothetical protein NGO1716	NG01716	11.7	13.47	5
59802288	Malate:quinone oxidoreductase	mqo, NGO1980	9.9	11.07	4
59801241	Oxidoreductase	NG00831	9.5	7.22	3
59800588	7-cyano-7-deazaguanine synthase	queC, NGO0129	9.1	7.14	2
59802046	BioH - biotin biosynthesis protein	bioH, NGO1725	7.5	8.14	2
59801111	GTP binding protein	hflX, NGO0684	5.4	10.57	3

59802452	Glycosyl transferase	lgtD, NGO2158	5.3	8.28	3
59800762	RNase adaptor protein	NGO0315	3.2	10.21	3
Not in COG					
59801500	Hypothetical protein NGO1133	NGO1133	47.2	35.71	6
59801610	Hypothetical protein NGO1251	NGO1251	41.7	37.5	6
59800790	Twitching motility-like protein	NGO0346	40.3	22.7	8
59800689	Hypothetical protein NGO0236	NGO0236	38.6	26.87	9
59801448	Alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase	NGO1081	28.1	26.72	9
59801263	Hypothetical protein NGO0861	NGO0861	27.5	40.24	4
59801433	Hypothetical protein NGO1063	NGO1063	27.3	23.02	2
59801741	MafA-like protein	mafA2, NGO1393;, mafA3, NGO1584	23.9	27.48	5
59800516	Hypothetical protein NGO0049	NGO0049	19	19.21	4
59800681	Hypothetical protein NGO0228	NGO0228	17.3	34.38	4
59801416	Hypothetical protein NGO1044	NGO1044	16.7	37.57	5
59801437	MafA adhesin protein	mafA1, NGO1067;, mafA4, NGO1972	15.8	16.25	4
59802361	Hypothetical protein NGO2054	NGO2054	15.5	50	4
59800647	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein, polyamine	NGO0192	14.7	8.14	3
59801557	Hypothetical protein NGO1197	NGO1197	14.5	10.58	6
59800807	DEAD/DEAH box helicase	NGO0363	13.6	10.17	6
59800678	MafB-like protein	NGO0225	11.5	7.32	4
59802292	Hypothetical protein NGO1984	NGO1984	8.5	20.83	3
59800478	Leucyl-trna synthetase	leuS, NGO0006	8.4	2.96	2
59801181	Hypothetical protein NGO0766	NGO0766	7.8	5.86	3
59800733	Hypothetical protein NGO0284	NGO0284	7.3	18.71	3
59801141	Phage associated protein	scpA, NGO0721	6.8	11.28	4
59800711	GTP-binding protein Era	era, NGO0260	6.3	9.32	3
59801117	Hypothetical protein NGO0690	NGO0690	4.5	14.75	2
59801075	Hypothetical protein NGO0648	NGO0648	3	18.48	3
59801731	Hypothetical protein NGO1383	NGO1383	2.9	14.4	1
59801918	Hypothetical protein NGO1590	NGO1590	2.6	13.64	1

# Chapter 4

Dissecting the signal of lipoprotein sorting and function of BON domains in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipoprotein NGO1985

Igor H. Wierzbicki

### Abstract

NGO1985 is an outer membrane, surface exposed lipoprotein of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae involved in maintaining cell envelope integrity, is important for bacterial antibiotic resistance, survival in the animal model of infection, and was proposed as a vaccine development candidate. NGO1985 is composed of a signal peptide, containing a lipobox motif and two BON domains, which contain conserved glycine residues of unknown function and are hypothesized to have a role in membrane binding through interaction with phospholipids. Current knowledge regarding lipoprotein sorting signals to either inner or outer membrane in N. gonorrhoeae, as well as the general function of BON domains and their conserved residues is limited. In this work we expand our understanding of the amino acid components involved in NGO1985 protein localization and function. We demonstrated that NGO1985 does not undergo lipoprotein sorting according to the +2 residue of the lipobox motif as characterized for *Escherichia coli*. However, mutation of the NGO1985 lipobox +2 from phenylalanine to either aspartic acid or tyrosine negatively affected protein function, suggesting that this residue plays an important structural role. Analyses of BON domains have indicated that the presence of both BON domains in their native orientation is required for NGO1985 functionality and stability. Finally, site directed mutagenesis of the predicted conserved glycine residues of the NGO1985 BON domains have shown that these amino acids play an important role in protein stability. This study provides new insights into the sorting of lipoproteins in N. gonorrhoeae and addresses for the first time the importance of individual BON domains, their orientation, and their conserved residues in protein function.

### Introduction

Bacterial lipoproteins are a class of cell envelope proteins characterized by the presence of acyl groups covalently attached to the invariant cysteine residue during post-translational modification. The acyl moieties function as a membrane anchor for the soluble protein exposed to the aqueous environment (Kamalakkannan et al., 2004). This diverse group of proteins participates in various physiological roles, including cell envelope biogenesis, signal transduction, nutrient acquisition, adhesion, antibiotic resistance, and evasion of host defense mechanisms (reviewed by Kovacs-Simon et al., 2011). Lipoproteins are synthetized in the cytoplasm as pre-prolipoproteins with Nterminal signal peptides containing a characteristic lipobox motif with an invariant cysteine residue (von Heijne, 1989; Hayashi and Wu, 1990) (Fig. S4.1 A). Preprolipoproteins are translocated across the inner membrane by either the Sec or Tat translocon (Shruthi et al., 2010; Kudvam et al., 2013). On the periplasmic side of the inner membrane, lipoproteins undergo a maturation process. The first modification is catalyzed by the phosphatidylglycerol/prolipoprotein diacylglyceryl transferase (Lgt) which adds a diacylglycerol moiety to the sulfhydryl group of the lipobox cysteine side chain (Sankaran and Wu, 1994) (Fig. S4.1 A). Subsequently, the lipoprotein signal peptidase (LspA, signal peptidase II) cleaves off the amino acids of the signal peptide preceding the cysteine residue of the lipidated prolipoprotein (Tokunaga et al., 1982; Yamagata et al., 1983; Dev and Ray, 1984) (Fig. S4.1 A). After cleavage, the cysteine of the lipobox becomes the new N-terminus of the nascent apolipoprotein and therefore it is referred to as the +1 (Inouye et al., 1983). Finally, the phospholipid/apolipoprotein transacylase (Lnt) attaches a third acyl chain to the free amino group of the cysteine (Gupta and Wu, 1991; Gupta et al., 1993) (Fig. S4.1 A). Mature lipoproteins are either transported to the outer membrane by the Lol pathway or remain attached to the inner membrane (Fig. S4.1 B). Export to the outer membrane begins with extraction of the lipoprotein from the inner membrane by the LolCDE complex, followed by coupling the released protein with the periplasmic chaperone LolA (Matsuyama et al., 1995; Yakushi et al., 2000). The LolA-cargo complex is recognized by the outer membrane acceptor protein LolB and the delivered lipoprotein is released while LolA is recycled to the LolCDE complex (Matsuyama et al., 1997). According to the dogma, in *Escherichia coli*, lipoproteins destined for the inner membrane contain an aspartic acid residue in the +2 position of the mature protein, which functions as a Lol avoidance signal, otherwise known as the +2 rule (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 1988). This sorting mechanism tends to be conserved among enterobacteria; however, it was shown not to apply to other bacterial families and species (reviewed by Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015).

NGO1985 is a surface exposed outer membrane lipoprotein of N. gonorrhoeae and a new gonorrhea vaccine candidate (Chapter 3). This protein was found to be crucial for virulence in the estradiol-treated female BALB/c mice model of N. gonorrhoeae infection. Functional analyses indicated that NGO1985 is involved in maintaining cell envelope integrity, possibly as a novel component of the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex. Despite its importance during infection and cell envelope integrity, the precise function and mechanism of action remains unknown. NGO1985 domain architecture include a signal peptide containing a lipobox motif with an invariant cysteine (+1) followed by a phenylalanine residue (+2), and two BON domains. BON stands for "bacterial OsmY and nodulation", and this conserved protein region has been identified in the bacterial osmotic-shock-resistance protein OsmY, hemolysis, nodulation specificity, secretory channels, putative regulatory proteins, and a group of proteins with unknown function (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). BON domains contain several hydrophobic regions and a conserved glycine residue with a currently undefined role. This amino acid organization suggests a binding or structural role of these domains (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). Present understanding of BON domain function comes mainly from E. coli OsmY protein studies. Based on the hypothesis, which was never experimentally verified, these domains bind to phospholipids surrounding the periplasmic space of the cell envelope.

Lipoprotein amino acid membrane localization signals in *Neisseria* species, as well as the role and function of BON domains remain underexplored fields of study. In the current work, we utilized NGO1985 as a tool for gaining insight into the +2 rule of lipoprotein sorting in *N. gonorrhoeae* and the involvement of individual BON domains and their predicted conserved glycine residues for protein function.

### Materials and methods

**Bacterial strains and growth conditions.** Bacterial strains used in this study are listed in the Table 4.1. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains were cultured on gonococcal base solid medium (GCB, Difco), or in gonococcal base liquid (GCBL) medium. Kellogg's supplement I and II, were used in 1:100 and 1:1000 ratios, respectively (Spence *et al.*, 2008). GCBL was additionally supplemented with sodium bicarbonate (final concentration 0.042%). Gonococci were grown on solid medium for 18-22 h at 37 °C with 5% atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. Piliated or non-piliated variants were propagated on fresh GCB and incubated for 18-22 h. Piliated bacteria were used for DNA transformation, while colonies with non-piliated morphology were used in all other experiments. *Escherichia coli* was grown on Luria-Bertani agar (LBA, Difco) or in Luria-Bertani broth (LB, Difco) at 37 °C.

Concentrations of isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) were used as indicated: for *N. gonorrhoeae*: 40 or 1000  $\mu$ M (specified in the text); for *E. coli*: 100  $\mu$ M. Antibiotics were used in the following concentrations: for *N. gonorrhoeae*: kanamycin 40  $\mu$ g/mL, erythromycin 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL; ceftriaxone 0.0009 or 0.0015  $\mu$ g/mL (specified in the text); for *E. coli*: kanamycin 50  $\mu$ g/mL, erythromycin 250  $\mu$ g/mL.

**Genetic manipulations.** Plasmids and primers used in this study are listed in Table 4.2. Oligonucleotides were designed based on the genomic sequence of *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 (NC\_002946) using SnapGene software version 2.8 (GSL Biotech LLC) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies. Genomic DNA of *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 was isolated with the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega). PCR products and plasmid DNA were purified using QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN). PCR reactions were performed using chromosomal or plasmid DNA as template, appropriate oligonucleotides, and Q5® High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (NEB). *E. coli* MC1061 was used as the host during molecular cloning procedures. All obtained constructs were verified by Sanger Sequencing at the Center for Genome Research and Biocomputing (CGRB) at Oregon State University. Transformation of *N. gonorrhoeae* was performed as described previously (Zielke *et al.*, 2014).

The  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant strains expressing ngo1985 bearing mutations in position +2 of the lipobox (phenylalanine 24) or alanine substitutions in conserved glycine residues (91 and 169) were performed using pUC18-NGO1985 vector as template, proper primer pairs (Table 4.2), and Q5 Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (NEB), according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Subsequently, variants of ngo1985 with the desired mutations were amplified with NGO1985-RBS-F and NGO1985-RBS-R primers, and 643 bp products treated with FseI were cloned into ScaI/FseI digested pGCC4 vectors. Obtained constructs were introduced into the FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985$  background as described above. After transformation, gonococci were selected on solid medium with 0.5 µg/mL erythromycin and verified by PCR with primers pGCC4-Ver-F and pGCC4-Ver-R.

Strains carrying  $ngo1985 \Delta BON1$ ,  $\Delta BON1$ , or  $BON2 \leftrightarrow 1$  were generated as indicated in the following steps. The Gibson Assembly method (Gibson *et al.*, 2009) was used to create  $\Delta BON1$ ,  $\Delta BON1$ , or  $BON2 \leftrightarrow 1$  variants of NGO1985. Individual variants were amplified with primer pairs BON1-F1/BON1-R1, BON1-F2/BON1-R2; BON2-F1/BON2-R1, BON2-F2/BON2-R2; and BON21-F1/BON21-R1, BON21-F2/BON21-R2, BON21-F3/BON21-R3, and BON21-F4/BON21-R4. NEBuilder HiFi DNA Assembly Master Mix (NEB) was used to ligate individual components according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Subsequently, the product were used as a DNA template for amplification of individual NGO1985 variants with NGO1985-RBS-F and NGO1985-RBS-R primers. Obtained PCR products were introduced into the pGCC4 and introduced into the  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain as described above.

**Ceftriaxone sensitivity assay.** Strains of *N. gonorrhoeae* ( as indicated in the text) were collected from plates, suspended in GCBL to optical density (OD<sub>600</sub>) of 0.1, and incubated at 37 °C with aeration (220 r.p.m.) for 3 h. Following incubation, bacteria were diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2, serially diluted, and plated on GCB supplemented with IPTG, with or without ceftriaxone. Following 22 h of incubation, Colony Forming Units (CFUs) were scored and bacterial relative viability was calculated as a ratio of CFUs/mL on GCB plates with ceftriaxone to CFUs/mL on plates without the antibiotic. Experiments were performed in three independent biological replicates and mean values and SEMs are presented.

**Immunodots.** Cells of *N. gonorrhoeae* collected from plates were suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1. Overnight culutres of *E. coli* were back diluted 1:100 in LB. Both GCBL and LB broth were supplemented with 40 and 100  $\mu$ M IPTG, respectively. Following 3 h of incubation with shaking (220 r.p.m.) at 37 °C, cells were harvested by centrifugation (10 min at 4,000 × *g*), and suspended in media to OD<sub>600</sub> of 2.0. Bacterial suspensions were (5  $\mu$ L) spotted on 0.45  $\mu$ m nitrocellulose membrane (GE Life Sciences), allowed to air dry for 30 min, and subjected to immunoblotting as described below.

**SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.** *N. gonorrhoeae* whole cell lysates were collected from GCB after 22 h of growth. *E. coli* cell lysates were collected from LB agar plates after overnight incubation. Samples normalized based on  $OD_{600}$  values were prepared in SDS sample buffer in the presence of 50 mM dithiothreitol and resolved on 15% Tris-Glycine gels. Following separation, proteins were either visualized by Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 or transferred onto 0.2 µm nitrocellulose membrane (GE Life Sciences) using a Trans-Blot Turbo (Bio-Rad). A 5% milk solution in phosphate buffered saline pH 8.0 (PBS, Li-Core, Lincoln, NE) supplemented with Tween 20 at final concentration of 0.1 % (PBST) was used for blocking. After 1 h of incubation, polyclonal rabbit anti-NGO1985 antisera diluted 1:10,000 in 5% milk was added, Goat anti-rabbit IgG antiserum conjugated with horseradish peroxidase secondary antibodies (BioRad) were used at 1:10,000 dilution. Western blots were developed and visualized with Clarity Western ECL-Substrate (BioRad) and a Chemi-Doc<sup>TM</sup> MP System (BioRad).

**Statistical analyses.** Statistically significant differences among experimental results were determined by GraphPad Prism's build-in t-test. A 95% confidence level was used for all analyses.

### Results

NGO1985 protein architecture and conserved residues of BON domains. NGO1985 is a relatively small (202 amino acids) surface exposed lipoprotein involved in homeostasis of N. gonorrhoeae cell envelopes (Chapter 3). Based on predictions (SignalP 4.1 Server; http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP/), this protein is composed of an initial 25 amino acid signal peptide containing a lipobox motif, and two BON (Bacterial OsmY and Nodulation) domains (Fig. 4.1). The NGO1985 lipobox contains an invariant for lipoproteins cysteine residue (position +1; C23) which is followed by phenylalanine (position +2; F24). Cysteine is essential for lipoprotein maturation and lipidation, and in the case of NGO1985, it was shown to be essential for protein surface localization (Chapter 3, Fig. 3.1 K). BON domains are on average 60 amino acids in length with a single invariant glycine (Gly, G) of unknown function (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). In NGO1985, BON domain 1 and 2 span residues 58 to 123 (46 amino acids) and 138 to 195 (56 amino acids), and contain five and four glycine residues, respectively. To identify the conserved glycines, individual BON domains of NGO1985 and several other BON-containing proteins, including E. coli OsmY and YraP, were aligned (Fig. 4.2S). Based on this analysis we have concluded that G91 and G169 are the conserved residues of BON domain 1 and 2 of NGO1985, respectively.

Mutation of lipobox +2 Phe into Asp affects NGO1985 function but not sorting to the outer membrane. Residues following the lipobox invariant cysteine have been shown to be important for determining lipoprotein localization to either the inner or outer membrane. In *E. coli*, the aspartate residue (Asp, D) in position +2, as well as Asp, glutamate (Glu, E), or glutamine (Gln, Q) in position +3 serve as retention signals for lipoproteins to the inner membrane (Yamaguchi, *et al.*, 1988; Gennity and Inouye, 1991; Seydel *et al.*, 1999). However, this dogma does not apply to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Borrelia* species (Narita and Tokuda, 2007; Lewenza *et al.*, 2008; Schulze and Zuckert, 2006). To determine if sorting of NGO1985 to the proper cell envelope compartment depends on position +2 of the lipobox, site directed mutagenesis was applied. The phenylalanine (F24) adjacent to the cysteine 23 was changed into an Asp, valine (Val, V), or tyrosine (Tyr, Y). NGO1985 and its homologue from *N. meningitidis*, GNA2091, display remarkable homology with only 7 divergent amino acids, including value in the +2 position of the lipobox. Our previous studies have shown that these two proteins function interchangeably between the two species, indicating that the variable amino acid residues do not interfere with their function and, presumably, localization. Tyrosine substitution of phenylalanine was chosen as an additional mutation due to the similarity of amino acid side chain shape. The lipobox +2 variants (F24D, F24V, F24Y) of NGO1985 were placed under an IPTG-inducible promoter and introduced into the N. gonorrhoeae FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985$  background. NGO1985 should be only functional in maintaining cell envelope integrity when it is localized to the surface of the outer membrane. To test if mutations within the +2 position of NGO1985 lipobox will have adverse effect on the antibiotic susceptibility of N. gonorrhoeae, the wild type (wt), an isogenic  $\Delta ngo1985$ mutant, and  $\Delta ngo 1985$  expressing either native or F24D, F24V, and F24Y variants of NGO1985 were exposed to increasing levels of ceftriaxone in solid medium. In the presence of low antibiotic concentrations (0.0009  $\mu$ g/mL), the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant displayed 59.96%  $\pm$  13.08 SEM relative viability, while wt and complemented mutants did not have any growth defect (Fig. 4.2 A). The presence of  $0.0015 \,\mu$ g/mL ceftriaxone caused a further growth defect in the ngo1985 deletion mutant (0.3%  $\pm$  0.08 SEM relative viability) but no significant loss of viability was observed in wt or  $\Delta ngo1985$ strains expressing either the native or F24V variant of NGO1985. In contrast, the mutants expressing NGO1985 F24D or F24Y had 12.83%  $\pm$  3.02 SEM and 50.49%  $\pm$ 2.97 survival rate during non-permissive conditions, respectively. These results indicated that the aspartate and tyrosine +2 mutants partially retained their function.

To determine if the observed decrease in viability of the F24D and F24Y mutants were related to the decreased protein stability, whole cell lysates of bacteria collected from solid media with and without 40  $\mu$ M IPTG were subjected to immunoblotting with anti-NGO1985 antisera. No apparent difference in NGO1985 abundance between  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains expressing wt or mutated protein variants was observed (Fig. 4.2 B). To examine whether introduction of aspartate in place of phenylalanine caused retention of NGO1985 in the bacterial inner membrane, the surface exposure of NGO1985 F24D was assessed by immunodotting. Intact cells of wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ ,  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985, and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 F24D grown in

liquid media supplemented with IPTG were spotted onto nitrocellulose membrane and probed with antibodies against NGO1985. NGO1985 F24D was identified on the gonococcal cell surface similarly as the wt protein (Fig. 4.2 C). Collectively, our data showed that substitution of NGO1985 F24 to either D or Y, but not V, affected protein function. However, the observed defect in the maintenance of cell envelope integrity was not due to decreased protein abundance and transport to the cell surface.

To examine transport of NGO1985 to the cell surface of *E. coli* and to test whether F24D mutations could interfere with that process, plasmids with either wt or the F24D mutant NGO1985 placed under IPTG-inducible promoters were introduced into *E. coli* MC1061. As control, MC1061 carrying an empty vector was also utilized. Whole cell lysates derived from the obtained *E. coli* strains were analyzed for NGO1985 expression by western blotting. Wt NGO1985 was detected as two protein bands of approximately 21 and 19 kDa, corresponding to the pre-prolipoprotein and mature lipoprotein, respectively (Fig. 4.2 D). The NGO1985 F24D variant was detected solely as a 19 kDa protein band which corresponds to mature protein. A subsequent immunodot experiment indicated that both NGO1985 lipobox mutants were detected on the surface of intact *E. coli* cells. These results show that aspartate in position +2 of NGO1985 does not function as an inner membrane retention signal in either *N. gonorrhoeae* or *E. coli*.

**Presence of BON domains and their native order are essential for NGO1985 function.** BON domains are hypothesized to bind phospholipid interfaces in the periplasmic space (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). This mechanism was proposed based on the function of *E. coli* OsmY protein, which, similarly to NGO1985, contains two BON domains. However, studies validating these or other binding properties of individual BON domains were never conducted. Moreover, because NGO1985 have been shown to localize to the surface of the *N. gonorrhoeae* cell (Chapter 3, Fig. 3.1 E-H) as well as interact with the BAM complex (Chapter 3, Fig. 3.6 D and G, Table S3.3), the individual BON domains could be associated with different roles. To investigate the importance of individual BON domains on NGO1985 function,  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains expressing NGO1985 with either of the BON domains deleted ( $\Delta$ BON1 and  $\Delta$ BON2), as well as NGO1985 with the BON domains interchanged (BON2 $\leftrightarrow$ 1) were generated. The survival of wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ , the complemented strain, and the BON domain mutants was examined on solid media supplemented with ceftriaxone. Introduction of either  $\Delta BON1$ ,  $\Delta BON2$ , or the BON2 $\leftrightarrow$ 1 variant of NGO1985 failed to rescue the ceftriaxone sensitivity phenotype of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant (Fig. 4.3. A). The NGO1985  $\Delta BON1$ variant (predicted migration ~14.5 kDa) was detected at a similar level as the native NGO1985 (Fig. 4.3 B). In contrast, no protein band was detected for the NGO1985  $\Delta BON2$  construct (at expected migration ~13.5 kDa). The NGO1985 BON2 $\leftrightarrow$ 1 migrated as three protein bands, all of which were low in abundance, suggesting that the protein was prone to degradation (Fig. 4.3 B). In conclusion, these results revealed that the presence of both BON domains was indispensable for the function of NGO1985 in maintaining cell envelope integrity. Additionally, the native order of these domains was vital for proper protein folding and stability.

Conserved glycine residues in BON domains are crucial for NGO1985 stability. Amino acid alignment of BON domains from various bacterial species revealed the existence of an invariant glycine residue (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). The implication of these residues in the function of BON domain-containing proteins was never experimentally examined. To examine if predicted conserved glycine residues G91 and G169 of NGO1985 BON domains 1 and 2, respectively, play a role in proper protein function, site directed mutagenesis was used. The G91A and G169A versions of NGO1985 were obtained and introduced under the  $P_{lac}$  promoter into the chromosome of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  knockout. Subsequently, obtained strains were tested for cell envelope integrity defects using a ceftriaxone viability experiment. At the 0.0009 ng/mL concentration of the antibiotic,  $\Delta ngo1985$  and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 G91A displayed similar decreases in viability (59.96%  $\pm$  13.08 SEM and 65.13%  $\pm$  10.12 SEM relative viability, respectively), while growth of strains expressing wt and the G169A variant was not significantly affected (Fig. 4.4 A). Concentrations of 0.0015 ng/mL ceftriaxone caused further, decreases in viability of the  $\Delta ngo1985$  and  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 G91A strains (0.3% ± 0.08 SEM and 1.69% ± 0.59 SEM relative viability, respectively), as well as a significant growth defect in  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 G169A (33.15% ± 8.84 SEM relative viability) (Fig. 4.4 A).

These results revealed that both G91 and G169 residues were important for NGO1985 function. To examine potential changes in the abundance of the mutated proteins, western blot analysis of wt FA1090 and NGO1985 mutants was performed. The NGO1985 G169A level was lower than in the cells expressing wt protein, while NGO1985 G91A was not detected at all (Fig. 4.4 B). Elevating the IPTG induction level to 1000  $\mu$ M allowed for detection of the NGO1985 G91A, although still at dramatically low abundance (Fig. 4.4 C). These results suggested that the lack or partial reversion of the antibiotic susceptibility phenotype of  $\Delta ngo1985$  by NGO1985 G91A and G169A, respectively, is caused by the decreased stability of these mutated proteins.

Finally, the stability of NGO1985 variants with glycine mutations in the BON domains was assessed in the heterologous *E. coli* MC1061 host strain. Whole cell lysates of MC1061 bearing vector expressing wt, G91A, and G169A mutants of NGO1985, as well as empty vector as a control, were analyzed for NGO1985 abundance. Similarly, as in *N. gonorrhoeae*, substantially lower levels of NGO1985 G169A were detected in comparison to the wt protein while G91A was not detected (Fig. 4.4 D).

In conclusion, conserved glycine residues G91 and G169 of NGO1985 BON domains are involved in maintaining protein stability and therefore are crucial for the function of NGO1985 in maintaining cell envelope integrity.

### Discussion

NGO1985 of N. gonorrhoeae is a BON domain containing outer membrane surface exposed lipoprotein, which participates in cell envelope biogenesis through potential interaction with the BAM complex (Chapter 3). In E. coli, lipoproteins directed to either the inner or outer membrane can be distinguished based on their amino acid residue following the cysteine (+1) of the lipobox motif. As presidue in position +2 of the lipobox motif functions as a Lol avoidance signal, resulting in retention of the lipoprotein in the inner membrane. The lipobox +2 sorting rule was shown to be conserved among enteric bacteria (Lewenza et al., 2006). However, representatives of other bacteria, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Borrelia* species, do not follow this rule (Narita and Tokuda, 2007; Lewenza et al., 2008; Schulze and Zuckert, 2006). We have tested whether an artificially introduced Asp residue in the +2 position of NGO1985 would function as an inner membrane retention signal (Fig. 4.1). Our results showed that the NGO1985 F24D was expressed at a similar level as the wt protein, and, despite the introduced Asp mutation, it was detected on the surface of N. gonorrhoeae cells (Fig. 4.2 B and C). Moreover, when expressed in the heterologous E. coli MC1061 host, both wt and the F24D variant of NGO1985 were also identified on the cell surface (Fig. 4.2 E). Immunoblotting analysis of NGO1985 variants expressed in *E. coli* showed that wt protein was detected in two forms, possibly corresponding to pre-prolipoprotein and mature lipoprotein, while the F24D mutant was detected solely in the mature form (Fig. 4.2 D). These results suggest that the inner membrane proteins and Lol machinery of E. coli recognized and processed this gonococcal lipoprotein. Existence of two forms of NGO1985 in the heterologous host suggests that the maturation process is not as efficient in E. coli. However, the reason NGO1985 F24D was more efficiently processed and exported to the outer membrane by *E. coli* remains puzzling.

Although NGO1985 carrying the F24D mutation was detected on the gonococcal surface, expression of this variant of the protein failed to fully rescue the antibiotic susceptibility of the FA1090  $\Delta ngo1985$  strain (Fig. 4.2 A). Moreover, mutation of the +2 F24Y also partially abolished the NGO1985 function. A possible explanation for our observed results could be that the side chains of the introduced

amino acids affect the steric interaction between NGO1985 and components of the cell envelope. The phenotype of the Asp residue substitution could be additionally explained by the chemical properties of its side chain. The negative charge of Asp located immediately to the lipid anchor of the NGO1985 might interact with negatively charged phosphate groups of the lipooligosaccharide in the outer leaflet of the outer membrane. This could result in electrostatic repulsion of NGO1985 from the cell envelope, thereby abolishing its interaction with other proteins and function.

The role and function of BON domains in bacterial physiology remains a relatively underexplored field. Most of the current knowledge regarding conserved residues and function of these domains is based on computer modeling and predictions (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). The phospholipid-binding mechanism of BON domains was proposed based on the role of *E. coli* OsmY protein in resistance to inner membrane shrinkage during osmotic shock (Liechty et al., 2000; Oh et al., 2000; Yeats and Bateman, 2003). According to this model, one BON domain binds the phospholipid layer of the inner membrane while the other binds phospholipids of the inner leaflet of the outer membrane. However, this association was never experimentally validated. Moreover, this model assumes the necessity of two BON domains, while different proteins among various bacterial species tend to have between one to three tandemly repeated copies (Yeats and Bateman, 2003). Because NGO1985 is a surface exposed protein and the Gram-negative outer leaflet of the outer membrane is composed predominantly of lipopolysaccharide/lipooligosaccharide (LPS/LOS), the binding of phospholipid by this protein is not likely. This suggests that BON function might be much more complex than solely phospholipid binding. In our work we have found that deletion of either of the two BON domains, as well as their rearrangement results in complete abolishment of NGO1985 function (Fig. 4.3 A). The  $\Delta$ BON1 variant of NGO1985 was detected by immunoblotting to migrate accordingly to the predicted mass (~14.5 kDa) and its abundance was similar to the wt protein (Fig. 4.3 B). In contrast, the NGO1985 ABON2 construct, which was predicted to migrate at ~13.5 kDa, was not detected at all, while three low abundance forms of NGO1985 BON2↔1 were observed. Absence of BON domain 2 or its mislocalization could affect the protein stability, ultimately leading to the degradation of NGO1985. In our study we
have used polyclonal rabbit anti-NGO1985 antisera. It is possible that our antibodies recognize epitopes outside the BON domain 2 region, which could provide additional explanation why NGO1985  $\Delta$ BON2 was not detected during immunoblotting. Further, for the first time we have addressed in our work the importance of predicted conserved glycine residues of BON domains. Bacteria expressing either of the G91A or G169A NGO1985 variants had decreased levels of detected protein, and as a result they displayed a growth defect on solid media supplemented with ceftriaxone (Fig. 4.4 A, B, and C). Subsequent analysis of NGO1985 G91A and G169A expressed in *E. coli* showed a similar decrease in protein abundance, further suggesting that the conserved glycine residues are crucial for NGO1985 protein stability (Fig. 4.4 A).

In conclusion, we report that the *N. gonorrhoeae* outer membrane lipoprotein NGO1985 does not follow the +2 lipoprotein sorting rule; however, phenylalanine in position +2 of the lipobox is potentially important for proper protein topology or interaction with cell envelope components. Both of the NGO1985 BON domains are indispensable for protein function in maintaining cell envelope integrity, as is the native orientation of the two domains. Finally, conserved glycine residues of NGO1985 BON domains are crucial structural components maintaining the stability of the protein.



**Figure 4.1. Predicted domain organization and characteristic features of NGO1985.** Features of NGO1985 are indicated: SP – signal peptide, LALGGCF – lipobox motif, BON1 and 2 - bacterial OsmY and nodulation domain 1 (aa 58-123) and 2 (aa 138-195), G91 and G169 – invariant glycine residues of BON domain 1 and 2, respectively. Different constructs with indicated point mutations, deletions, and rearranged domains used in the current study are presented.



Figure 4.2. Aspartate in lipobox +2 position does not direct NGO1985 to the inner

**membrane.** (A) *N. gonorrhoeae* strains indicated in the text were collected from solid media supplemented with 40  $\mu$ M IPTG and suspended in liquid media to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1. Bacteria were cultured for 3 h, back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2, serially diluted, and spotted on solid media supplemented with IPTG with or without ceftriaxone. On the following day, CFUs were scored and relative viabilities were calculated. Graphs present average values and SEM of three independent experiments. Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) are indicated with (\*). (B) Whole cell lysates of strains specified in the text were normalized by equivalent OD<sub>600</sub> units, resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (C) Gonococcal isolates were collected from GCB with 40  $\mu$ M IPTG, suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, and cultured for 3 h. Bacteria were then harvested, suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 2.0, spotted on nitrocellulose and probed with antibodies against NGO1985. (D)

Whole cell lysates of *E. coli* MC1061 bearing pGCC4, pGCC4-NGO1985, or pGCC4-NGO1985 F24D plasmids, collected from LB agar plates, were normalized based on  $OD_{600}$  values, resolved on a 15% gel, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antibodies. (E) *E. coli* overnight cultures were back diluted 1:100 in fresh media with IPTG and incubated for 3 h. Cells were harvested, suspended in LB broth to  $OD_{600}$  of 2.0, spotted on nitrocellulose and probed with antibodies against NGO1985. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left.



Figure 4.3. Presence of individual BON domains and their order is crucial for NGO1985 function. (A) Wt FA1090 and indicated mutants were collected from GCB supplemented with 40  $\mu$ M IPTG, suspended in GCBL to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.1, incubated for 3 h, back-diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.2, serially diluted, and spotted on solid media supplemented with IPTG and either with or without ceftriaxone. CFUs were scored and relative viabilities were calculated the following day. Average values and SEM are presented (*n*=3). Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) are indicated with (\*). (B) Bacterial whole cell lysates, normalized by equivalent OD<sub>600</sub> units, were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane, and probed with anti-NGO1985 antibodies. Migration of a molecular mass marker (kDa) is indicated on the left.



Figure 4.4. Conserved glycine residues of NGO1985 BON domains are pi for protein stability. (A) FA1090 wt,  $\Delta ngo1985$ , and  $\Delta ngo1985$  strains expressing either wt or mutated variants of NGO1985 were collected from GCB, suspended in GCBL to  $OD_{600}$  of 0.1 and incubated for 3 h. Subsequently, strains were back diluted to  $OD_{600}$ of 0.2, serially diluted, and spotted for CFU scoring on GCB with IPTG and either supplemented or not with ceftriaxone. Relative viability values were calculated based on the CFU numbers the following day. Average values and SEM of three independent experiments are presented. (B) Whole cell lysates of N. gonorrhoeae isolates indicated in the text, normalized based on OD<sub>600</sub> values, were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane and probed with antibodies against NGO1985. (C)  $\Delta ngo1985/P_{lac}$ ::ngo1985 G91A and G169A mutants were collected either from plates without or supplemented with 1000 µM IPTG. Whole cell lysates, loaded based on OD<sub>600</sub> were resolved on 15% gel and subjected to immunoblotting with anti-NGO1985 antisera. (D) Equal amounts of whole cell lysates of E. coli MC1061 strains, described in the text, were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-NGO1985 antibodies.

Bacterial strain	Reference
N. gonorrhoeae	
FA1090	Connell et al., 1988
FA1090 Δngo1985	Zielke et al., 2014
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985	Zielke et al., 2014
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 F24D	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 F24V	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 F24Y	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 ΔBON1	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 ΔBON2	This study
FA1090 ∆ngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 BON2↔1	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 G91A	This study
FA1090 Δngo1985/P <sub>lac</sub> ::ngo1985 G169A	This study
E. coli	
MC1061	Casadaban and Cohen, 1980

Table 4.1. Bacterial strains used in this study.

Plasmid Name	Reference
pGCC4	Skaar <i>et al.</i> , 2002
pUC18-NGO1985	Chapter 3
pUC18-NGO1985 F24D	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 F24V	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 F24Y	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 G91A	This study
pUC18-NGO1985 G169A	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 F24D	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 F24V	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 F24Y	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 ∆BON1	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 ∆BON2	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 BON2↔1	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 G91A	This study
pGCC4-NGO1985 G169A	This study
Oligonucleotide	Sequence <sup>1</sup>
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n	Sequence <sup>1</sup> nutagenesis:
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n F24D-F	Sequence <sup>1</sup> nutagenesis: CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n F24D-F F24D-R	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCCGAGG
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed n F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-F	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24V-R F24Y-R F24Y-R	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-F F24Y-F F24Y-R G91A-F	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-F F24Y-R G91A-F G91A-R	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCGCAGGC         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-F F24Y-F G91A-F G91A-F G169A-F	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCGCAGTC         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-F F24Y-R G91A-F G91A-F G169A-F G169A-R	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGTC         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC         GGTTACATTGCCGTAGGTAATG
OligonucleotidePrimers used for site directed mF24D-FF24D-RF24V-FF24V-FF24Y-FF24Y-FG91A-FG169A-FG169A-RPrimers used for deletion and e	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCGCAGTC         GGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC         GGTTACATTGCCGTAGGTAATG
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24Y-R G91A-F G91A-F G169A-F G169A-R Primers used for deletion and e BON1-F1	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCAGCGCAGTC         GGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC         GGTTACATTGCCGTAGGTAATG         exchanging of BON domains:         CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC
OligonucleotidePrimers used for site directed mF24D-FF24D-RF24V-FF24V-FF24Y-FF24Y-RG91A-FG169A-FG169A-RPrimers used for deletion and eBON1-F1BON1-R1	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGTCGCGACGCGCGAGG         CGGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC         GGTTACATTGCCGTAGGTAATG         exchanging of BON domains:         CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC         CGCGGCAGTTGGGGGCGTGTAGCCTTT
Oligonucleotide Primers used for site directed m F24D-F F24D-R F24V-F F24V-R F24V-R F24Y-R G91A-F G91A-F G169A-F G169A-R Primers used for deletion and e BON1-F1 BON1-F1 BON1-F2	Sequence1         nutagenesis:         CCTCGGCGGCTGCGACAGCGCAGTCGTC         GACGACTGCGCTGCGCAGCGCAGTC         GGCGGCTGCGTCAGCGCAGT         AGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         GGCGGCTGCTACAGCGCAGTC         GAGGGCAAGGCTGAGGACGG         CTGCTGCTCGCACAAGTCGCC         CAGGTGGCGGTTGTAGCC         TACGTTATGGCCATCCTCACCC         GGTTACATTGCCGTAGGTAATG         exchanging of BON domains:         CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC         CGCGGCAGTTGTGGGGCGTGTAGCCTTT         CGCCGAACTGCCGCGCACTGCGGGGC

Table 4.2. Plasmids and oligonucleotides used in this study.

BON2-F1CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCCCBON2-R1TAGAGGGTGTTCCAAGTGTCGCCGGC

CTTGGAACACCCTCTACCAAAACTACGTCCAAC		
GGGCAGTGAGCGCAACGC		
CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC		
CTTTGGACGTTTGGGGGCGTGTAGCCTTT		
CACGCCCCAAACGTCCAAAGTCCGCGCC		
GCAGTGCGCGGCAGAATGACTTTTTGTACGCCGACGG		
AAAAGTCATTCTGCCGCGCACTGCGGGCGACATCGCCGG CGACACTTGGAACATCTCCGTCGTCGGCTAC		
GGTAGAGGGTGGAGGCGACGGTAATGTAG		
CGTCGCCTCCACCCTCTACCAAAACTACGTCCAAC		
GGGCAGTGAGCGCAACGC		
Primers used for complementation:		
CCCAAGAAAGGAAGTCCC		
AAGCTT <u>GGCCGGCC</u> TCAGCGTTGGACGTAGTT		
AAATCGCCCTTGATACCG		
ACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTC		

<sup>1</sup>Sequences recognized by restriction enzymes are underlined.



Supplementary Figure 4.1. E. coli lipoprotein maturation and sorting to the outeror inner-membrane. (A) The precursor of lipoprotein, pre-prolipoprotein, contains an *N*-terminal signal peptide with a lipobox consensus sequence [LVI][ASTVI][GAS]C. The first enzyme in the lipoprotein maturation pathway, phosphatidylglycerol/ prolipoprotein diacylglyceryl transferase (Lgt) attaches the diacylglyceryl moiety to the thiol group of the invariant cysteine in the lipobox. Following lipidation, lipoprotein signal peptidase (LspA) cleaves the signal peptide preceding the lipobox cysteine of the prolipoprotein. Finally, the phospholipid/apolipoprotein transacylase (Lnt) adds a third acyl chain to the free amino group of the apolipoprotein's lipidated cysteine. (B) Pre-prolipoprotein is synthesized in the cytoplasm and transported across the inner membrane by a Sec or Tat pathway. The immature lipoprotein, anchored to the inner membrane by the signal peptide undergoes processing by Lgt, LspA, and LntA. Unless the aspartate residue is in the position +2 of the lipobox (Lol avoidance signal), the mature lipoprotein is being recognized by LolCDE complex. Lipoprotein is then released and complexed with periplasmic chaperone LolA. The transported protein is received by the outer membrane acceptor LolB which inserts it into the outer membrane. Cargo-free LolA is recycled to the LolCDE.

Deinococcus radiodurans DR 0888 BON1	FGKSTADRVKDAFKANPVLAPLG <b>LEV</b> QESRGTVK <b>VTG</b> EVARQSQIGLINAVAGGIN <b>G</b> VKN <b>I</b> DVSGVTVLQ
Deinococcus radiodurans DR_0888 BON2	DTSRIAKAVLSAIRGNGELANNP $\mathbf{I}$ D $\mathbf{V}$ LQSGNSVI $\mathbf{L}$ R $\mathbf{G}$ AVDSDHELRLAEQLARGVQ $\mathbf{G}$ VSG $\mathbf{V}$ DISGLRVAQ
Neisseria gonorrhoeae NG01985 BON1	MALRIETTARSYLRQNNQTKGYTPQISVVGYNRHLLLLGQVATEGEKQFVGQIARSEQAAEGVYNY-ITVAS
Rhizobium loti mll0899 BON	VDIEVTLDTDQLAS-TIRASVPDAK <b>IKV</b> GSANGRVV <b>LSG</b> EADDAVAAEKANKIATRFS <b>G</b> TEE <b>V</b> INS-VNISS
Escherichia coli YraP BON1	DDGTLEVRVNSALS-KDEQIKKEARINVTAYQGKVLLVGQSPNAELSARAKQIAMGVDGANEVYNE-IRQGQ
Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae Hly BON1	DDEVLEERVAYNLS-KDAQLKEEARINVVAYNGKVLLIGQAPTMSASESAKNLAAGAEGVTEIYNE-IRTGE
Streptomyces coelicolor SC07540 BON	DRAIRTEIIEEAL-VKALGLAPSS <b>VQV</b> DVAHGHVV <b>LSG</b> RLPAHVSAPLLEEHCRSVD <b>G</b> VVA <b>V</b> EFR-PAGEADAEG
Rhizobium meliloti SMa1153 BON3	NVVDVRHGIREALKRNAETEAENIDVEVSGSHVILHGKVQSLRARAMAERAAWSAPGVTAVEDR-LRIED
Rhizobium meliloti SMa1153 BON1	NDVRLRQDILDELE-YEPTIAANIGVAVEDGIVTLTGHVRSYAEKHAAERIAERVKGVRAIAEE-IDVRL
Deinococcus radiodurans DR 0392 BON	SDDRVKEAVSDA-L-EDADHVDAENIEVQVQNGEVTLTGTVSDRGQKRRAEECVEHLRGVKDVHNQ-LRVQQ
Rhizobium meliloti SMa1153 BON2	ADDEIAARVLKILA-WGAAISDPEDINVKVEKGFVTLNGTVDWHFQRSAAENSVRVLTGVTGIDNQ-LRIRP
Chlamydia pneumoniae CP 0034 BON	NKVVVETQMLKAIAGHLLQGGFANIHVAFVNGEVILTGYVNND-DAEKFRAVVQELSGIPGVRLV-KNFAVLLP-
Neisseria gonorrhoeae NG01985 BON2	TSKVRATLLGISPATQARVKIITYGNVTYVMGILTPEEQAQITQKVSTTV-GVQKVI
Escherichia coli YraP BON2	NDTWITTKVRSQLLTSDLVKSSN <b>VKV</b> TTENGEVF <b>LNG</b> LVT-EREAKAAADIASRVS <b>G</b> VKR <b>V</b> TTA-FTFIK
Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae Hly BON2	IDSWITTAIKSKLLANSEVKATE <b>V</b> K <b>V</b> ITENGEVF <b>LIG</b> KLS-PAQADAAAEVARNVR <b>G</b> VNK <b>V</b> IKV-INYVQ
Escherichia coli OsmY BON1	DDSAITAKVKAALVDHDNIKSTDISVKTDQKVVTLSGFVESQAQAEEAVKVAKGVEGVTSVSDK-LHVRD
Escherichia coli OsmY BON2	GDTATTSEIKAKILADDIVPSRHVKVETTDGVVQLSGTVDSQAQSDRAESIAKAVDGVKSVKND-LKTK
	· · · · ·

Supplementary Figure S4.2. Identification of NGO1985 BON domains conserved glycine residues. Individual BON domains of selected proteins belonging to different bacterial species were aligned using online multiple sequence alignment software, Clustal Omega (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/). BON domain numbering is in order of their appearance in the protein sequence, starting from the N-terminus of the proteins. Conserved glycine residues of individual BON domains are indicated as bold text in red color. Amino acids with similar characteristics are indicated in bold text.

# Chapter 5

Discussion and Conclusions

Igor H. Wierzbicki

## Overview

The sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea, caused by the Gram-negative obligate human pathogen *N. gonorrhoeae*, has a long recorded history and to this day remains a health and economic burden worldwide. In the United States gonorrhea is the second most commonly reported disease, and it is estimated that annually there are over 78 million new cases of gonococcal infections worldwide (Newman *et al.*, 2015). The symptoms of the disease are usually mild or absent ( $\geq$ 50% of women;  $\leq$ 10% of men); however, untreated gonorrhea can lead to devastating and permanent health consequences among adolescents and neonates. Prolonged *N. gonorrhoeae* infections cause reproductive system damage ultimately leading to infertility and sterility. Newborns delivered by diseased mothers are at high risk of conjunctivitis which can result in corneal scarring and blindness. Moreover, patients with gonorrhea tend to have an increased risk of acquisition and transmission of HIV (Workowski and Levine, 2002).

Among major obstacles in the eradication of this human-specific disease are the constant emerging of antibiotic resistant strains and absence of a protective vaccine. Available treatment options have become limited to dual therapy with extended spectrum cephalosporins, ceftriaxone or cefixime, and the macrolide antibiotic azithromycin (World Health Organization, 2016). However, given the speed of antibiotic resistance determinant acquisition by gonococcus as well as the high cost of treatment, it is believed that these antibiotic regiments will not be long lasting solutions (Unemo *et al.*, 2016).

Development of a gonorrhea vaccine has been challenged in the past by phase and antigenic variation of the studied cell surface constituents and the lack of an adequate animal model for screening of potential vaccine antigens (relieved by Jerse *et al.*, 2014). The recent development of murine models for gonococcal infections allow study of the physiological function and testing of new vaccine candidates.

Due to the realistic possibility of untreatable gonorrhea in the near future, the World Health Organization and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention stressed the need for new pharmacological interventions including development of low cost antimicrobials with novel mode(s) of action as well as a protective vaccine(s) (World Health Organization, 2012; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). The work conducted and presented in this dissertation emphasizes the characterization and validation of two *N. gonorrhoeae* proteins, GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985, as a molecular target for novel antimicrobials and a potential vaccine antigen, respectively.

# GmhAGC involvement in physiology of Neisseria species

Over the last few decades, *N. gonorrhoeae* has successfully challenged the arsenal of known and available antimicrobial agents (reviewed by Unemo *et al.*, 2016). New combinatorial therapies and derivatives of available antibiotics are being developed to combat the threat of untreatable gonorrhea. However, since resistance to these compounds has already been established, it is just a matter of time until the bacteria will breach these new lines of defense. Indeed, the macrolide derivative solithromycin, which is undergoing Phase 3 clinical trials, has been shown to be less effective for gonococcal isolates with high-levels of resistance to azithromycin (Golparian *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, therapeutics affecting new physiological pathways as well as novel drug targets are of demand.

Nucleotide-activated-*glycero-manno*-heptoses are ubiquitously present in bacteria and are absent in eukaryotic organisms. Although heptose residues are mainly recognized as a component of the core oligosaccharide of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and lipooligosaccharides (LOS), they are also components of bacterial capsules, O-antigens, flagella, S-layer glycoproteins, and autotransporters (Valvano *et al.*, 2002; Lu *et al.*, 2015). In *N. gonorrhoeae*, free heptoses present in the extracellular milieu participate in induction of HIV-1 expression, therefore facilitating viral transmission (Malott *et al.*, 2013). The first enzyme in the nucleotide-activated heptose pathway, sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase, GmhA; appears as a promising target for development of new broad spectrum antibiotics (Brooke and Valvano, 1996). GmhA forms a homo-tetrameric complex catalyzing isomerization of D-sedoheptulose 7-phosphate into D-*glycero*- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -D-*manno*-heptose-7-phosphate (Eidels and Osborn, 1974; Taylor *et al.*, 2008). Abolished GmhA function in some of the studied bacteria was related to a pleiotropic phenotypes including production of shorter LPS/LOS composed only of lipid A and KDO residues, increased susceptibility to antibiotics,

defects in biofilm formation, and decreased virulence (Bauer *et al.*, 1998; Brooke and Valvano, 1996; Darby *et al.*, 2005; Aballay *et al.*, 2003). GmhA function was not essential for viability of the studied bacterial species, and therefore potential inhibitors could function as anti-virulence drugs, which are believed to undergo reduced selection for resistance (Allen *et al.*, 2014).

In Chapter 2, we characterized the role and the importance of GmhA for physiology of *N. gonorrhoeae* to validate its potential as a target for new gonorrhea therapeutics. Our experiments showed that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> encoded by the gene *ngo1986*, is indispensable for synthesis of full length LOS molecules (Fig. 2.1 B and C). However, in contrast to findings from other microorganisms GmhA<sub>GC</sub> was pivotal for gonococcal viability as bacteria depleted in this protein grew scarcely on solid media and their proliferation was halted in the liquid medium (Fig. 2.1 A, D, and E).

Site directed mutagenesis of the GmhA<sub>GC</sub> predicted catalytic residues (glutamic acid in position 65 and histidine in position 183) abolished LOS production, yet it did not affect bacterial growth (Fig. 2.4 A and B). These results provided further support for direct involvement of this protein in isomerization of D-sedoheptulose 7-phosphate. At the same time, we have determined that that full length LOS is not indispensable for proper gonococcal growth, and thus the role of GmhA in cell viability is disconnected from heptose synthesis. The reduced viability of bacteria depleted of GmhA was not limited to *N. gonorrhoeae* as a similar decrease in growth was observed for *N. meningitidis* (Fig. 2.5 B). Moreover, GmhA homologues of the two *Neisseria* species functioned interchangeably, rescuing proper LOS production and bacterial growth (Fig 2.5 A and B). In comparison, GmhA of *E. coli* was not able to functionally compensate for the lack of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>, as we could not generate viable *N. gonorrhoeae* expressing only the *E. coli* homologue. These results suggested a functional or structural difference(s) between GmhA from *Neisseria* species and other studied organisms.

This led us to the determination of the  $GmhA_{GC}$  three dimensional structure. Based on our initial purification of the recombinant protein utilizing size exclusion chromatography, we have deduced that  $GmhA_{GC}$  forms tetramers in solution (Fig. S2.1 A). Subsequent crystallization studies have verified our initial observation that indeed, similarly to known homologues,  $GmhA_{GC}$  is a homo-tetramer (Fig. 2.6 A). Crystal structure indicated that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> has the so-called "closed" conformation and contains four zinc ions in the active site of the enzyme that are immobilized by the predicted catalytically relevant amino acid residues, including glutamic acid 65 and histidine 183 (Fig. 2.6 C). Our results are in agreement with the solved *Burkholderia pseudomallei* GmhA crystal structure, where zinc ions were found to be embedded within the structure of the protein (Harmer, 2010). Thus, our work has provided additional evidence for GmhA proteins being metalloenzymes. Nevertheless, comparison of our crystal structure with determined structures of GmhA homologues from other bacteria didn't indicate differences in either overall structure of the protein or within the enzymes' active site. Therefore, the extended spectrum of GmhA function in gonococcus and meningococcus is most likely not driven by the difference in protein organization.

In *E. coli*, GmhA shares a significant similarity in structure to the DnaA initiator associating protein A, DiaA. It was shown that DiaA plays a crucial role in initiation and timing of chromosomal replication during the bacterial cell cycle (Ishida *et al.*, 2004; Keyamura *et al.*, 2007). Study of *Colwellia psychrerythraea* noted that GmhA and DiaA from this bacterium are virtually identical, differing by only 3 amino acids (Do *et al.*, 2015). It was also previously reported that many bacterial species encode a DiaA homologue but not a GmhA homologue (Keyamura *et al.*, 2007).

Analysis of *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* genomes indicated that the closest homologues of *E. coli* DiaA are GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and GmhA<sub>NM</sub>, respectively (Table 2.3). The structural similarity of DnaA and GmhA proteins and the fact that some bacteria encode only one homologue of the two proteins, suggest that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> could be involved in heptose synthesis and the DNA replication. We found that GmhA<sub>GC</sub> expression was highest during the mid-exponential phase of bacterial growth (Fig. 2.2 B and C). During that time cells are dividing most actively, and therefore must adequately replicate their genomic DNA. This observation, as well as the fact that the level of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> is not directly correlated with LOS abundance, supports a potential role of this protein in DNA replication (Fig. 2.2 D and E). Further work involving determination of the potential interaction of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> with the DnaA homologue as

well as analysis of global changes in metabolism is required to elucidate and understand the whole scope of  $GmhA_{GC}$  physiological functions in *N. gonorrhoeae*.

#### NGO1985 is a surface-exposed lipoprotein of N. gonorrhoeae

Due to the constant acquisition of antimicrobial resistance by *N. gonorrhoeae*, development of a protective vaccine(s) would be the most effective way to decrease its prevalence (Craig *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, since the human host is the only reservoir for *N. gonorrhoeae*, introduction of a vaccine could plausibly lead to eradication of this pathogen.

One of the main reasons behind the failure of previous vaccine development attempts is the phase and antigenic variability of many of the targeted surface components of *Neisseria*. An excellent example of this obstacle was the experimental vaccine composed of the purified pili protein which failed in clinical trials (Brinton *et al.*, 1982; Tramont and Boslego, 1985). Therefore, it was believed that development of a protective vaccine against gonorrhea would not be possible (reviewed by Jerse *et al.*, 2014). Although many of the known gonococcal cell envelope constituents are not suitable vaccine antigens, a large body of the membrane proteins remains to be characterized with the regard to their phase/antigenic variability, function, and surface localization.

Recent development of the vaccine(s) against *N. meningitidis* serogroup B, which is based on the constituents of the meningococcal outer membrane, has become a source of encouragement for the gonorrhea vaccine field (reviewed by Jerse *et al.*, 2016; Zielke *et al.*, 2016). It is important to mention that the search for a suitable meningococcal vaccine began with a set of over 600 protein candidates based on the computer prediction of their localization (Seib *et al.*, 2012). After a thorough and complex selection process, five proteins along with MVs were finally formulated into the successful 4CMenB vaccine. In contrast, currently there are only about 12 reported gonococcal proteins that are actively pursued as vaccine candidates, with an additional 5 recently proposed (Jerse *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016) (Table 1.1).

Two things we can learn from the 4CMenB vaccine is that the development of a vaccine for gonorrhea is possible, and that to do so we need to identify and validate more antigens than our currently available set.

Our laboratory has performed two proteomic mining dedicated to the identification of new therapeutic targets against gonorrhea (Zielke *et al.*, 2014; Zielke *et al.*, 2016). The first work compared the cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles of four well characterized and established gonococcal isolates (MS11, FA1090, F62, and 1291) for identification of proteins expressed with similar abundance among these isolates (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). The more recent work focused on analysis of cell envelopes for identification of ubiquitously and differentially expressed proteins of *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 strain cultured under conditions mimicking host micro-niches (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). A set of 92 proteins were identified as common between these two independent studies. One of these mutual hits was the putative outer membrane protein NGO1985.

Analysis of the predicted amino acid architecture of NGO1985 indicated the presence of a lipoprotein-characteristic lipobox motif and two BON (Bacterial OsmY and Nodulation) domains. Our initial characterizations have shown that bacteria lacking NGO1985 are susceptible to various chemical probes including detergents (bile salts, SDS) and different antibiotics (polymyxin B, chloramphenicol) (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). Based on these findings, NGO1985 was hypothesized to participate in maintaining cell envelope integrity and thus became a promising target for pharmaceutical interventions against gonorrhea.

It is generally considered that a good vaccine target should be exposed on the surface of the pathogen. Therefore, the first part of Chapter 3 focuses on determination of NGO1985 localization in the gonococcal cell envelope. As introduced in the paragraph above, NGO1985 contained a putative lipobox, which is a hallmark of lipoproteins. This amino acid motif contains an invariant cysteine residue, crucial for protein maturation and lipidation, which allows for association with either the inner or outer membrane. Up until recently, there was a conviction that outer membrane lipoproteins are in most cases localized on the periplasmic site while surface exposed ones are a rare occurrence (reviewed by Buddelmeijer, 2015). However, with the ever

increasing body of literature, as well as revisiting some of the initial findings, the view on cell surface lipoproteins has undergone a significant change (reviewed by Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). Increasing number of lipoproteins have been identified to be associated with the surface of many different bacterial species. Our results have indicated that NGO1985 is surface accessible to antisera binding as well as to processing by proteolytic enzymes (Fig. 3.1 E, F, and G). Mutagenic analysis of the predicted conserved cysteine of NGO1985 putative lipobox has revealed that this residue is crucial for protein surface exposure as well as for proper maturation (Fig. 3.1 I). Based on our findings, gonococcal NGO1985 was added to the pantheon of the surface exposed lipoproteins.

Although N. gonorrhoeae and N. meningitidis differ in their occupied niches within the human body and in the disease symptoms they cause, these two species share a significantly high level of homology between their counterpart proteins. NGO1985 of the FA1090 strain and its meningococcal homologue GNA2091 from the MC58 isolate, differ in only 9 of 202 amino acids. Because of this level of conservation, we did not find it surprising that antibodies raised against NGO1985 readily cross-reacted with GNA2091 (Fig. 3.2 A). GNA2091 is one of the five proteins that were included in the 4CMenB vaccine; however, it was suggested to be localized on the periplasmic site of the outer membrane (Bos *et al.*, 2014). It is important to note that there is conflict in the literature regarding GNA2091 orientation within the cell envelope. Later studies performed by another group reported that a component of innate immunity, long pentraxin 3 (PTX3), was able to recognize and bound GNA2091 on the intact meningococcal cells (Bottazzi et al., 2015). Moreover, authors of this work refer to GNA2091 as a "surface molecule" without discussing the work of Bos et al, 2014. Despite the controversial orientation of GNA2091 in the outer membrane, there are several examples of gonococcal and meningococcal proteins displaying high levels of amino acid conservation but differing in their localization. This includes two of the other 4CMenB vaccine components, NspA and fHbb, which are surface-exposed solely in N. meningitidis (Moe et al., 1999; Jongerius et al., 2013).

Our studies demonstrated that NGO1985 and GNA2091 function interchangeably in both *Neisseria* species (Fig. 3.2 B). This raises the question: why

can proteins with different localizations be functionally similar in these two different organisms? Due to the contradictory reports regarding GNA2091 orientation, localization studies of this protein should be carefully revisited. Furthermore, the topology of NGO1985 and GNA2091 remains unknown. Based on experimental results we were not able to determine if the entirety of NGO1985 is exposed to the extracellular space or if certain regions of the protein are embedded in the lipid bilayer of the bacterial cell membrane. Therefore, the potential difference between the gonococcal NGO1985 and meningococcal GNA2091 may not be entirely due to their localization to either the inner or outer leaflet of the outer membrane, but rather to their topology and to the protein regions that are exposed to the environment.

## NGO1985 lipobox +2 residue implication in protein localization and function

As discussed above, our experimental results from Chapter 3 indicate that NGO1985 is an outer membrane lipoprotein exposed on the cell surface. Biogenesis and mechanisms involved in lipoprotein localization to either the inner or outer membrane have been well studied in E. coli (reviewed in Konovalova and Silhavy, 2015). It has been shown that residues following the lipid-modified cysteine (+1) play an important role in determining the lipoprotein destination. According to the +2 rule, otherwise called the Lol-avoidance signal, aspartic acid in the position +2 of the lipobox motif causes a retention of the proteins to the inner membrane. However, the dogma of lipoprotein sorting does not apply to bacteria from the Borrelia genus or to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. The +2 rule has not been investigated for Neisseria. The first part of Chapter 4 expands the analysis of NGO1985 lipobox motif residue +2 with respect to protein localization and function. Based on our site directed mutagenesis results, substitution of a phenylalanine residue following the invariant cysteine of NGO1985 lipobox into aspartic acid did not affect protein localization to the outer membrane (Fig. 4.2 C). Moreover, when expressed in a heterologous host, both native and F24D variant of NGO1985 were detected on the surface of E. coli cells (Fig. 4.2 E). The fact that NGO1985 underwent maturation and was transported to the E. coli outer membrane was not unforeseen. It was shown that SpaI lipoprotein of the Grampositive bacterium *Bacillus subtilis* was also partially processed when expressed in E.

*coli* (Halami *et al.*, 2010). This suggests that due to conservation of machinery involved in lipoprotein maturation and transport, protein substrates even from distinct species of bacteria can be recognized and processed by these pathways. Nevertheless, we found it startling that NGO1985 F24D expressed in *E. coli* was not confined to the inner membrane. These results suggest that lipoprotein sorting might be much more complex and could depend on additional properties of the protein amino acid sequence.

Although the introduction of aspartic acid in the position +2 of NGO1985 did not result in protein localization to the inner membrane, the mutated variant of the protein was not able to fully rescue the antibiotic-sensitive phenotype of  $\Delta ngo1985$ (Fig. 4.2 A). Additionally, substitution of phenyl alanine 24 into the tyrosine, but not the valine residue, also caused a partial abolishment of protein function. These results show that the amino acid following the lipidated cysteine plays an important role in proper NGO1985 function. However, the mechanism for how these mutations have adverse effects on NGO1985 remains unclear. Due to lack of determined NGO1985 topology and structure it is difficult to predict how introduced mutations effect the protein conformation. Also, it is important to remember that macromolecules of the living organism do not exist on their own in the suspension, but are part of a broad network of interactions with other cellular components. An excess of aspartic acid or tyrosine side chains in place of phenylalanine could introduce electrostatic and/or physical interference with other cell envelope components, including negatively charged LOS and proteins interacting with NGO1985.

# NGO1985 functions in maintaining cell envelope homeostasis

While the beginning of Chapter 3 focused on determination of the localization and conservation of NGO1985, subsequent work analyzed the role and importance of NGO1985 in physiology of *N. gonorrhoeae*. The initial characterization of NGO1985 performed in our laboratory indicated that deletion of this protein in laboratory strain FA1090 results in increased bacterial susceptibility to different chemical probes, including detergents and antibiotics targeting the cell envelope (polymyxin B) and cytoplasmic molecules (chloramphenicol) (Zielke *et al.*, 2014). Based on this experimental data, NGO1985 was hypothesized to be involved in maintaining cell envelope homeostasis/integrity.

In this work we have expanded the initial study and showed that the absence of NGO1985 in recent clinical isolates of *N. gonorrhoeae* increases their susceptibility to various classes of antibiotics including the last resort treatment options cefixime, ceftriaxone, and azithromycin (Fig. 3.3 A and B). There was none specific pattern in antibiotic susceptibility to tested classes of compounds among analyzed mutants. Therefore, this observation further supported the hypothesis of NGO1985 being involved in cell envelope integrity, rather than functioning specifically in antibiotic resistance. During our studies we observed that elevated levels of NGO1985 provided better fitness to bacteria exposed to ceftriaxone (Fig. 3.3 C). This suggested potential involvement of NGO1985 in sensing and protecting bacterial cells from environmental stress factors. However, we have not observed upregulation of NGO1985 expression during exposure of gonococci to different compounds, growth on solid or in liquid media (Fig. 3.4 D). It is possible that expression of NGO1985 is regulated by certain specific host factors.

Additionally, we determined that NGO1985 provides a growth advantage for gonococci cultured *in vitro* under conditions mimicking host micro-niches: in the presence of normal human serum and during anoxia; as well during experimental *in vivo* murine infection (Fig. 3.4 C and F). Analysis of NGO1985 expression under laboratory host-relevant conditions did not indicate changes in protein abundance (Fig. 3.4 D), which is in agreement with our recent proteomic study (Zielke *et al.*, 2016). Lack of NGO1985 upregulation during exposure to human serum and in the absence of oxygen suggests that this protein is not directly involved in survival during non-permissive conditions. Based on immunoblotting analysis we know that NGO1985 is expressed by gonococci during infection in the mice (Fig. 3.4 E). Due to lack of an available loading control for our immunoblotting samples, we cannot deduce if NGO1985 mutant was 100- to 1000-fold outcompeted by the wild type strain. We speculate that NGO1985 most likely is not associated with adhesion, as we would expect the fitness to decrease steadily over time. Instead, we saw a stable decreased

fitness over the course of the experiment, further supporting the hypothesis of NGO1985 playing general role in maintaining membrane homeostasis.

Bacterial membrane defects are often accompanied by leakage of periplasmic contents into the extracellular milieu and increased membrane vesicle release (Lopes et al., 1972; McBroom and Kuehn, 2007). Culture supernatants of NGO1985 mutants contained increased levels of periplasmic and cytoplasmic proteins and produced approximately 3-fold more membrane vesicles than wild type N. gonorrhoeae (Fig. 3.5 A, B, and D). The presence of cytoplasmic proteins suggests that besides increased leakage of periplasmic contents, NGO1985 mutants undergo frequent lysis. We have also identified that cells of  $\Delta ngo1985$  contain decreased amounts of periplasmic chaperones SurA and DsbA, and an elevated abundance of cytoplasmic protein Zwf (Fig. 3.5 D and E). This decrease in periplasmic chaperones could potentially lead to incorrect folding of outer membrane proteins (Sklar et al., 2007; Heras et al., 2009). Upregulation of Zwf has been linked to cell envelope stress and to the presence of reactive oxygen species (Bernsetin et al., 1999; Merritt and Donaldson, 2009; Sandoval et al., 2011). Collectively, this indicates that the cell envelope of NGO1985 mutant could be under constant stress due to an accumulation of misfolded proteins. Analysis of NGO1985 mutant cell envelopes did not show a dramatic change in their overall protein profile, with the exception of a decreased abundance of TamA components of the TAM complex involved in autotransporter assembly (Fig. 3.5 F and G) (Selkrig et al., 2012). In contrast, abundance of many proteins was elevated in the membrane vesicles of  $\Delta ngo1985$  (Fig. 3.5 F and G). Membrane vesicles are described in the literature as a means for bacteria to dispose of misfolded and toxic proteins (McBroom and Kuehn, 2007). Therefore, based on our combined results, we conclude that absence of NGO1985 leads to a general cell envelope defect responsible for the pleiotropic phenotype of  $\Delta ngo1985$ . Leakage of periplasmic chaperones potentially results in misfolding and aggregation of the outer membrane proteins which ultimately promotes increased release of membrane vesicles.

Our results described in the above section suggest NGO1985 involvement in maintaining cell envelope integrity. To gain a more in-depth understanding of protein function, we have investigated the NGO1985 interactome by applying tandem affinity purification (TAP) coupled with mass spectrometry (MS) analysis. The TAP method involves fusion of the protein of interest with a tag composed of Protein A and Calmodulin Binding Protein allowing for two step affinity purification of the protein complexes (Puig et al., 2001). Our analysis of proteins co-purified with TAP-tagged NGO1985 revealed a broad network of interaction (Fig. 3.6 A, B, C). The 246 proteins identified in complexes with NGO1985 belong to different functional classes including transport of various molecules, metabolism, energy production, and cell envelope biogenesis (Fig. 3.6 E, Table S4.4). The methods involving combination of affinity purification of protein complexes and MS analyses are known for their sensitivity and very often large quantities of proteins are identified during these studies (Kaiser *et al.*, 2008; Chang et al., 2009; Willmann et al., 2016; Boyarchuk et al., 2016). Most of the proteins come into interaction with multiple alternative complexes during their lifetime, e.g. involved in their synthesis, maturation, transport, and finally their physiological function(s). Therefore, experiments utilizing MS analysis of protein complexes represent an average of binding partners. Moreover, it is important to be aware that some of the identified proteins can be indirectly associated with the true target through a secondary binding to other components of the complexes. Some authors consider these as non-specific and exclude DNA repair proteins, translation/initiation factors, ribosomal proteins, and chaperones from their analysis due to their identification in various data sets utilizing TAP-MS approach (Boyarchuk *et al.*, 2016).

Among the proteins identified in complexes with TAP-tagged NGO1985 were the BAM complex components: BamA (NGO1801), BamC (NGO0948), BamD (NGO0277), and BamE (NGO1780) (Table S3.4, Fig. 3.6 D). The BAM complex is involved in folding and assembly of outer membrane  $\beta$ -barrel proteins into the outer membrane and therefore it is indispensable for maintaining integrity of the cell envelope and bacterial physiology (Ricci and Silhavy, 2012). The function of NGO1985 as a part of the BAM complex could explain its involvement in cell envelope homoeostasis. Our subsequent experiments have shown that proteins co-purified with TAP-tagged BamE contained all four BAM components and NGO1985, further supporting the idea of these proteins functioning together (Fig. 3.6 G). The two known homologues of NGO1985, *E. coli* YraP and *N. meningitidis* GNA2091, have been suggested previously as potential components of the BAM complex; however, experimental data supporting this interaction have never been shown (Onufryk *et al.*, 2005; Bos *et al.*, 2014).

During our trans-complementation studies, we observed, that the phenotype of *N. gonorrhoeae*  $\Delta ngo1985$  is rescued by GNA2091 but not by YraP protein (Fig. 3.2 B). Studies regarding BamA have shown that meningococcal and *E. coli* homologues did not cross-complement their function in these two species (Volokhina *et al.*, 2013). Authors of this work speculated that lack of functional redundancy could be related to the evolutionary distance between *E. coli* and *N. meningitidis*, belonging to the class of  $\gamma$ - and  $\beta$ -proteobacteria, respectively; leading to inability to interact with other components of the complex. Therefore, lack of functional complementation of NGO1985 absence by *E. coli* YraP could be due to slight, progressive evolutionary changes in their interacting partners between these species.

BamA is the main component of the BAM complex, spanning through the entire bacterial outer membrane (Ricci and Silhavy, 2012). The N-terminal part of BamA is localized in the periplasm and is composed of five Polypeptide Translocation Associated (POTRA) domains which serve as the site of interaction with other known components of the BAM complex (Kim *et al.*, 2007). Although interactions of BAM components appear to be limited to the periplasmic space, studies regarding BamC indicated that this lipoprotein is at least partially exposed on the surface of the outer membrane (Webb *et al.*, 2013). Authors speculated that the surface exposed portion of BamC could potentially come into interaction with surface loops of BamA. Based on our results NGO1985 is associated with the surface of gonococcal cells, and since this protein possibly comes into interaction with the BAM complex one could speculate that it contacts the surface exposed portion of BamA. However, as described in the previous sections, due to the lack of determined topology of NGO1985 in the outer

membrane, the potential interaction with periplasmic localized BAM components should not be excluded at this stage.

Although the BAM complex is conserved among bacteria, species specific differences exist in the form of absence, duplication, or presence of additional elements of the complex (Anwari *et al.*, 2012; Volokhina *et al.*, 2009). An example of such a difference is the lack of a typical BamB homologue in *Neisseria* species. In *E. coli*, BamB has recently been shown to be involved in biogenesis of BamA (Misra *et al.*, 2015). During our analyses of MVs derived from  $\Delta ngo1985$ , we have observed elevated levels of BAM components, with the biggest increase in abundance of BamA (Fig. 3.5 G). As discussed before, it is hypothesized that membrane vesicles are a means for bacterial cells to dispose of misfolded, aggregated, or toxic proteins. This suggests that the absence of NGO1985 effects the assembly and/or stability of BamA leading to its release in the membrane vesicles. Therefore, NGO1985 could have evolved in *N. gonorrhoeae* to have a similar function(s) as BamB in *E. coli*. Future studies will be required to validate these hypotheses as well as to further determine the potential interaction of NGO1985 with BAM complex.

## **BON domains of NGO1985**

To gain an understanding of NGO1985 function, we have analyzed individual amino acid components of this protein. As discussed in Chapter 3 and the beginning of Chapter 4, we have investigated the importance of lipobox residues +1 and +2 with respect to the protein localization and function. The remaining work discussed in Chapter 4 focused on analysis of the BON domains of NGO1985. Available knowledge regarding BON domain function and critical residues is limited and based mainly on predictions. It can be summarized that BON domains are on average 60 amino acids in length, contain several hydrophobic regions and predicted conserved glycine residues, and that they bind phospholipids in the periplasmic space. The phospholipid binding function was concluded based solely on the deduced function of the *E. coli* periplasmic OsmY protein participating in protection against osmotic shock (Liechty *et al.*, 2000; Oh *et al.*, 2000). We found that NGO1985 is not associated with osmoregulation, as the  $\Delta ngo1985$  mutant did not display an increased susceptibility to osmotic shock

inducing compounds (Fig. S3.1). Based on our findings, NGO1985 is associated on the cell surface of gonococcal cells (Fig. 2.1 E, F, and G). In Gram-negative bacteria, the inner leaflet of the outer membrane is composed of phospholipids, while its proximal site is composed mainly of LPS/LOS (Kamio and Nikaido, 1976). Therefore, BON domains of NGO1985 could not be involved in the binding of phospholipids. Nevertheless, as was discussed in the section regarding NGO1985 localization, topology of NGO1985 in the outer membrane is not known. We should not rule out the possibility that BON domains could be entirely or partially embedded in the lipid bilayer and potentially interact with the phospholipids of the outer membrane. Based on our results, both of the NGO1985 BON domains are required in their native order for the proper protein function (Fig. 4.3 A). This suggests that these individual motifs could be selective towards different molecules they potentially bind. Therefore, rearrangement of BON domains, with respect to the protein orientation in the membrane, would inhibit their association with the appropriate targets. As discussed above, we hypothesize that NGO1985 is part of the BAM complex. One could propose that both or one of the BON domains come in contact with proteins composing the BAM complex or with the substrate  $\beta$ -barrel protein. Binding studies with individual BON domains should be performed to determine potential binding to phospholipids, LOS, and components of the BAM complex to finally elucidate role of these protein motifs.

Function of the BON domains remains enigmatic and the potential implication(s) of their conserved glycine residues was never assessed. The final part of Chapter 4 analyzed the importance of glycine residues G91 and G169 of BON domains 1 and 2, respectively, in the physiological role of NGO1985. Introduction of alanine substitutions in these individual amino acid residues (G91A, G169A) has led to decreased protein abundance in comparison to the wild type NGO1985 when expressed in the native as well as heterologous host (Fig. 4.4 B, C, D). As expected, decreased protein levels were correlated with abolished NGO1985 function in *N. gonorrhoeae* (Fig. 4.4 A). Therefore, we conclude that the invariant glycine is most likely an important structural element of BON domains, necessary for proper folding and stability.

#### **Conclusions and future directions**

Due to the constant development of antibiotic resistance determinants, infections caused by *N. gonorrhoeae* are believed to become untreatable in the near future. Because of this threat it is critical to formulate new strategies to combat gonorrhea. Development of therapeutic interventions, in the form of new antibiotics or vaccines, is a multistep process requiring combined years of work from academic and private-sector scientists. Work presented in this dissertation focuses on characterization and validation of two previously unstudied gonococcal proteins: GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985; as molecular targets for new antimicrobial agents and a vaccine antigen, respectively.

Chapter 2 explored the physiological implications and structure of the predicted gonococcal heptose biosynthetic pathway enzyme, sedoheptulose 7-phosphate isomerase,  $GmhA_{GC}$ . We have found that this protein, similarly to homologues described in other bacteria, is essential for synthesis of full length LOS molecules. However, in contrast to other species,  $GmhA_{GC}$  is pivotal for gonococci viability. Our experimental results indicate that catalytic activity of  $GmhA_{GC}$  involved in heptose biosynthesis is independent from this protein involvement in *N. gonorrhoeae* proliferation. Importance of  $GmhA_{GC}$  in LOS synthesis as well as bacterial viability, underscores the potential of this protein as a target for the development of novel therapeutics. The crystal structure of  $GmhA_{GC}$  should guide future identification of compounds inhibiting heptose synthesis as well as gonococcal growth.

Only scarce information and predictions regarding the potential functions of NGO1985 or its BON domains were available in the literature. Therefore, Chapters 3 and 4 were dedicated to the characterization of this protein. Throughout our studies we have shown that NGO1985 is conserved among diverse gonococci isolate lipoproteins exposed on the surface of the cell. In contrast to lipoproteins characterized in *E. coli*, NGO1985 does not undergo sorting to the inner and outer membrane, as dictated by the position +2 of the lipobox sequence. Based on experimental evidence, NGO1985 participates in maintaining cell envelope integrity, potentially as a novel component of the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly (BAM) complex. Dysregulation of bacterial homeostasis as a result of NGO1985 mutations results in overall cell envelope defects leading to an

increase in susceptibility to antibiotics, decreased viability during *in vitro* host environment related growth conditions, and attenuated virulence in the in *vivo* model of infection. We have found that both BON domains are required for proper function of NGO1985 and that their conserved glycine residues play an important role in maintaining protein stability. Based on conservation, surface exposure, and importance in physiology, NGO1985 appears to be a promising candidate for vaccine development.

This work has provided insights into GmhA<sub>GC</sub> and NGO1985 function and their validation as therapeutic targets against gonorrhea. Despite the body of results and information obtained from this dissertation, much more work is required in order to fully understand and utilize these two proteins for development of new pharmacological interventions. Studies of GmhA<sub>GC</sub> interacting protein partners should help to elucidate the involvement of this protein in gonococcal viability. Furthermore, our laboratory is actively working on development of an assay allowing for screening of inhibitors of sedoheptulose 7-phosphate isomerase activity of GmhA<sub>GC</sub>. NGO1985 is currently undergoing an experimental trial where mice subjected to immunization with this protein will be analyzed for development of protection to gonococcal colonization. Studies determining the three dimensional structure of NGO1985 are in progress to facilitate our understanding of protein function as a whole and of its individual BON domains. Further work regarding association of NGO1985 with BAM will be required to determine how this protein fits into the whole structure of the complex and what roles it plays.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aballay, A., Drenkard, E., Hilbun, L. R., Ausubel, F. M. (2003). "Caenorhabditis elegans innate immune response triggered by Salmonella enterica requires intact LPS and is mediated by a MAPK signaling pathway". <u>Curr Biol</u> 13: 47-52.
- Aho, E. L., Dempsey, J. A., Hobbs, M. M., Klapper, D. G., Cannon, J. G. (1991).
  "Characterization of the opa (class 5) gene family of Neisseria meningitidis". <u>Mol.</u> <u>Microbiol.</u> 5: 1429–37.
- Alexander, H. L., Richardson, A. R., Stojiljkovic, I. (2004). "Natural transformation and phase variation modulation in *Neisseria meningitidis*". <u>Mol. Microbiol.</u> 52: 771-783.
- Allen, R. C., Popat, R., Diggle, S. P., Brown, S. P. (2014). "Targeting virulence: Can we make evolution-proof drugs?" Nat. Rev. Microbiol. **12**: 300–308.
- Alm, R. A., Lahiri, S. D., Kutschke, A., Otterson, L. G., McLaughlin, R. E., Whiteaker, J. D., Lewis, L. A., Su, X., Huband, M. D., Gardner, H., Mueller, J. P. (2015).
  "Characterization of the novel DNA gyrase inhibitor AZD0914: Low resistance potential and lack of cross-resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother.</u> 59: 1478–1486.
- Anderson, J. E., Sparling, P. F., Cornelissen, C. N. (1994). "Gonococcal transferrinbinding protein 2 facilitates but is not essential for transferrin utilization". <u>J.</u> <u>Bacteriol.</u> 176: 3162–3170.
- Anwari, K., Webb, C. T., Poggio, S., Perry, A. J., Belousoff, M., Celik, N., Ramm, G., Lovering, A., Sockett, R. E., Smit, J., Jacobs-Wagner, C., Lithgow, T. (2012). "The evolution of new lipoprotein subunits of the bacterial outer membrane BAM complex". <u>Mol Microbiol.</u> 84(5): 832-44.
- Apicella, M. A., Breen, J. F., Gagliardi, N. C. (1978). "Degradation of the polysaccharide component of gonococcal lipopolysaccharide by gonococcal and meningococcal sonic extracts". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 20: 228-234.
- Apicella, M. A. and Mandrell, R. E. (1989). "Molecular mimicry as a factor in the pathogenesis of human neisserial infections: *in vitro* and *in vivo* modification of the lipooligosaccharide of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by N-acetylneuraminic acid". <u>Pediatr Infect Dis J</u> 8: 901-902.

- Apicella, M. A., Shero, M., Jarvis, G. A., Griffiss, J. M., Mandrell, R. E., Schneider, H. (1987). "Phenotypic variation in epitope expression of the *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 55: 1755-1761.
- Bateman, A. (1999). "The SIS domain: a phosphosugar-binding domain". <u>Trends in</u> <u>biochemical sciences</u> 24: 94-95.
- Bauer, B.A., Stevens, M. K., Hansen, E. J. (1998). "Involvement of the *Haemophilus ducreyi gmhA* gene product in lipooligosaccharide expression and virulence". <u>Infection and immunity</u> 66: 4290-4298.
- Baumgartner, M., Karst, U., Gerstel, B., Loessner, M., Wehland, J., Jansch, L. (2007). "Inactivation of Lgt allows systematic characterization of lipoproteins from *Listeria monocytogenes*". J Bacteriol. 189(2): 313-324.
- Bennet, J. S., Bratcher, H. B., Brehony, C., Harrison, O. B., Maiden, M. C. J. (2014).
  "The Genus Neisseria". <u>The Prokaryotes: Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria:</u> 881-900.
- Bernstein, C., Bernstein, H., Payne, C. M., Beard, S. E., Schneider, J. (1999). "Bile salt activation of stress response promoters in Escherichia coli". <u>Curr Microbiol.</u> 39(2): 68-72.
- Beuzon, C. R. and Holden, D. W. (2001). "Use of mixed infections with Salmonella strains to study virulence genes and their interactions in vivo". <u>Microbes Infect.</u> 3(14-15): 1345-1352.
- Bhat, K. S., Gibbs, C. P., Barrera, O., Morrison, S. G., Ja<sup>-</sup>hnig, F., Stern, A., Kupsch,
  E.-M., Meyer, T. F., Swanson, J. (1991). "The opacity proteins of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae strain MS11 are encoded by a family of 11 complete genes". <u>Mol.</u>
  <u>Microbiol.</u> 5: 1889–1901.
- Bignell, C., Unemo, M., European STI Guidelines Editorial Board (2013). "2012 European guideline on the diagnosis and treatment of gonorrhoea in adults". <u>Int J</u> <u>STD AIDS</u> 24(2): 85-92.
- Binnicker, M. J., Williams, R. D., Apicella, M. A. (2004). "Gonococcal porin IB activates NF-kappaB in human urethral epithelium and increases the expression of host antiapoptotic factors". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> 72: 6408–6417.

- Biswas, G. D, Sparling, P. F. (1995). "Characterization of lbpA, the structural gene for a lactoferrin receptor in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> **63**: 2958–2967.
- Blank, M. and Blind, M. (2015). "Aptamers as tools for target validation". <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Chem Biol.</u> 9(4): 336-42.
- Bonventre, J. A., Zielke, R. A., Korotkov, K. V., Sikora, A. E. (2016). "Targeting an Essential GTPase Obg for the Development of Broad-Spectrum Antibiotics". <u>PloS</u> <u>one 11</u>: e0148222.
- Bos, M. P., Grijpstra, J., Tommassen-van Boxtel, R., Tommassen, J. (2014).
  "Involvement of Neisseria meningitidis lipoprotein GNA2091 in the assembly of a subset of outer membrane proteins". J Biol Chem. 289(22): 15602-10.
- Bos, M. P., Kao, D., Hogan, D. M., Grant, C. C., Belland, R. J. (2002). "Carcinoembryonic antigen family receptor recognition by gonococcal Opa proteins requires distinct combinations of hypervariable Opa protein domains". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 70(4): 1715–23.
- Bos, M. P., Tefsen, B., Geurtsen, J., Tommassen, J. (2004). "Identification of an outer membrane protein required for the transport of lipopolysaccharide to the bacterial cell surface". <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 101(25): 9417-9422.
- Boslego, J. W., Tramont, E. C., Chung, R. C., Mcchesney, D. G., Ciak, J., Sadoff, J. C., Piziak, M. V., Brown, J. D., Brinton, C. C. J., Wood, S. W., Bryan, J. R. (1991).
  "Efficacy trial of a parenteral gonococcal pilus vaccine in men". <u>Vaccine</u> 9: 154–162.
- Bottazzi, B., Santini, L., Savino, S., Giuliani, M. M., Dueñas Díez, A. I., Mancuso, G., Beninati, C., Sironi, M., Valentino, S., Deban, L., Garlanda, C., Teti, G., Pizza, M., Rappuoli, R., Mantovani, A. (2015). "Recognition of Neisseria meningitidis by the long pentraxin PTX3 and its role as an endogenous adjuvant". <u>PLoS One</u> 10(3): e0120807.
- Boyarchuk, E., Robin, P., Fritsch, L., Joliot, V., Ait-Si-Ali, S. (2016). "Identification of MyoD Interactome Using Tandem Affinity Purification Coupled to Mass Spectrometry". J. Vis. Exp. 111: e53924.
- Braun, M. and Silhavy, T. J. (2002). "Imp/OstA is required for cell envelope biogenesis in *Escherichia coli*". <u>Molecular Microbiology</u> **45**(5): 1289-1302.

- Brinton, C. C., Wood, S. W., Brown, A., Labik, A. M., Bryan, J. R., Lee, S. W., Polen, S. E., Tramont, E. C., Sadoff, J., Zollinger, W. (1982). "The development of a Neisserial pilus vaccine for gonorrhea and meningococcal meningitis". <u>Seminars</u> in Infectious Diseases, Vol. IV: Bacterial Vaccines. New York, NY: Thieme-<u>Stratton:</u> 140–159.
- Brooke, J. S. and Valvano, M. A. (1996). "Biosynthesis of inner core lipopolysaccharide in enteric bacteria identification and characterization of a conserved phosphoheptose isomerase". J Biol Chem 271: 3608-3614.
- Brooke, J. S. and Valvano, M. A. (1996). "Molecular cloning of the *Haemophilus influenzae gmhA* (*lpcA*) gene encoding a phosphoheptose isomerase required for lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis". J Bacteriol. **178**: 3339-3341.
- Brooks, G. F. and Donegan, E. A. (1985). "Gonococcal infection". <u>Butler and Tanner,</u> <u>Ltd</u>: 51-82.
- Buddelmeijer, N. (2015). "The molecular mechanism of bacterial lipoprotein modification--how, when and why?" <u>FEMS Microbiol Rev.</u> **39**(2): 246-61.
- Butler, D. (2010). "Vaccine offers meningitis hope". Nature 468: 143.
- Callaghan, M. J., Lewis, S., Sadarangani, M., Bailey, S. E., Chan, H., Ferguson, D. J., Derrick, J. P., Feavers, I., Maiden, M. C., Pollard, A. J. (2011). "Potential of recombinant Opa proteins as vaccine candidates against hyperinvasive meningococci". <u>Infect Immun. **79**</u>: 2810–2818.
- Casadaban, M. J. and Cohen, S. N. (1980). "Analysis of gene control signals by DNA fusion and cloning in Escherichia coli". J Mol Biol. **138**(2): 179-207.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2012). "Cephalosporin-resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae public health response plan".: 1–43.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013a). "Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2013". <u>Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US</u> <u>Department of Health and Human Services</u>.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013b). "Grand Rounds: the growing threat of multidrug-resistant gonorrhea". <u>MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly</u> <u>report</u>: 103-106.

- Chang, I-F., Curran, A., Woolsey, R., Quilici, D., Cushman, J., Mittler, R., Harmon,
  A., Harper, J. (2009). "Proteomic profiling of tandem affinity purified 14-3-3
  protein complexes in Arabidopsis thaliana". <u>Proteomics.</u> 9(11): 2967–2985.
- Chaudhury, S., Abdulhameed, M. D., Singh, N., Tawa, G. J., D'Haeseleer P, M., Zemla,
  A. T., Navid, A., Zhou, C. E., Franklin, M. C., Cheung, J., Rudolph, M. J., Love,
  J., Graf, J. F., Rozak, D. A., Dankmeyer, J. L., Amemiya, K., Daefler, S., Wallqvist,
  A. (2013). "Rapid countermeasure discovery against *Francisella tularensis* based
  on a metabolic network reconstruction". <u>PloS one</u> 8: e63369.
- Chen, V.B., Arendall, W. B. 3rd, Headd, J. J., Keedy, D. A., Immormino, R. M., Kapral, G. J., Murray, L. W., Richardson, J. S., Richardson, D. C. (2010).
  "MolProbity: all-atom structure validation for macromolecular crystallography". Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 66: 12-21.
- Chen, A., Boulton, I. C., Pongoski, J., Cochrane, A., Gray-Owen, S. D. (2003). "Induction of HIV-1 long terminal repeat-mediated transcription by *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae". <u>AIDS</u> 17: 625–628.
- Cohen, M. S., Hoffman, I. F., Royce, R. A., Kazembe, P., Dyer, J. R., Daly, C. C., Zimba, D., Vernazza, P. L., Maida, M., Fiscus, S.A., Eron, J. J. Jr. (1997).
  "Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1". Lancet 349(9069): 1868–1873.
- Cole, J. G. and Jerse, A. E. (2009). "Functional characterization of antibodies against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* opacity protein loops". PLoS One **4**: e8108.
- Connell, T. D., Black, W. J., Kawula, T. H., Barritt, D. S., Dempsey, J. A., Kverneland, K. Jr., Stephenson, A., Schepart, B. S., Murphy, G. L., Cannon, J. G. (1988).
  "Recombination among protein II genes of Neisseria gonorrhoeae generates new coding sequences and increases structural variability in the protein II family". <u>Mol Microbiol.</u> 2(2): 227-36.
- Cornelissen, C. N. (2008). "Identification and characterization of gonococcal iron transport systems as potential vaccine antigens". <u>Future microbiology</u> **3**: 287-298.
- Cornelissen, C. N. and Hollander, A. (2011). "TonB-dependent transporters expressed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Front Microbiol.</u> **2**: 117.

- Correia, S., Hebraud, M., Chafsey, I., Chambon, C., Viala, D., Torres, C., de Toro, M., Capelo, J. L., Poeta, P., Igrejas, G. (2016). "Impacts of experimentally induced and clinically acquired quinolone resistance on the membrane and intracellular subproteomes of <u>Salmonella Typhimurium</u> DT104B". Journal of proteomics 145: 46-59.
- Cowtan, K. (2006). "The Buccaneer software for automated model building. 1. Tracing protein chains". Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 62: 1002-1011.
- Cowtan, K. (2010). "Recent developments in classical density modification". <u>Acta</u> <u>Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr</u> **66**: 470-478.
- Craig, A. P., Gray, T. R., Edwards, J. L., Apicella, M. A., Jennings, M. P., Wilson, D. P., Seib, K. L. (2015). "The potential impact of vaccination on the prevalence of gonorrhea". <u>Vaccine</u> 33(36): 4520–4525.
- Craig, L., Pique, M. E., Tainer, J. A. (2004). "Type IV pilus structure and bacterial pathogenicity". <u>Nature reviews Microbiology</u> **2**(5): 363–78.
- Danaher, R. J., Levin, J. C., Arking, D., Burch, C. L., Sandlin, R., Stein, D. C. (1995).
   "Genetic basis of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipooligosaccharide antigenic variation".
   Journal of bacteriology 177: 7275-7279.
- Darby, C., Ananth, S. L., Tan, L., Hinnebusch, B. J. (2005). "Identification of gmhA, a Yersinia pestis gene required for flea blockage, by using a Caenorhabditis elegans biofilm system". <u>Infection and immunity</u> 73: 7236-7242.
- de Jonge, M. I., Hamstra, H. J., Jiskoot, W., Roholl, P., Williams, N. A., Dankert, J., van Alphen, L., van der Ley, P. (2004). "Intranasal immunisation of mice with liposomes containing recombinant meningococcal OpaB and OpaJ proteins". <u>Vaccine</u> 22: 4021–4028.
- Delany, I., Rappuoli, R., Seib, K. L. (2013). "Vaccines, reverse vaccinology, and bacterial pathogenesis". <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.</u> 3(5): a012476. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012476.
- Denoncin, K., Vertommen, D., Paek, E., Collet, J. F. (2010). "The protein-disulfide isomerase DsbC cooperates with SurA and DsbA in the assembly of the essential beta-barrel protein LptD". J Biol Chem. 285(38): 29425-29433.
- Dev, I. K., Ray, P. H. (1984). "Rapid assay and purification of a unique signal peptidase that processes the prolipoprotein from *Escherichia coli* B". J. Biol. Chem. 259: 11114–11120.
- Do, H., Yun, J. S., Lee, C. W., Choi, Y. J., Kim, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., Park, H., Chang, J. H., Lee, J. H. (2015). "Crystal Structure and Comparative Sequence Analysis of GmhA from *Colwellia psychrerythraea* Strain 34H Provides Insight into Functional Similarity with DiaA". Mol Cells. 38(12): 1086-95.
- Driessen, A. J. and Nouwen, N. (2008). "Protein translocation across the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane". <u>Annu. Rev. Biochem.</u> **77**: 643–667.
- Ducey, T. F., Carson, M. B., Orvis, J., Stintzi, A. P., Dyer, D. W. (2005). "Identification of the iron-responsive genes of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by microarray analysis in defined medium". Journal of bacteriology 187: 4865-4874.
- Dunlop, E. M. C. (1949). "Gonorrhoea and the sulphonamides". <u>Br J Vener Dis.</u> 25: 81–83.
- Dupont, D. M., Larsen, N., Jensen, J. K., Andreasen, P. A., Kjems, J. (2015). "Characterisation of aptamer-target interactions by branched selection and highthroughput sequencing of SELEX pools". <u>Nucleic Acids Res.</u> 43(21): e139.
- Earl, S. C., Rogers, M. T., Keen, J., Bland, D. M., Houppert, A. S., Miller, C., Temple, I., Anderson, D. M., Marketon, M. M. (2015). "Resistance to Innate Immunity Contributes to Colonization of the Insect Gut by *Yersinia pestis*". <u>PloS One</u> 10: e0133318.
- Edwards, J. L. and Apicella, M. A. (2004). "The molecular mechanisms used by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to initiate infection differ between men and women". <u>Clin</u> <u>Microbiol Rev.</u> 17(4): 965-981.
- Edwards, J. L., Jennings, M. P., Apicella, M. A., Seib, K. L. (2016). "Is gonococcal disease preventable? The importance of understanding immunity and pathogenesis in vaccine development". <u>Crit Rev Microbiol.</u> **42**(6): 928-41.
- Eidels, L. and Osborn, M. J. (1971). "Lipopolysaccharide and aldoheptose biosynthesis in transketolase mutants of *Salmonella typhimurium*". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 68: 1673-1677.

- Eidels, L. and Osborn, M. J. (1974). "Phosphoheptose isomerase, first enzyme in the biosynthesis of aldoheptose in *Salmonella typhimurium*". J Biol Chem 249: 5642-5648.
- Elkins, C., Carbonetti, N. H., Varela, V. A., Stirewalt, D., Klapper, D. G., Sparling, P. F. (1992). "Antibodies to N-terminal peptides of gonococcal porin are bactericidal when gonococcal lipopolysaccharide is not sialylated". <u>Mol Microbiol</u> 6: 2617–2628.
- Ellis, T. N., and Kuehn, M. J. (2010). "Virulence and immunomodulatory roles of bacterial outer membrane vesicles". <u>Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.</u> **74**: 81–94.
- Emsley, P., Lohkamp, B., Scott, W. G., Cowtan, K. (2010). "Features and development of Coot". <u>Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr</u> 66: 486-501.
- Falsetta, M. L., Steichen, C. T., McEwan, A. G., Cho, C., Ketterer, M., Shao, J., Hunt, J., Jennings, M. P., Apicella, M. A. (2011). "The composition and metabolic phenotype of Neisseria gonorrhoeae biofilms". <u>Front. Microbiol.</u> 2: 75.
- Fleming, D. T., Wasserheit, J. N. (1999). "From epidemiological synergy to public health policy and practice: The contribution of other sexually transmitted diseases to sexual transmission of HIV infection". <u>Sex Transm Infect</u> 75(1): 3–17.
- Garvin, L. E., Bash, M. C., Keys, C., Warner, D. M., Ram, S., Shafer, W. M., Jerse, A. E. (2008). "Phenotypic and genotypic analyses of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates that express frequently recovered PorB PIA variable region types suggest that certain P1a porin sequences confer a selective advantage for urogenital tract infection". Infection and immunity **76**: 3700-3709.
- Gatzeva-Topalova, P. Z., Walton, T. A., and Sousa, M. C. (2008). "Crystal structure of YaeT: conformational flexibility and substrate recognition". <u>Structure</u> 16: 1873-1881,
- Genco, C. A. and Wetzler, L. M. (2010). "Neisseria: Molecular Mechanisms of Pathogenesis". <u>Horizon Scientific Press; Norwich, UK</u>: 195-226.
- Gennity, J. M. and Inouye, M. (1991). "The protein sequence responsible for lipoprotein membrane localization in Escherichia coli exhibits remarkable specificity". J. Biol. Chem. 266: 16,458–16,464.

- Ghuysen, J.-M., and Hakenbeck, R. (1994). "Bacterial Cell Wall". <u>Elsevier, New York</u>: 263–279.
- Ghys, P. D., Fransen, K., Diallo, M. O., Ettiègne-Traoré, V., Coulibaly, I. M., Yeboué,
  K. M., Kalish, M.L., Maurice, C., Whitaker, J. P., Greenberg, A. E., Laga, M. (1997). "The associations between cervicovaginal HIV shedding, sexually transmitted diseases and immunosuppression in female sex workers in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire. <u>AIDS</u> 11(12): F85–F93.
- Gibson, B. W., Webb, J. W., Yamasaki, R., Fisher, S. J., Burlingame, A. L., Mandrell,
  R. E., Schneider, H., Griffiss, J. M. (1989). "Structure and heterogeneity of the oligosaccharides from the lipopolysaccharides of a pyocin-resistant *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86: 17-21.
- Gibson, D. G., Young, L., Chuang, R. Y., Venter, J. C., Hutchison, C. A. 3rd, Smith,
  H. O. (2009). "Enzymatic assembly of DNA molecules up to several hundred kilobases". <u>Nat Methods</u>. 6(5): 343-5.
- Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B., Le Goffic, F., Badet, B. (1989). "Glucosamine-6-phosphate from Escherichia coli: mechanism of the reaction at the fructose-6-phosphate binding site". Journal of the American Chemical Society 111: 3029–3034.
- Golparian, D., Fernandes, P., Ohnishi, M., Jensen, J. S., Unemo, M (2012). "In vitro activity of the new fluoroketolide solithromycin (CEM-101) against a large collection of clinical Neisseria gonorrhoeae isolates and international reference strains including those with various high-level antimicrobial resistance—potential treatment option for gonorrhea?". <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother.</u> 56: 2739–2742.
- Golparian, D., Natarajan, U., Alexander, S., Hughes, G., Jones, L., Unemo, M. (2016).
  "First global case of gonorrhea treatment failure with dual antimicrobial therapy (ceftriaxone [500 mg] and azithromycin [1 g]) the continuously evolving superbug. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* escapes last resort of treatment.
- Groopman, J. (2012). "Sex and the superbug—the rise of drug-resistant gonorrhea". <u>New Yorker</u>: 26–30.
- Greenberg, L. (1975). "Field trials of a gonococcal vaccine". <u>J. Reprod. Med.</u> 14: 34–36.

- Greenberg, L., Diena, B. B., Ashtron, F. A., Wallace, R., Kenney, C. P., Znamirowski,
  R., Ferrari, H., Atkinson, J. (1974). "Gonococcal vaccine studies in Inuvik". Can.
  J. Public Health 65: 29–33.
- Greiner, L. L., Edwards, J. L., Shao, J., Rabinak, C., Entz, D., Apicella, M. A. (2005)."Biofilm Formation by Neisseria gonorrhoeae". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> 73: 1964–1970.
- Griffiss, J. M., J. P. O'Brien, R. Yamasaki, G. D. Williams, P. A. Rice, and H. Schneider. (1987). "Physical heterogeneity of neisserial lipooligosaccharides reflects oligosaccharides that differ in apparent molecular weight, chemical composition, and antigenic expression". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> 55: 1792–1800.
- Gu, A., Zhang, Z., Zhang, N., Tsark, W., Shively, J. E. (2010). "Generation of human CEACAM1 transgenic mice and binding of *Neisseria* Opa protein to their neutrophils". PLoS One 5(4): e10067.
- Gulati, S., McQuillen, D. P., Mandrell, R. E., Jani, D. B., Rice, P. A. (1966). "Immunogenicity of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipooligosaccharide epitope 2C7, widely expressed in vivo with no immunochemical similarity to human glycosphingolipids". J Infect Dis. 174: 1223–1237.
- Gupta, S. D., Gan, K., Schmid, M. B., Wu, H. C. (1993). "Characterization of a temperature-sensitive mutant of *Salmonella typhimurium* defective in apolipoprotein N-acyltransferase". J. Biol. Chem. 268: 16551–16556.
- Gupta, S. D., Wu, H. C. (1991). "Identification and subcellular localization of apolipoprotein N-acyltransferase in *Escherichia coli*". <u>FEMS Microbiol. Lett.</u> 62: 37–41.
- Haines, K. A., Yeh, L., Blake, M. S., Cristello, P., Korchak, H., Weissmann, G. (1988).
  "Protein I, a translocatable ion channel from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, selectively inhibits exocytosis from human neutrophils without inhibiting O<sub>2</sub>-generation. <u>J.</u> Biol. Chem. 263: 945–951.
- Halami, P. M., Stein, T., Chandrashekar, A., Entian, K. D. (2010). "Maturation and processing of SpaI, the lipoprotein involved in subtilin immunity in *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633". <u>Microbiol Res.</u> 165(3): 183-9.

- Harmer, N. J. (2010). "The structure of sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase from *Burkholderia pseudomallei* reveals a zinc binding site at the heart of the active site".
  J Mol Biol. 400(3): 379-92.
- Hauck, C. R., Meyer, T. F. (2003). "Small' talk: Opa proteins as mediators of Neisseriahost-cell communication". <u>Curr Opin Microbiol.</u> 6(1): 43–9.
- Hagan, C. L., Wzorek, J. S., Kahne, D. (2015). "Inhibition of the β-barrel assembly machine by a peptide that binds BamD". <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 112(7): 2011-6.
- Haghi, F., Peerayeh, S. N., Siadat, S. D., Zeighami, H. (2012). "Recombinant outer membrane secretin PilQ(406–770) as a vaccine candidate for serogroup B *Neisseria meningitidis*". <u>Vaccine</u> **30**: 1710–1714.
- Havekes, L. M., Lugtenberg, B. J. J. & Hoekstra, W. P. M. (1976). "Conjugation deficient *E. coli* K-12 F- mutants with heptose-less lipopolysaccharide". <u>Mol. Gen.</u> <u>Genet.</u> 146: 43-50.
- Hayashi, S., Wu, H. C. (1990). "Lipoproteins in bacteria". J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 22: 451–471.
- Henneke, P., Dramsi, S., Mancuso, G., Chraibi, K., Pellegrini, E., Theilacker, C., Hübner, J., Santos-Sierra, S., Teti, G., Golenbock, D. T., Poyart, C., Trieu-Cuot, P. (2008). "Lipoproteins are critical TLR2 activating toxins in group B streptococcal sepsis". <u>J Immunol.</u> 180(9): 6149-58.
- Heras, B., Shouldice, S. R., Totsika, M., Scanlon, M. J., Schembri, M. A., Martin, J. L. (2009). "DSB proteins and bacterial pathogenicity". <u>Nat Rev Microbiol.</u> 7(3): 215-25.
- Hitchcock, P. J. and Brown, T. M. (1983). "Morphological heterogeneity among *Salmonella* lipopolysaccharide chemotypes in silver-stained polyacrylamide gels". <u>Journal of bacteriology</u> 154: 269-277.
- Hobbs, M. M., Sparling, P. F., Cohen, M. S., Shafer, W. M., Deal, C. D., Jerse, A. E. (2011). "Experimental gonococcal infection in male volunteers: cumulative experience with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Strains FA1090 and MS11*mkC*". <u>Front Microbiol.</u> 2: 123.

- Holm, L. and Rosenstrom, P. (2010). "Dali server: conservation mapping in 3D". <u>Nucleic acids research</u> 38: W545-549.
- Holmes, K. K., Mardh, P. A., Sparling, P. F., Lemon, S. M., Stamm, W. E., Piot, P. Wasserheit J. N. (1999). "Sexually transmitted diseases, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition". <u>The McGraw-Hill Companies</u>, Inc. 433–449.
- Huband, M. D., Bradford, P. A., Otterson, L. G., Basarab, G. S., Kutschke, A., Giacobbe, R., Patey, S. A., Alm, R. A., Johnstone, M. R., Potter, M. E., Miller, P. F., Mueller, J. P. (2015). "*In vitro* antibacterial activity of AZD0914: a new spiropyrimidinetrione DNA Gyrase/Topoisomerase inhibitor with potent activity against Gram-positive, fastidious Gram-negative, and atypical bacteria". Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 59: 467–474.
- Inouye, S., Franceschini, T., Sato, M., Itakura, K., Inouye, M. (1983). "Prolipoprotein signal peptidase of *Escherichia coli* requires a cysteine residue at the cleavage site". <u>EMBO J.</u> 2: 87–91.
- Isabella, V. M. and Clark, V. L. (2011). "Deep sequencing-based analysis of the anaerobic stimulon in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>BMC genomics</u> **12**: 51.
- Ishida, T., Akimitsu, N., Kashioka, T., Hatano, M., Kubota, T., Ogata, Y., Sekimizu, K., Katayama, T. (2004). "DiaA, a novel DnaA-binding protein, ensures the timely initiation of *Escherichia coli* chromosome replication". J Biol Chem. 279(44): 45546-55.
- Jackson, L. A., Ducey, T. F., Day, M. W., Zaitshik, J. B., Orvis, J., Dyer, D. W. (2010). "Transcriptional and functional analysis of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Fur regulon". Journal of bacteriology 192: 77-85.
- Jacobsson, S., Golparian, D., Alm, R. A., Huband, M., Mueller, J., Jensen, J. S., Ohnishi, M., Unemo, M. (2014). "High *in vitro* activity of the novel spiropyrimidinetrione AZD0914, a DNA gyrase inhibitor, against multidrug resistant *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates suggests a new effective option for oral treatment of gonorrhea". <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother.</u> 58: 5585–5588.
- Jerse, A. E. (1999). "Experimental gonococcal genital tract infection and opacity Protein expression in estradiol-treated mice". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> **67**: 5699–5708.

- Jerse, A. E., Crow, E. T., Bordner, A. N., Rahman, I., Cornelissen, C. N., Moench, T. R., Mehrazar, K. (2002). "Growth of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the female mouse genital tract does not require the gonococcal transferrin or hemoglobin receptors and may be enhanced by commensal lactobacilli". <u>Infect Immun.</u> **70**(5): 2549-2558.
- Jerse, A. E., Bash, M. C., Russell, M. W. (2014)."Vaccines against gonorrhea: current status and future challenges". <u>Vaccine</u> 32: 1579–1587.
- Jijakli, K., Khraiwesh, B., Fu, W., Luo, L., Alzahmi, A., Koussa, J., Chaiboonchoe, A., Kirmizialtin, S., Yen, L., Salehi-Ashtiani, K. (2016). "The in vitro selection world". <u>Methods.</u> 106: 3–13.
- John, C. M., Griffiss, J. M., Apicella, M. A., Mandrell, R. E., Gibson, B. W. (1991).
  "The structural basis for pyocin resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipooligosaccharides". <u>The Journal of biological chemistry</u> 266: 19303-19311.
- Jongerius, I., Lavender, H., Tan, L., Ruivo, N., Exley, R. M., Caesar, J. J., Lea, S. M., Johnson, S., Tang, C. M. (2013). "Distinct binding and immunogenic properties of the gonococcal homologue of meningococcal factor h binding protein". PLoS Pathog. 9(8): e1003528.
- Kabsch, W. (2010). "Integration, scaling, space-group assignment and postrefinement". <u>Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr</u> 66: 133-144.

Kabsch, W. (2010). "Xds". Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 66: 125-132.

- Kaiser, P., Meierhofer, D., Wang, X., Huang, L. (2008). "Tandem Affinity Purification Combined with Mass Spectrometry to Identify Components of Protein Complexe". <u>Methods Mol Biol.</u> 439: 309–326.
- Kamalakkannan, S., Murugan, V., Jagannadham, M. V., Nagaraj, R., Sankaran, K. (2004). "Bacterial lipid modification of proteins for novel protein engineering applications". <u>Protein Eng. Des. Sel.</u> 17: 721–729.
- Kamio, Y. and Nikaido, H. (1976). "Outer membrane of Salmonella typhimurium: Accessibility of phospholipid head groups to phospholipase c and cyanogen bromide activated dextran in the external medium". <u>Biochemistry</u> 15: 2561–2570.
- Kampmeier, R. H. (1983). "Introduction of sulfonamide therapy for gonorrhea". <u>Sex</u> <u>Transm Dis.</u> **10**: 81–84.

- Karplus, P. A. and Diederichs, K. (2012). "Linking crystallographic model and data quality". <u>Science</u> 336: 1030-1033.
- Keyamura, K., Fujikawa, N., Ishida, T., Ozaki, S., Su'etsugu, M., Fujimitsu, K., Kagawa, W., Yokoyama, S., Kurumizaka, H., Katayama, T. (2007). "The interaction of DiaA and DnaA regulates the replication cycle in *E. coli* by directly promoting ATP DnaA-specific initiation complexes". <u>Genes Dev.</u> 21(16): 2083-99.
- Kim, S., Malinverni, J. C., Sliz, P., Silhavy, T. J., Harrison, S. C., and Kahne, D. (2007) "Structure and function of an essential component of the outer membrane protein assemblymachine". <u>Science</u> 317: 961-964.
- Kirkcaldy, R. D., Weinstock, H. S., Moore, P. C., Philip, S. S., Wiesenfeld, H. C., Papp, J. R., Kerndt, P.R., Johnson, S., Ghanem, K. G., Hook, E.W. 3rd. (2014). "The efficacy and safety of gentamicin plus azithromycin and gemifloxacin plus azithromycin as treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhea". <u>Clin Infect Dis.</u> 59: 1083– 1091.
- Kleist, E., Moi, H. (1993). "Transmission of gonorrhoea through an inflatable doll". Genitourin Med. **69**(4): 322.
- Konovalova, A., Mitchell, A. M., Silhavy, T. J. (2016). "A lipoprotein/β-barrel complex monitors lipopolysaccharide integrity transducing information across the outer membrane". <u>Elife</u> **5**: e15276.
- Konovalova, A. and Silhavy, T. J. (2015). "Outer membrane lipoprotein biogenesis: Lol is not the end". <u>Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.</u> **370**(1679): 20150030.
- Korotkov, K. V., Delarosa, J. R., Hol, W. G. (2013). "A dodecameric ring-like structure of the N0 domain of the type II secretin from enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*". Journal of structural biology 183: 354-362.
- Kosma, P., Wugeditsch, T., Christian, R., Zayni, S., Messner, P. (1995). "Glycan structure of a heptose-containing S-layer glycoprotein of *Bacillus thermoaerophilus*". <u>Glycobiology</u> 5: 791-796.
- Kovacs-Simon, A., Titball, R. W., Michell, S. L. (2011). "Lipoproteins of bacterial pathogens". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 79(2): 548-61.
- Krissinel, E. and Henrick, K. (2007). "Inference of macromolecular assemblies from crystalline state". J Mol Biol 372: 774-797.

- Kudvam R., Denksm K., Kuhn, P., Vogt, A., Muller, M., Koch, H. G. (2013). "Protein translocation across the inner membrane of Gram-negative bacteria: the Sec and Tat dependent protein transport pathways". <u>Res. Microbiol.</u> 164: 505–534.
- Lewenza, S., Mhlanga, M. M., Pugsley, A. P. (2008). "Novel inner membrane retention signals in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lipoproteins". J. Bacteriol. 190: 6119–6125.
- Lewenza, S., Vidal-Ingigliardi, D., Pugsley, A. P. (2006). "Direct visualization of red fluorescent lipoproteins indicates conservation of the membrane sorting rules in the family Enterobacteriaceae". J. Bacteriol. 188: 3516–3524.
- Levay, A., Brenneman, R., Hoinka, J., Sant, D., Cardone, M., Trinchieri, G., Przytycka, T. M., Berezhnoy, A. (2015). "Identifying high-affinity aptamer ligands with defined cross-reactivity using high-throughput guided systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment". <u>Nucleic Acids Res.</u> 43(12): e82.
- Levine, M. M., Kaper, J. B., Rappuoli, R., Liu, M. A., Good, M .F. (2004). "New generation vaccines. Third Edition Revised and Expanded". <u>Marcel Dekker, Inc.</u> <u>New York, NY</u>: 755-73.
- Levinson, G., Gutman, G. A. (1987). "Slipped-strand mispairing: a major mechanism for DNA sequence evolution". <u>Mol. Biol. Evol.</u> **4**: 203–21.
- Liechty, A., Chen, J., Jain, M. K. (2000). "Origin of antibacterial stasis by polymyxin B in *Escherichia coli*". <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u>. **1463**(1): 55-64.
- Liu, Y., Feinen, B., Russell, M. W. (2011). "New concepts in immunity to *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae: innate responses and suppression of adaptive immunity favor the pathogen, not the host". <u>Front Microbiol.</u> 2: 52.
- Liu, G., Tang, C. M., Exley, R. M. (2015) "Non-pathogenic Neisseria: members of an abundant, multi-habitat, diverse genus. <u>Microbiology</u> 161(7):1297-312.
- Lopes, J., Gottfried, S., Rothfield, L. (1972). "Leakage of periplasmic enzymes by mutants of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium*: isolation of "periplasmic leaky" mutants". J. Bacteriol. 109: 520–525
- Lorenzen, D. R., Gunther, D., Pandit, J., Rudel, T., Brandt, E., Meyer, T. F. (2000). "Neisseria gonorrhoeae porin modifies the oxidative burst of human professional phagocytes". <u>Infect. Immun.</u> 68: 6215–6222.

- Low, N., Unemo, M., Skov Jensen, J., Breuer, J., Stephenson, J. M. (2014). "Molecular diagnostics for gonorrhoea: implications for antimicrobial resistance and the threat of untreatable gonorrhoea". <u>PLoS medicine</u> 11: e1001598.
- Lu, Q., Li, S., Shao, F. (2015). "Sweet Talk: Protein Glycosylation in Bacterial Interaction With the Host". <u>Trends Microbiol.</u> 23: 630-641.
- Lundberg, B. E., Wolf, R. E., Jr., Dinauer, M. C., Xu, Y., Fang, F. C. (1999). "Glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase is required for *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence and resistance to reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 67(1): 436-438.
- Mahoney, J. F., Ferguson, C., Buchholtz, M., van Slyke, C. J. (1943). "The use of penicillin sodium in the treatment of sulfonamide-resistant gonorrhea in men. A preliminary report". <u>Am. J. Gonorr. Vener. Dis.</u> 27: 525–528.
- Maiden, M. C., Ibarz-Pavón, A. B., Urwin, R., Gray, S. J., Andrews, N. J., Clarke, S. C., Walker, A. M., Evans, M. R., Kroll, J. S., Neal, K. R., Ala'aldeen, D. A., Crook, D. W., Cann, K., Harrison, S., Cunningham, R., Baxter, D., Kaczmarski, E., Maclennan, J., Cameron, J. C., Stuart, J. M. (2008). "Impact of meningococcal serogroup C conjugate vaccines on carriage and herd immunity". J. Infect. Dis. 197: 737–743.
- Malinverni, J. C., Werner, J., Kim, S., Sklar, J. G., Kahne, D., Misra, R., Silhavy, T. J. (2006). "YfiO stabilizes the YaeT complex and is essential for outer membrane protein assembly in *Escherichia coli*". <u>Mol Microbiol.</u> 61: 151-64.
- Malott, R. J., Keller, B. O., Gaudet, R. G., McCaw, S. E., Lai, C. C., Dobson-Belaire, W. N., Hobbs, J. L., St Michael, F., Cox, A. D., Moraes, T. F., Gray-Owen, S. D. (2013). "*Neisseria gonorrhoeae*-derived heptose elicits an innate immune response and drives HIV-1 expression". <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 110: 10234-10239.
- Mandell, G. L., Douglas, R. G. Jr., Bennett, J. E. (1990) "Principles and practice of infectious disease 3<sup>rd</sup> edition". <u>Churchill Livingstone</u>: 1613–1631.
- Maness, M. J. and Sparling, P. F. (1973). "Multiple antibiotic resistance due to a single mutation in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". J Infect Dis. **128**(3): 321-330.
- Marri, P. R., Paniscus, M., Weyand, N. J., Rendon, M. A., Calton, C. M., Hernández,D. R., Higashi, D. L., Sodergren, E., Weinstock, G. M., Rounsley, S. D., So, M.

(2010). "Genome sequencing reveals widespread virulence gene exchange among human Neisseria species". <u>PLOS ONE 5</u>: e11835.

- Matsuyama, S., Tajima, T., Tokuda, H. (1995). "A novel periplasmic carrier protein involved in the sorting and transport of *Escherichia coli* lipoproteins destined for the outer membrane". <u>EMBO J.</u> 14: 3365–3372.
- Matsuyama, S., Yokota, N., Tokuda, H. (1997). "A novel outer membrane lipoprotein, LolB (HemM), involved in the LolA (p20)-dependent localization of lipoproteins to the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli*". <u>EMBO J.</u> 16: 6947–6955.
- Mattheakis, L. C., Bhatt, R. R., Dower, W. J. (1994). "An *in vitro* polysome display system for identifying ligands from very large peptide libraries". <u>Proc. Natl. Acad.</u> <u>Sci.</u> 91: 9022–9026.
- Mayer, K. H. (2011). "Sexually transmitted diseases in men who have sex with men". <u>Clin Infect Dis.</u> **53**(Suppl. 3): S79–83.
- McBroom, A. J. and Kuehn, M. J. (2007). "Release of outer membrane vesicles by gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response". <u>Mol. Microbiol.</u> **63**: 545–558.
- McCormack, W. M. (1994). "Pelvic inflammatory disease". <u>N Engl J Med</u> **330**: 115-119.
- McCoy, A. J., Grosse-Kunstleve, R. W., Adams, P. D., Winn, M. D., Storoni, L. C., Read, R. J. (2007). "Phaser crystallographic software". <u>J Appl Crystallogr</u> 40: 658-674.
- McGuinness, B. T., Clarke, I. N., Lambden, P. R., Barlow, A. K., Poolman, J. T., Jones,
  D. M., Heckels, J. E. (1991). "Point mutation in meningococcal por A gene associated with increased endemic disease". <u>Lancet</u> 337: 514-517.
- McLeod Griffiss, J., Brandt, B. L., Saunders, N. B., Zollinger, W. (2000). "Structural relationships and sialylation among meningococcal L1, L8, and L3,7 lipooligosaccharide serotypes". <u>The Journal of biological chemistry</u> 275: 9716-9724.
- Mehr, I. J., Long, C. D., Serkin, C. D., Seifert, H. S. (2000). "A homologue of the recombination-dependent growth gene, *rdgC*, is involved in gonococcal pilin antigenic variation". <u>Genetics</u> 154: 523-532.

- Menard, R., Sansonetti, P. J., Parsot, C. (1993). "Nonpolar mutagenesis of the *ipa* genes defines IpaB, IpaC, and IpaD as effectors of *Shigella flexneri* entry into epithelial cells". Journal of bacteriology 175: 5899-5906.
- Manning, D. S., Reschke, D. K., Judd, R. C. (1998). "Omp85 proteins of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis are similar to Haemophilus influenzae D-15-Ag and Pasteurella multocida Oma87". <u>Microb Pathog.</u> 25(1): 11-21.
- Merritt, M. E. and Donaldson, J. R. (2009). "Effect of bile salts on the DNA and membrane integrity of enteric bacteria". J Med Microbiol. **58**(Pt 12): 1533-41.
- Merz, A. J., So, M., Sheetz, M. P. (2000). "Pilus retraction powers bacterial twitching motility". <u>Nature</u> 407(6800) :98–102.
- Meyer, T. F., Mlawer, N., So, M. (1982). "Pilus expression in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* involves chromosomal rearrangement". <u>Cell</u> **30**: 45-52.
- Misra, R., Stikeleather, R., Gabriele, R. (2015). "In vivo roles of BamA, BamB and BamD in the biogenesis of BamA, a core protein of the β-barrel assembly machine of *Escherichia coli*". J Mol Biol. **427**(5): 1061–1074.
- Moe, G. R., Tan, S., Granoff, D. M. (1999). "Differences in surface expression of NspA among Neisseria meningitidis group B strains". <u>Infect Immun. 67(11)</u>: 5664-75.
- Morse, S. A., Johnson, S. R., Biddle, J. W., Roberts, M. C. (1986). "High-level tetracycline resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae is result of acquisition of streptococcal tetM determinant". <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother.</u> **30**: 664–670.
- Moss, G. B., Overbaugh, J., Welch, M., Reilly, M., Bwayo, J., Plummer, F. A., Ndinya-Achola, J. O., Malisa, M. A., Kreiss, J. K. (1995). "Human immunodeficiency virus DNA in urethral secretions in men: Association with gonococcal urethritis and CD4 cell depletion". J Infect Dis 172(6): 1469–1474.
- Moxon, R., Bayliss, C., Hood, D. (2006). "Bacterial contingency loci: the role of simple sequenceDNA repeats in bacterial adaptation". Annu. Rev. Genet. **40**: 307–33.
- Muller, A., Gunther, D., Dux, F., Naumann, M., Meyer, T. F., Rudel, T. (1999).
  "Neisserial porin (PorB) causes rapid calcium influx in target cells and induces apoptosis by the activation of cysteine proteases". <u>EMBO J.</u> 18: 339 –352.
- Murshudov, G. N., Skubak, P., Lebedev, A. A., Pannu, N. S., Steiner, R. A., Nicholls,R. A., Winn, M. D., Long, F., Vagin, A. A. (2011). "REFMAC5 for the refinement

of macromolecular crystal structures". <u>Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr</u> **67**: 355-367.

- Narita, S. and Tokuda, H. (2007). "Amino acids at positions 3 and 4 determine the membrane specificity of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lipoproteins". J. Biol. Chem. 282(13): 372–378.
- Neisser, A. (1879). "Uber eine der Gonorrhoe eigenthumliche Micrococcusform". <u>Centralblatt fur medizinische Wissenschaft</u> **17**: 497–500.
- Newman, J., Egan, D., Walter, T. S., Meged, R., Berry, I., Ben Jelloul, M., Sussman, J. L., Stuart, D. I., Perrakis, A. (2005). "Towards rationalization of crystallization screening for small- to medium-sized academic laboratories: the PACT/JCSG+ strategy". <u>Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr</u> 61: 1426-1431.
- Newman, L. M., Rowley, J., Vander Hoorn, S., Wijesooriya, N. S., Unemo, M., Low, N., Stevens, G., Kiarie, J., Temmerman, M. (2015). "Global estimates of the prevalence and incidence of four curable sexually transmitted infections in 2012 based on systematic review and global reporting". <u>PLoS Med.</u> 10(12): e0143304.
- Ngampasutadol, J., Ram, S., Gulati, S., Agarwal, S., Li, C., Visintin, A., Monks, B., Madico, G., Rice, P. A. (2008). "Human factor H interacts selectively with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and results in species-specific complement evasion". <u>J.</u> <u>Immunol.</u> 180: 3426–3435.
- Ngampasutadol, J., Rice, P. A., Walsh, M. T., Gulati, S. (2006). "Characterization of a peptide vaccine candidate mimicking an oligosaccharide epitope of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae and resultant immune responses and function". <u>Vaccine</u> 24: 157–170.
- Nikaido, H. (1994). "Prevention of drug access to bacterial targets: permeability barriers and active efflux". <u>Science</u> **264**: 382-388.
- Nikaido, H. and Vaara, M. (1985). "Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability". Microbiol. Rev. **49**: 1-32.
- Noinaj, N., Rollauer, S. E., Buchanan, S. K. (2015). "The beta-barrel membrane protein insertase machinery from Gram-negative bacteria". <u>Curr Opin Struct Biol.</u> 31: 35-42.
- Obergfell, K. P., Seifert, H. S. (2015). "Mobile DNA in the pathogenic Neisseria". <u>Microbiol Spectr.</u> **3**(3). pii: MDNA3-0015-2014.

- Oh. J. T., Cajal, Y., Skowronska, E. M., Belkin, S., Chen, J., Van Dyk, T. K., Sasser, M., Jain, M. K. (2000). "Cationic peptide antimicrobials induce selective transcription of micF and osmY in *Escherichia coli*". <u>Biochim Biophys Acta.</u> 1463(1): 43-54.
- Onufryk, C., Crouch, M. L., Fang, F. C., Gross, C. A. (2005). "Characterization of six lipoproteins in the sigmaE regulon". <u>J Bacteriol.</u> 187(13): 4552-61.
- Papanastasiou, M., Orfanoudaki, G., Koukaki, M., Kountourakis, N., Sardis, M. F., Aivaliotis, M., Karamanou, S., Economou, A. (2013). "The *Escherichia coli* peripheral inner membrane proteome". <u>Mol Cell Proteomics</u> 12: 599-610.
- Park, B. R., Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I. H., Mitchell, K. C., Withey, J. H., Sikora, A. E. (2015). "A metalloprotease secreted by the type II secretion system links *Vibrio cholerae* with collagen". J Bacteriol. **197**(6): 1051-1064.
- Pinne, M. and Haake, D. A. (2009). "A comprehensive approach to identification of surface-exposed, outer membrane-spanning proteins of *Leptospira interrogans*". <u>PLoS One</u> 4(6): e6071.
- Preston, A., Mandrell, R. E., Gibson, B. W., Apicella, M. A. (1996). "The lipooligosaccharides of pathogenic gram-negative bacteria". <u>Critical reviews in</u> <u>microbiology</u> 22: 139-180.
- Price, G. A., Masri, H. P., Hollander, A. M., Russell, M. W., Cornelissen, C. N. (2007). "Gonococcal transferrin binding protein chimeras induce bactericidal and growth inhibitory antibodies in mice". <u>Vaccine</u> 25: 7247–7260.
- Puig, O., Caspary, F., Rigaut, G., Rutz, B., Bouveret, E., Bragado-Nilsson, E., Wilm, M., Séraphin, B. (2001). "The tandem affinity purification (TAP) method: a general procedure of protein complex purification". <u>Methods.</u> 24(3): 218-29.
- Raetz, C. R. and Whitfield, C. (2002). "Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins". <u>Annual</u> review of biochemistry **71**: 635-700.
- Rahman, M., Kallstrom, H., Normark, S., Jonsson, A. B. (1997). "PilC of pathogenic Neisseria is associated with the bacterial cell surface". <u>Mol Microbiol.</u> 25: 11–25.
- Ram, S., McQuillen, D. P., Gulati, S., Elkins, C., Pangburn, M. K., Rice, P. A. (1998)."Binding of complement factor H to loop 5 of porin protein 1A: a molecular

mechanism of serum resistance of nonsialylated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". J. Exp. Med. **188**: 671–680.

- Ram, S., Sharma, A. K., Simpson, S. D., Gulati, S., McQuillen, D. P., Pangburn, M. K., Rice, P. A. (1998). "A novel sialic acid binding site on factor H mediates serum resistance of sialylated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". J Exp Med 187: 743–752.
- Remmele, C. W, Xian, Y., Albrecht, M., Faulstich, M., Fraunholz, M., Heinrichs, E., Dittrich, M. T., Müller, T., Reinhardt, R., Rudel, T. (2014). "Transcriptional landscape and essential genes of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Nucleic Acids Res.</u> 42(16): 10579-95.
- Raetz, C. R., and Whitfield, C. (2002). "Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins". <u>Annu. Rev.</u> <u>Biochem.</u> 71: 635–700.
- Ricci, D. P. and Silhavy, T. J. (2012). "The Bam machine: A molecular cooper". <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u>. 1818: 1067–1084.
- Rigel, N. W., Schwalm, J., Ricci, D. P., Silhavy, T. J. (2012). "The Structure of a BamA-BamD Fusion Illuminates the Architecture of the β-Barrel Assembly Machine Core". <u>Structure</u> 24(2): 243-51.
- Roberts-Witteveen, A., Pennington, K., Higgins, N., Lang, C., Lahra, M., Waddell, R.,
  Kaldor, J. (2014). "Epidemiology of gonorrhoea notifications in Australia, 2007– 12". <u>Sex Health.</u> 11: 324–31.
- Roier, S., Zingl, F. G., Cakar, F., Durakovic, S., Kohl, P., Eichmann, T. O., Klug, L.,
  Gadermaier, B., Weinzerl, K., Prassl, R., Lass, A., Daum, G., Reidl, J., Feldman,
  M. F., Schild, S. (2016). "A novel mechanism for the biogenesis of outer membrane vesicles in Gram-negative bacteria". Nat Commun. 7: 10515.
- Rotman, E. and Seifert, H. S. (2014). "The genetics of Neisseria species". <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Genet.</u> **48**: 405-31.
- Rudel, T., Scheurerpflug, I., Meyer, T. F. (1995). "Neisseria PilC protein identified as type-4 pilus tip-located adhesion". <u>Nature</u> 373: 357–359.
- Ruiz, N., Kahne, D., Silhavy, T. J. (2009). "Transport of lipopolysaccharide across the cell envelope: the long road of discovery". <u>Nat Rev Microbiol.</u> 7(9): 677-683.
- Ryan, K. J. and Ray, C. G. (2004). "Sherris Medical Microbiology. An introduction to Infectious Diseases. 4<sup>th</sup> Edition". <u>The McGraw-Hill Companies</u>, Inc. 327-341.

- Saito, A., Hizukuri, Y., Matsuo, E., Chiba, S., Mori, H., Nishimura, O., Ito, K., Akiyama, Y. (2011). "Post-liberation cleavage of signal peptides is catalyzed by the site-2 protease (S2P) in bacteria". <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 108(33): 13740-13745.
- Sandoval, J. M., Arenas, F. A., Vasquez, C. C. (2011). "Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase protects *Escherichia coli* from tellurite-mediated oxidative stress". <u>PLoS One</u> 6(9): e25573.
- Sadarangani, M., Pollard, A. J., Gray-Owen, S. D. (2010). "Opa proteins and CEACAMs: pathways of immune engagement for pathogenic Neisseria". FEMS <u>Microbiol Rev.</u> 35: 498–514.
- Sandoval, J. M., Arenas, F. A., Vásquez, C. C. (2011). "Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase protects *Escherichia coli* from tellurite-mediated oxidative stress". <u>PLoS One.</u> 6(9): e25573.
- Sankaran, K., Wu, H. C. (1994). "Lipid modification of bacterial prolipoprotein. Transfer of diacylglyceryl moiety from phosphatidylglycerol". J. Biol. Chem. 269: 19701–19706.
- Schulze, R.J. and Zuckert, W. R. (2006). "Borrelia burgdorferi lipoproteins are secreted to the outer surface by default". <u>Mol. Microbiol.</u> 59: 1473–1484.
- Schütze, T., Wilhelm, B., Greiner, N., Braun, H., Peter, F., Mörl, M., Erdmann, V. A., Lehrach, H., Konthur, Z., Menger, M., Arndt, P. F., Glökler, J. (2011). "Probing the SELEX process with next-generation sequencing". <u>PLoS One</u> 6(12): e29604.
- Seetharaman, J., Rajashankar, K. R., Solorzano, V., Kniewel, R., Lima, C. D., Bonanno, J. B., Burley, S. K., Swaminathan, S. (2006). "Crystal structures of two putative phosphoheptose isomerases". <u>Proteins</u> 63: 1092-1096.
- Seib, K. L., Zhao, X., Rappuoli, R. (2012). "Developing vaccines in the era of genomics: a decade of reverse vaccinology". <u>Clin Microbiol Infect.</u> 18 (Suppl 5): 109-16.
- Selkrig, J., Mosbahi, K., Webb, C. T., Belousoff, M. J., Perry, A. J., Wells, T. J., Morris,
  F., Leyton, D. L., Totsika, M., Phan, M. D., Celik, N., Kelly, M., Oates, C.,
  Hartland, E. L., Robins-Browne, R. M., Ramarathinam, S. H., Purcell, A. W.,
  Schembri, M. A., Strugnell, R. A., Henderson, I. R., Walker, D., Lithgow, T.

(2012). "Discovery of an archetypal protein transport system in bacterial outer membranes". Nat Struct Mol Biol. **19**(5): 506-10.

- Serino, L., Nesta, B., Leuzzi, R., Fontana, M. R., Monaci, E., Mocca, B. T., Cartocci, E., Masignani, V., Jerse, A. E., Rappuoli, R., Pizza, M. (2007). "Identification of a new OmpA-like protein in Neisseria gonorrhoeae involved in the binding to human epithelial cells and in vivo colonization". <u>Mol Microbiol.</u> 64: 1391–1403.
- Serruto, D., Bottomley, M. J., Ram, S., Giuliani, M. M., Rappuoli, R. (2012). "The new multicomponent vaccine against meningococcal serogroup B, 4CMenB: immunological, functional and structural characterization of the antigens". <u>Vaccine</u> **30 Suppl 2**: B87-97.
- Seydel, A., Gounon, P., Pugsley, A. P. (1999). "Testing the '+2 rule' for lipoprotein sorting in the *Escherichia coli* cell envelope with a new genetic selection". <u>Mol.</u> <u>Microbiol.</u> 34: 810–821.
- Sherburne, C. and Taylor, D. E. (1997). "Effect of lipopolysaccharide mutations on recipient ability of *Salmonella typhimurium* for incompatibility group H plasmids". J. Bacteriol. 179: 952-955.
- Shell, D. M., Chiles, L., Judd, R. C., Seal, S., Rest, R. F. (2002). "The Neisseria lipooligosaccharide-specific alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase is a surface-exposed outer membrane protein". <u>Infect Immun.</u> 70: 3744–3751.
- Shewell, L. K., Ku, S. C., Schulz, B. L., Jen, F. E., Mubaiwa, T. D., Ketterer, M. R., Apicella, M. A., Jennings, M. P. (2013). "Recombinant truncated AniA of pathogenic *Neisseria* elicits a non-native immune response and functional blocking antibodies". <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun.</u> 431(2): 215-220.
- Shruthi, H., Babu, M. M., Sankaran, K. (2010). "TAT pathway-dependent lipoproteins as a niche-based adaptation in prokaryotes". J. Mol. Evol. **70**: 359–370.
- Skaar, E.P., Lazio, M. P., Seifert, H. S. (2002). "Roles of the *recJ* and *recN* genes in homologous recombination and DNA repair pathways of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". J. Bacteriol. 184: 919-927.
- Sklar, J. G., Wu, T., Kahne, D. & Silhavy, T. J. (2007). "Defining the roles of the periplasmic chaperones SurA, Skp, and DegP in Escherichia coli". <u>Genes Dev.</u> 21: 2473–2484.

- Smith, G. P. (1985). "Filamentous fusion phage: novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface". <u>Science</u> 228: 1315–1317.
- Smith, G. P., Petrenko, V. A. (1997). "Phage display". Chem Rev. 97(2): 391-410.
- Song, W.,Ma, L., Chen, R., Stein, D. C. (2000). "Role of Lipooligosaccharide in Opa-Independent Invasion of Neisseria gonorrhoeae into Human Epithelial Cells". J Exp <u>Med.</u> 191(6): 949–960.
- Sparling, P. F. (1966). "Genetic transformation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to streptomycin resistance". J. Bacteriol. 92: 1364–71.
- Spence, J. M., Wright, L., Clark, V. L. (2008). "Laboratory maintenance of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae". <u>Curr Protoc Microbiol</u> Chapter 4: Unit 4A 1.
- Steichen, C. T., Shao, J. Q., Ketterer, M. R., Apicella, M. A. (2008). "Gonococcal cervicitis: a role for biofilm in pathogenesis". J. Infect. Dis. 198: 1856–1861.
- Sternberg, T. H. and Turner, T. B. (1944). "The treatment of sulfonamide resistant gonorrhea with penicillin sodium. Results in 1686 cases". JAMA 126: 157–163.
- Stohl, E. A., Dale, E. M., Criss, A. K., Seifert, H. S. (2013). "Neisseria gonorrhoeae metalloprotease NGO1686 is required for full piliation, and piliation is required for resistance to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>- and neutrophil-mediated killing". <u>mBio.</u> 4(4): Epub 2013/07/11
- Stolz, E., Zwart, H. G., Michel, M. F. (1975). "Activity of eight antimicrobial agents in vitro against *N. gonorrhoeae*". <u>Br J Vener Dis.</u> 51: 257–264.
- Stork, M., Bos, M. P., Jongerius, I., de Kok, N., Schilders, I., Weynants, V. E., Poolman, J. T., Tommassen, J. (2010). "An outer membrane receptor of *Neisseria meningitidis* involved in zinc acquisition with vaccine potential". <u>PLoS Pathog.</u> 6: e1000969.
- Studier, F. W. and Moffatt, B. A. (1986). "Use of bacteriophage T7 RNA polymerase to direct selective high-level expression of cloned genes". <u>J Mol Biol</u> 189: 113-130.
- Swanson, J. (1973). "Studies on gonococcus infection. IV. Pili: their role in attachment of gonococci to tissue culture cells". <u>J Exp Med.</u> 137(3): 571–89.
- Tamaki, S., Sato, T., Matsuhashi, M. (1971). "Role of lipopolysaccharides in antibiotic resistance and bacteriophage adsorption of *Escherichia coli* K-12". <u>J Bacteriol</u> 105: 968-975.

- Tapsall, J. W., Ndowa, F., Lewis, D. A., Unemo, M. (2009). "Meeting the public health challenge of multidrug- and extensively drug-resistant *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.</u> 7(7): 821-834.
- Tatusov, R. L., Koonin, E. V., Lipman, D. J. (1997). "A genomic perspective on protein families". <u>Science</u> 278(5338): 631-637.
- Taylor, P. L., Blakely, K. M., de Leon, G. P., Walker, J. R., McArthur, F., Evdokimova, E., Zhang, K., Valvano, M. A., Wright, G. D., Junop, M. S. (2008). "Structure and function of sedoheptulose-7-phosphate isomerase, a critical enzyme for lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis and a target for antibiotic adjuvants". J Biol Chem. 283(5): 2835-45.
- Tobiason, D. M., Seifert, H. S. (2010). "Genomic content of Neisseria species". J. Bacteriol. 192: 2160–68.
- Tokunaga, M., Tokunaga, H., Wu, H. C. (1982). "Posttranslational modification and processing of *Escherichia coli* prolipoprotein *in vitro*". <u>Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA</u> 79: 2255–2259.
- Tramont, E. C., and Boslego, J. W. (1985). "Pilus vaccines". Vaccine 3: 3-10.
- Tsai, C. M. and Frasch, C. E. (1982). "A sensitive silver stain for detecting lipopolysaccharides in polyacrylamide gels". <u>Anal Biochem</u> **119**: 115-119.
- Umamaheswari, A., Pradhan, D., Hemanthkumar, M. (2010). "Identification of potential Leptospira phosphoheptose isomerase inhibitors through virtual highthroughput screening". <u>Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics</u> 8(4): 246-55.
- Unemo, M. (2015). "Current and future antimicrobial treatment of gonorrhoea the rapidly evolving *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* continues to challenge". <u>BMC Infect Dis.</u> 15: 364.
- Unemo, M., Golparian, D., Sanchez-Buso, L., Grad, Y., Jacobsson, S., Ohnishi, M., Lahra, M. M., Limnios, A., Sikora, A. E., Wi, T., Harris, S. R. (2016). "The novel 2016 WHO Neisseria gonorrhoeae reference strains for global quality assurance of laboratory investigations: phenotypic, genetic and reference genome characterization". J Antimicrob Chemother. pii: dkw288.
- Unemo, M., Ringlander, J., Wiggins, C., Fredlund, H., Jacobsson, S., Cole, M., the European Collaborative Group (2015). "High *in vitro* susceptibility to the novel

spiropyrimidinetrione ETX0914 (also known as AZD0914) among 873 contemporary clinical *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates in 21 European countries during 2012–2014". Antimicrob Agents Chemother. **59**: 5220–5225.

- Unemo, M. and Shafer, W. M. (2014). "Antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae in the 21st Century: past, evolution, and future". <u>Clin Microbiol Rev.</u> 27: 587–613.
- Unemo, M., Del Rio, C., Shafer, W. M. (2016). "Antimicrobial Resistance Expressed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: A Major Global Public Health Problem in the 21st Century". <u>Microbiol Spectr.</u> 4(3): doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.EI10-0009-2015.
- Valvano, M.A., Messner, P., Kosma, P. (2002). "Novel pathways for biosynthesis of nucleotide-activated glycero-manno-heptose precursors of bacterial glycoproteins and cell surface polysaccharides". <u>Microbiology</u> 148: 1979-1989.
- Volokhina, E. B., Beckers, F., Tommassen, J., Bos, M. P. (2009). "The beta-barrel outer membrane protein assembly complex of Neisseria meningitidis". J Bacteriol. 191(22): 7074-85.
- Volokhina, E. B., Grijpstra, J., Beckers, F., Lindh, E., Robert, V., Tommassen, J., Bos,
  M. P. (2013). "Species-specificity of the BamA component of the bacterial outer membrane protein-assembly machinery". PLoS One. 8(12): e85799.
- von Heijne, G. (1989). "The structure of signal peptides from bacterial lipoproteins". <u>Protein Eng.</u> **2**: 531–534.
- Webb, C. T., Selkrig, J., Perry, A. J., Noinaj, N., Buchanan, S. K., Lithgow, T. (2012).
  "Dynamic association of BAM complex modules includes surface exposure of the lipoprotein BamC". <u>J Mol Biol.</u> 422: 545–555.
- Willmann, K. L., Sacco, R., Martins, R., Garncarz, W., Krolo, A., Knapp, S., Bennett, K. L., Boztug, K. (2016). "Expanding the Interactome of the Noncanonical NF-κB Signaling Pathway". J Proteome Res. : 10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b01004.
- Workowski, K. A., and W. C. Levine (2002). "Sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines—2002". <u>Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.</u> **51**(RR06): 1–80.
- Workowski, K. A., Bolan, G. A. (2015). "Sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines, 2015". <u>MMWR Recomm Rep.</u> 64(RR-03): 1–137.

- World Health Organization. (2011). "Prevalence and incidence of selected sexually transmitted infections. *Chlamydia trachomatis, Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, syphilis and *Trichomonas vaginalis*. Methods and results used by WHO to generate 2005 estimates".: 36.
- World Health Organization. (2012). "Global action plan to control the spread and impact of antimicrobial resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Geneva: World Health Organization</u>: 32.
- World Health Organization. (2015). "Antimicrobial resistance draft global action plan on antimicrobial resistance". <u>Geneva: World Health Organization</u>.
- World Health Organization (2016). "WHO Guidelines for the Treatment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Geneva: World Health Organization</u>.
- Wu, T., Malinverni, J., Ruiz, N., Kim, S., Silhavy, T. J., Kahne, D. (2005).
  "Identification of a multicomponent complex required for outer membrane biogenesis in *Escherichia coli*". Cell **121**(2): 235-45.
- Wu, S., Zhu, Z., Fu, L., Niu, B., Li, W. (2011). "WebMGA: a customizable web server for fast metagenomic sequence analysis". <u>BMC Genomics.</u> 12: 444.
- Wugeditsch, T., Zachara, N. E., Puchberger, M., Kosma, P., Gooley, A. A. & Messner,
  P. (1999). "Structural heterogeneity in the core oligosaccharide of the S-layer glycoprotein from *Aneurinibacillus thermoaerophilus* DSM 10155". <u>Glycobiology</u> 9: 787-795.
- Yakushi, T., Masuda, K., Narita, S., Matsuyama, S., Tokuda, H. (2000). "A new ABC transporter mediating the detachment of lipid-modified proteins from membranes". Nat. Cell Biol. 2: 212–218.
- Yamagata, H., Taguchi, N., Daishima, K., Mizushima, S. (1983). "Genetic characterization of a gene for prolipoprotein signal peptidase in *Escherichia coli*".
   <u>Mol. Genet.</u> 192: 10–14.
- Yamaguchi, K., Yu, F., Inouye, M. (1988). "A single amino acid determinant of the membrane localization of lipoproteins in *E. coli*". <u>Cell</u> 53: 423–432.
- Yamasaki, R., Bacon, B. E., Nasholds, W., Schneider, H., Griffiss, J. M. (1991). "Structural determination of oligosaccharides derived from lipooligosaccharide of

*Neisseria gonorrhoeae* F62 by chemical, enzymatic, and two-dimensional NMR methods". Biochemistry **30**: 10566-10575.

- Yamasaki, R., Kerwood, D. E., Schneider, H., Quinn, K. P., Griffiss, J. M., Mandrell, R. E. (1994). "The structure of lipooligosaccharide produced by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, strain 15253, isolated from a patient with disseminated infection. Evidence for a new glycosylation pathway of the gonococcal lipooligosaccharide". The Journal of biological chemistry **269**: 30345-30351.
- Yanisch-Perron, C., Vieira, J., Messing, J. (1985). "Improved M13 phage cloning vectors and host strains: nucleotide sequences of the M13mp18 and pUC19 vectors". <u>Gene</u> 33: 103-119.
- Yeats, C. and Bateman, A. (2003). "The BON domain: a putative membrane-binding domain". <u>Trends Biochem Sci.</u> 28(7): 352-5.
- Zhang, J., Chiodini, R., Badr, A., Zhang, G. (2011). "The impact of next-generation sequencing on genomics". J. Genet. Genomics **38**: 95–109.
- Zhu, P., Klutch, M. J., Derrick, J. P., Prince, S. M., Tsang, R. S., Tsai, C. M. (2003).
  "Identification of opcA gene in *Neisseria polysaccharea*: interspecies diversity of Opc protein family. <u>Gene 307</u>: 31–40.
- Zielke, R. A. and Sikora, A. E. (2014). "Isolation of Cell Envelopes and Naturally Released Membrane Vesicles of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*". <u>Curr Protoc Microbiol</u>, 34: 4A 3 1-4A 3 17.
- Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I. H., Baarda, B. I., Gafken, P. R., Soge, O. O., Holmes, K. K., Jerse, A. E., Unemo, M., Sikora, A. E. (2016). "Proteomics-driven Antigen Discovery for Development of Vaccines Against Gonorrhea". <u>Mol Cell Proteomics.</u> 15(7): 2338-55.
- Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I. H., Baarda, B. I., Sikora, A. E. (2015). "The Neisseria gonorrhoeae Obg protein is an essential ribosome-associated GTPase and a potential drug target". <u>BMC Microbiol</u> 15: 129.
- Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I. H., Weber, J. V., Gafken, P. R., Sikora, A. E. (2014). "Quantitative proteomics of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae cell envelope and membrane vesicles for the discovery of potential therapeutic targets". <u>Mol Cell</u> <u>Proteomics.</u> 13(5): 1299-317.

**Appendices: Abstracts of Additional Manuscripts** 

# Appendix 1

Quantitative proteomics of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* cell envelope and membrane vesicles for the discovery of potential therapeutic targets

Authors: Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I.H., Weber, J. V., Gafken, P. R., Sikora, A. E.

Journal: Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2014. 13(5):1299-317.

#### Abstract:

*Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC) is a human-specific pathogen, and the agent of a sexually transmitted disease, gonorrhea. There is a critical need for new approaches to study and treat GC infections because of the growing threat of multidrug-resistant isolates and the lack of a vaccine. Despite the implied role of the GC cell envelope and membrane vesicles in colonization and infection of human tissues and cell lines, comprehensive studies have not been undertaken to elucidate their constituents. Accordingly, in pursuit of novel molecular therapeutic targets, we have applied isobaric tagging for absolute quantification coupled with liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry for proteome quantitative analyses. Mining the proteome of cell envelopes and native membrane vesicles revealed 533 and 168 common proteins, respectively, in analyzed GC strains FA1090, F62, MS11, and 1291. A total of 22 differentially abundant proteins were discovered including previously unknown proteins. Among those proteins that displayed similar abundance in four GC strains, 34 were found in both cell envelopes and membrane vesicles fractions. Focusing on one of them, a homolog of an outer membrane protein LptD, we demonstrated that its depletion caused loss of GC viability. In addition, we selected for initial characterization six predicted outer membrane proteins with unknown function, which were identified as ubiquitous in the cell envelopes derived from examined GC isolates. These studies entitled a construction of deletion mutants and analyses of their resistance to different chemical probes. Loss of NGO1985, in particular, resulted in dramatically decreased GC viability upon treatment with detergents, polymyxin B, and chloramphenicol, suggesting that this protein functions in the maintenance of the cell envelope permeability barrier. Together, these findings underscore the concept that the cell envelope and membrane vesicles contain crucial, yet under-explored determinants of GC physiology, which may represent promising targets for designing new therapeutic interventions.

In situ gelling polyvalerolactone-based thermosensitive hydrogel for sustained drug delivery

Authors: Mishra, G. P., Kinser, R., Wierzbicki, I. H., Alany, R. G., Alani, A. W.

Journal: European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics. 2014. **88**(2): 397-405.

# Abstract:

Biodegradable poly(ethyleneglycol)-poly(valerolactone)-poly(ethyleneglycol) [PEG-PVL-PEG] copolymers were synthesized through ring opening polymerization of  $\delta$ valerolactone (VL) followed by the coupling of monomethoxy poly(ethyleneglycolpoly(valerolactone) (mPEG-PVL) with hexamethylene diisocyanate (HDI). The copolymers were characterized by (1)H NMR, FT-IR, and GPC. Block copolymers of PEG and PVL with different VL/PEG molar ratios were successfully synthesized. One of the copolymers (Copolymer 2, PEG550-PVL6768-PEG550) displayed a sol-gel transition at a physiological temperature based on the test tube inverting method and rheological studies. The thermogelling copolymer demonstrated a characteristic crystalline peak for PVL block as determined by DSC and XRD analysis. In vitro release from the copolymer hydrogel matrix indicated that dexamethasone (DEX), a hydrophobic model drug, released comparatively slower than 5-fluoruracil (5-FU), a hydrophilic model drug, due to the potential partitioning of DEX into the PVL core. 5-FU in vitro release from copolymer 2 was 86% in 22 h, whereas only 14% of DEX was released in 24h. Cell viability studies confirmed that hydrogels composed of block copolymers are biocompatible. Copolymer 2 showed more than 80% relative cell viability at all concentrations, including concentrations greater than 200 fold CMC. In vivo gel formation studies indicate that gel integrity was maintained for 7 days upon subcutaneous injection into mice. These results indicate that PEG-PVL-PEG copolymers are suitable for drug delivery applications.

A metalloprotease secreted by the type II secretion system links *Vibrio cholerae* with collagen

Authors: Park, B. R., Zielke, R. A., <u>Wierzbicki, I. H.</u>, Mitchell, K. C., Withey, J. H., Sikora, A. E.

Journal: Journal of Bacteriology. 2015. **197**(6):1051-64.

## Abstract:

Vibrio cholerae is autochthonous to various aquatic niches and is the etiological agent of the life-threatening diarrheal disease cholera. The persistence of V. cholerae in natural habitats is a crucial factor in the epidemiology of cholera. In contrast to the well-studied V. cholerae-chitin connection, scarce information is available about the factors employed by the bacteria for the interaction with collagens. Collagens might serve as biologically relevant substrates, because they are the most abundant protein constituents of metazoan tissues and V. cholerae has been identified in association with invertebrate and vertebrate marine animals, as well as in a benthic zone of the ocean where organic matter, including collagens, accumulates. Here, we describe the characterization of the V. cholerae putative collagenase, VchC, encoded by open reading frame VC1650 and belonging to the subfamily M9A peptidases. Our studies demonstrate that VchC is an extracellular collagenase degrading native type I collagen of fish and mammalian origin. Alteration of the predicted catalytic residues coordinating zinc ions completely abolished the protein enzymatic activity but did not affect the translocation of the protease by the type II secretion pathway into the extracellular milieu. We also show that the protease undergoes a maturation process with the aid of a secreted factor(s). Finally, we propose that V. cholerae is a collagenovorous bacterium, as it is able to utilize collagen as a sole nutrient source. This study initiates new lines of investigations aiming to uncover the structural and functional components of the V. cholerae collagen utilization program.

The *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Obg protein is an essential ribosome-associated GTPase and a potential drug target

Authors: Zielke, R. A., Wierzbicki, I. H., Baarda, B. I., Sikora, A. E.

Journal: BMC Microbiology. 2015. 15: 129.

# Abstract:

BACKGROUND: *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC) is a Gram-negative pathogen that most commonly infects mucosal surfaces, causing sexually transmitted urethritis in men and endocervicitis in women. Serious complications associated with these infections are frequent and include pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy, and infertility. The incidence of gonorrhea cases remains high globally while antibiotic treatment options, the sole counter measures against gonorrhea, are declining due to the remarkable ability of GC to acquire resistance. Evaluating of potential drug targets is essential to provide opportunities for developing antimicrobials with new mechanisms of action. We propose the GC Obg protein, belonging to the Obg/CgtA GTPase subfamily, as a potential target for the development of therapeutic interventions against gonorrhea, and in this study perform its initial functional and biochemical characterization.

RESULTS: We report that NGO1990 encodes Obg protein, which is an essential factor for GC viability, associates predominantly with the large 50S ribosomal subunit, and is stably expressed under conditions relevant to infection of the human host. The anti-Obg antisera cross-reacts with a panel of contemporary GC clinical isolates, demonstrating the ubiquitous nature of Obg. The cellular levels of Obg reach a maximum in the early logarithmic phase and remain constant throughout bacterial growth. The in vitro binding and hydrolysis of the fluorescent guanine nucleotide analogs mant-GTP and mant-GDP by recombinant wild type and T192AT193A mutated variants of Obg are also assessed.

CONCLUSIONS: Characterization of the GC Obg at the molecular and functional levels presented herein may facilitate the future targeting of this protein with small

molecule inhibitors and the evaluation of identified lead compounds for bactericidal activity against GC and other drug-resistant bacteria.

Polymeric Micelles as Carriers for Nerve-Highlighting Fluorescent Probe Delivery

Authors: Hackman, K. M., Doddapaneni, B. S., Barth, C. W., <u>Wierzbicki, I. H.</u>, Alani, A. W., Gibbs, S. L.

Journal: Molecular Pharmaceutics. 2015. **12**(12): 4386-94.

#### Abstract:

Nerve damage during surgery is a common morbidity experienced by patients that leaves them with chronic pain and/or loss of function. Currently, no clinically approved imaging technique exists to enhance nerve visualization in the operating room. Fluorescence image-guided surgery has gained in popularity and clinical acceptance over the past decade with a handful of imaging systems approved for clinical use. However, contrast agent development to complement these fluorescence-imaging systems has lagged behind with all currently approved fluorescent agents providing untargeted blood pool information. Nerve-specific fluorophores are known, however translations of these agents to the clinic has been complicated by their lipophilic nature, which necessitates specialized formulation strategies for successful systemic administration. To date the known nerve-specific fluorophores have only been demonstrated preclinically due to the necessity of a dimethyl sulfoxide containing formulation for solubilization. In the current study, a polymeric micellar (PM) formulation strategy was developed for a representative nerve-specific fluorophore from the distyrylbenzene family, BMB. The PM formulation strategy was able to solubilize BMB and demonstrated improved nerve-specific accumulation and fluorescence intensity when the same fluorophore dose was administered to mice utilizing the previous formulation strategy. The success of the PM formulation strategy will be important for moving toward clinical translation of these novel nerve-specific probes as it is nontoxic and biodegradable and has the potential to decrease the necessary dose for imaging while also improving the safety profile.

Proteomics-driven Antigen Discovery for Development of Vaccines Against Gonorrhea

Authors: Zielke, R. A., <u>Wierzbicki, I. H.</u>, Baarda, B. I., Gafken, P. R., Soge, O. O., Holmes, K. K., Jerse, A. E., Unemo, M., Sikora, A. E.

Journal: Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2016. 15(7): 2338-55.

## Abstract:

Expanding efforts to develop preventive gonorrhea vaccines is critical because of the dire possibility of untreatable gonococcal infections. Reverse vaccinology, which includes genome and proteome mining, has proven very successful in the discovery of vaccine candidates against many pathogenic bacteria. However, progress with this approach for a gonorrhea vaccine remains in its infancy. Accordingly, we applied a comprehensive proteomic platform-isobaric tagging for absolute quantification coupled with two-dimensional liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry-to identify potential gonococcal vaccine antigens. Our previous analyses focused on cell envelopes and naturally released membrane vesicles derived from four different Neisseria gonorrhoeae strains. Here, we extended these studies to identify cell envelope proteins of *N. gonorrhoeae* that are ubiquitously expressed and specifically induced by physiologically relevant environmental stimuli: oxygen availability, iron deprivation, and the presence of human serum. Together, these studies enabled the identification of numerous potential gonorrhea vaccine targets. Initial characterization of five novel vaccine candidate antigens that were ubiquitously expressed under these different growth conditions demonstrated that homologs of BamA (NGO1801), LptD (NGO1715), and TamA (NGO1956), and two uncharacterized proteins, NGO2054 and NGO2139, were surface exposed, secreted via naturally released membrane vesicles, and elicited bactericidal antibodies that cross-reacted with a panel of temporally and geographically diverse isolates. In addition, analysis of polymorphisms at the nucleotide and amino acid levels showed that these vaccine candidates are highly conserved among N. gonorrhoeae strains. Finally, depletion of BamA caused a loss of

Combinatorial Polymeric Conjugated Micelles with Dual Cytotoxic and Antiangiogenic Effects for the Treatment of Ovarian Cancer

Authors: Rao, D. A., Mishra, G., Doddapaneni, B. S., Kyryachenko, S., Wierzbicki, I. H., Ngyuen, D. X., Shah, V., Al Fatease, A. M., Alany, R. G., Alani, A. W.

Journal: Chemistry of Materials. 2016. 10.1021/acs.chemmater.6b01280

Abstract:

Emerging treatment paradigms like targeting the tumor microenvironment and/or dosing as part of a metronomic regimen are anticipated to produce better outcomes in ovarian cancer, but current drug delivery systems are lacking. We have designed and evaluated paclitaxel (PTX) and rapamycin (RAP) micellar systems that can be tailored for various dosing regimens and target tumor microenvironment. Individual and mixed PTX/RAP (MIX-M) micelles are prepared by conjugating drugs to a poly(ethylene glycol)-block-poly( $\beta$ -benzyl L-aspartate) using a pH sensitive linker. The micelles release the drug(s) at pH 5.5 indicating preferential release in the acidic endosomal/lysosomal environment. Micelles exhibit antiproliferative effects in ovarian cell cancer lines (SKOV-3 (human caucasian ovarian adenocarcinoma) and ES2 (human ovarian clear cell carcinoma)) and an endothelial cell line (HUVEC; human umbilical vein endothelial cells) with the MIX-M being synergistic. The micelles also inhibited endothelial migration and tube formation. In healthy mice, micelles at 60 mg/kg/drug demonstrated no acute toxicity over 21 days. ES2 xenograft model efficacy studies at 20 mg/kg/drug dosed every 4 days and evaluated at 21 days indicate that the individual micelles exhibit antiangiogenic effects, while the MIX-M exhibited both antiangiogenic and apoptotic induction that results in significant tumor volume reduction. On the basis of our results, MIX-M micelles can be utilized to achieve synergistic apoptotic and antiangiogenic effects when treated at frequent low doses.